Weighted Hypergroups and some questions in Abstract Harmonic Analysis

A Thesis

Submitted to the College of Graduate Studies and Research in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Mathematics and Statistics University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon

> By Mahmood Alaghmandan

©Mahmood Alaghmandan, November 2013. All rights reserved.

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis.

Requests for permission to copy or to make other use of material in this thesis in whole or part should be addressed to:

Head of the Department of Mathematics and Statistics University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada S7N 5E6

ABSTRACT

Weighted group algebras have been studied extensively in Abstract Harmonic Analysis.Complete characterizations have been found for some important properties of weighted group algebras, namely, amenability and Arens regularity. Also studies on some other features of these algebras, say weak amenability and isomorphism to operator algebras, have attracted attention.

Hypergroups are generalized versions of locally compact groups. When a discrete group has all its conjugacy classes finite, the set of all conjugacy classes forms a discrete commutative hypergroup. Also the set of equivalence classes of irreducible unitary representations of a compact group forms a discrete commutative hypergroup. Other examples of discrete commutative hypergroups come from families of orthogonal polynomials.

The center of the group algebra of a discrete finite conjugacy (FC) group can be identified with a hypergroup algebra. For a specific class of discrete FC groups, the restricted direct products of finite groups (RDPF), we study some properties of the center of the group algebra including amenability, maximal ideal space, and existence of a bounded approximate identity of maximal ideals.

One of the generalizations of weighted group algebras which may be considered is weighted hypergroup algebras. Defining weighted hypergroups, analogous to weighted groups, we study a variety of examples, features and applications of weighted hypergroup algebras. We investigate some properties of these algebras including: dual Banach algebra structure, Arens regularity, and isomorphism with operator algebras.

We define and study Følner type conditions for hypergroups. We study the relation of the Følner type conditions with other amenability properties of hypergroups. We also demonstrate some results obtained from the Leptin condition for Fourier algebras of certain hypergroups. Highlighting these tools, we specially study the Leptin condition on duals of compact groups for some specific compact groups. An application is given to Segal algebras on compact groups.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deep gratitude to Yemon Choi and Ebrahim Samei, my supervisors, for their kind help and constant encouragement. In this era, I learnt a lot from them, Mathematically and non-Mathematically. I also thank all my dear friends and colleagues at the Department of Mathematics and Statistics for their help and improving discussions; specially, I would like to mention Mehdi Ghasemi, Mahya Ghandehari, Andrew Rochon, Jacek Szmigielski, J. C. Wang, Josnei Novacoski, and Simon St. Jean.

I was supported by a Dean's Ph.D. scholarship at the University of Saskatchewan. I thank the University of Saskatchewan for this generous financial support.

Attending the program without help and attention of my dearest, Elly, was not possible. I thank her for this period and all other moments of our lovely life.

Mahmood Alaghmandan Saskatoon, Fall 2013 The understanding of *Mathematics* is necessary for a sound grasp of *Ethics*.

Socrates (469 BC–399 BC)

In life it is never a mathematical proposition which we need, but we use mathematical propositions *only* in order to infer from propositions which do not belong to mathematics to others which equally do not belong to mathematics.

(In philosophy the question "Why do we really use that word, that proposition?" constantly leads to valuable results.)

> Ludwig Wittgenstein (1889 AD–1951 AD) Tractatus Logico-Philosophicus 6.211

\mathbf{Pe}	rmission to Use	i		
Ab	Abstract			
Acknowledgements				
Contents				
Int	troduction	1		
1	Preliminaries 1.1 Hypergroups	6 6 12 12 12 13 14 16 16 18		
2	Restricted direct products of finite groups2.1General properties of $Z\ell^1(G)$ for product groups	 21 21 23 25 26 29 		
3	Three families of examples3.1 $Conj(G)$ as a hypergroup	35 35 38 41		
4	Weighted discrete hypergroups4.1Weighted hypergroups and their algebras $4.1.1$ Product of weighted hypergroups	 43 43 47 48 49 52 53 55 57 		
5	The Fourier algebra of a regular Fourier hypergroup5.1Background5.2The dual of a compact group	61 61 66		

	5.3	Amenability of $ZA(G)$	70
6	Følı	ner type conditions on hypergroups	75
	6.1	Amenability properties of regular Fourier hypergroups	75
		6.1.1 Følner type conditions on Hypergroups	75
		6.1.2 The existence of a bounded approximate identity of Fourier algebra	77
		6.1.3 Reiter condition	78
		6.1.4 Summary	82
	6.2	<i>D</i> -Leptin condition on dual of compact groups	83
	-	6.2.1 <i>D</i> -Leptin condition for dual of Lie groups	84
		6.2.2 <i>D</i> -Leptin condition of $\overline{SU(3)}$	85
		6.2.3 An application: approximate amenability of Segal algebras of compact	
		groups	86
	6.3	Leptin condition for Polynomial hypergroups	89
7	Are	ons regularity and operator algebras	91
•	7 1	Arens regularity	91
	1.1	7.1.1 General theory	91
		7.1.2 Arens regularity of weighted hypergroup algebras	91 94
		7.1.2 Arens regularity of weighted hypergroup algebra of $Coni(G)$ for some spe-	51
		cial G	97
		7.1.4 Arens regularity of $\ell^1(\widehat{SU(n)}, \omega)$	99
		7.1.5 Some weighted hypergroup algebras are not Arens regular	101
	7.2	Operator algebra property of weighted hypergroup algebras	102
		7.2.1 Littlewood multipliers for hypergroups	103
		7.2.2 The operator algebra property of weighted hypergroup algebras 1	04
		7.2.3 Hypergroups with exponential weights	10
Α	p-su	Imming operators and dual of injective tensor products	13
D	for		16
ne	erere	nces	υ

INTRODUCTION

Roughly speaking, a *hypergroup* is a topological space equipped with an extra structure, which leads to the construction of a Banach algebra on the Banach space of all bounded complex Radon measures on the hypergroup. This binary operation takes the Dirac measures of each two elements of the hypergroup to a compactly supported probability measure and therefore has probabilistic taste, since one may roughly express that the outcome of the action of two elements of a hypergroup is chosen 'randomly'.

A consistent definition of hypergroups was presented in different manuscripts. Dunkl in [22, 21], Spector in [71], and Jewett in [38] defined hypergroups in different ways. Although the ideas are essentially the same, these definitions are not exactly equivalent. The definition which has been widely studied afterwards is Jewett's in [38] wherein he calls hypergroups "convos". Apparently, the term 'hypergroup' first was used for different mathematical objects back in the 1930s, see [56]. Here, we follow Jewett's definition of hypergroups.

Not only were hypergroups defined as a generalization of locally compact groups, but also one may show that some objects related to locally compact groups may be studied as hypergroups. For instance, if G is a FC group (i.e. every conjugacy class is finite), then the set of all conjugacy classes of G, denoted by Conj(G), forms a commutative discrete hypergroup. Also, for a compact group G, the set of equivalence classes of irreducible unitary representations of G, denoted by \widehat{G} and called the *dual of the group* G, is a commutative discrete hypergroup. On one hand, these examples together with hypergroups which are defined on orthogonal polynomials, connect the studies done on hypergroups to different topics in abstract harmonic analysis. On the other hand, the similarities of hypergroups with groups suggest that one may be able to generalize the studies on locally compact groups to hypergroups. For example, different amenability properties of hypergroups and hypergroup algebras have been studied extensively, [70, 62, 51, 46, 37].

After a brief review of preliminaries in Chapter 1, in Chapter 2, we want to know more about center of group algebras for FC groups. It is known that the center of the group algebra, $Z\ell^1(G)$, for an FC group G, is amenable if G', the derived subgroup of G, is finite (see [5]). In Section 2.2, for a specific class of FC groups, called *restricted direct products of finite groups*, we show that the other side is held. Let $\{G_i\}_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ be a family of finite groups. Then

$$G := \{ (x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} : x_i = e_{G_i} \text{ for all except finitely many } i \in \mathbf{I} \}$$

is called the restricted direct product of $\{G_i\}_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$. In this section, we study various properties of $Z\ell^1(G)$, such as amenability and its Gelfand spectrum. We show that $Z\ell^1(G)$ is amenable if and only if G_i is abelian for all but finitely many *i* which proves the aforementioned conjecture for RDPF groups. Moreover, we characterize maximal ideals of $Z\ell^1(G)$ with bounded approximate identities. This section is based on a joint work with Professor Yemon Choi and Professor Ebrahim Samei.

In Chapter 3, we study three examples of hypergroups. First in Section 3.1, we introduce $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ the set of all conjugacy classes of an FC group G as a hypergroup and characterize its hypergroup algebra. Features of duals of compact groups, as hypergroups, have strong relations to the properties of their corresponding compact groups. In Sections 3.2, we check the hypergroup definition for dual of compact groups and perform some observations on them. Eventually, we close this chapter by a polynomial hypergroup structure on \mathbb{N}_0 in Section 3.3. This class of hypergroups has been of interest for many studies on discrete hypergroups namely [27, 37, 47, 46, 50, 51].

One of the topics related to hypergroups which has been initiated based on a similar study on locally compact groups is "weighted hypergroups" and "weighted hypergroup algebras". One may note that, for the specific weight $\omega \equiv 1$, the weighted case is reduced back to regular hypergroups and their algebras. The first studies over weighted hypergroup algebras may be tracked back to [7, 32, 33]. Chapter 4 is devoted to weights on discrete hypergroups, their corresponding algebras, and their examples. In Section 4.1, we study weighted hypergroup algebras, $\ell^1(H,\omega)$, for commutative discrete hypergroups H and hypergroups weights ω . Subsequently, in Section 4.2, we introduce some weights which are related to the growing rate of finitely generated hypergroups.

To emphasize the importance of weighted hypergroup algebras in abstract harmonic analysis, we continue by studying some well-known Banach algebras on groups which are isomorphic to some weighted hypergroup algebras. First we study weights and their properties on $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$, as a hypergroup, for FC groups G. As examples of these weights, if (G, σ) is a weighted discrete FC group for some group weight σ , then $Z\ell^1(G, \sigma)$, the center of σ -weighted group algebra, is shown in Section 4.3 to be isometrically algebraic isomorphic to $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega_{\sigma})$ for some hypergroup weight ω_{σ} which is generated using σ . We will introduce and study more examples of hypergroup weights on Conj(G) in Sections 4.4 and 4.5. Finally, we close the chapter by Section 4.6 in which we introduce and study some hypergroup weights on dual of compact groups.

The Fourier algebra of a general locally compact group was first studied by Eymard, [26]. There are several papers which defined Fourier space on hypergroups, as a Banach space, [78, 4, 60, 45]. But unfortunately, none of them could show that the Fourier space defined in the aforementioned references actually forms an algebra, unlike the group case. So although the definitions are mainly similar, strategies to study the hypergroups for which the Fourier space is an algebra are different. In [60], Muruganandam defined the Fourier space of a hypergroup H, as a Banach space denoted by A(H), analogous to the Fourier algebra of groups. Applying some tools from character theory of hypergroups, he studied the pointwise multiplication of elements of A(H) and the behaviour of the norm with respect to this multiplication. He could develop a machinery to study hypergroups whose Fourier space is a Banach algebra. He called a hypergroup H a regular Fourier hypergroup if A(H) equipped with pointwise multiplication is a Banach algebra. Muruganandam also recognized a variety of regular Fourier hypergroups in [60, 61]. He proved that some polynomial hypergroups, double coset hypergroups, and the space of all orbits in a locally compact group G for some relatively compact subgroup of automorphisms of G including inner ones are regular Fourier hypergroups. Chapter 5 studies Fourier algebra of hypergroups. After studying some general properties of Fourier algebra of hypergroups in Section 5.1, in Section 5.2, we add the dual of compact groups to the list of regular Fourier hypergroups. Furthermore, we show that if G is a compact group, the Fourier algebra of G, $A(\widehat{G})$, is isometrically isomorphic to the center of the group algebra of $G, ZL^1(G)$. Furthermore, we prove that $ZA(G) := A(G) \cap L^1(G)$, as a subalgebra of A(G), is isometrically isomorphic to the Banach algebra $\ell^1(\widehat{G})$.

In [29], it was proved that the Fourier algebra of a compact group G is weakly amenable if and only if the connected component of the identity, denoted by G_e , is abelian. We study the question of weak amenability for ZA(G) of a compact group G in Section 5.3. Here, by constructing one non-zero bounded derivation on ZA(SU(2)) and similarly ZA(SO(3)), we prove the existence of a non-zero bounded derivation on ZA(G) for every compact group Gwhen G_e is not abelian; ZA(G) for this class of compact groups is not weakly amenable.

Chapter 6, is an attempt to re-create some amenability features of locally compact groups for hypergroups and their relations with the Fourier algebra on regular Fourier hypergroups. We develop some definitions and observe some of their examples and applications in harmonic analysis. For a locally compact group G, the Leptin condition was defined to characterize the existence of a bounded approximate identity of the Fourier algebra, A(G); meanwhile, it is equivalent to the amenability of the group G. In an attempt to develop a similar machinery for hypergroups, we introduce a modified version of the Leptin condition for hypergroups called *D*-Leptin condition for some $D \ge 1$, in Subsection 6.1.1. This definition for D = 1 corresponds previous definitions of Leptin condition for locally compact groups in [54] as well as polynomial hypergroups in [37]. In Subsection 6.1.2, we show that the *D*-Leptin condition implies the existence of a bounded approximate identity of the Fourier algebra for regular Fourier hypergroups. Furthermore, the D-Leptin condition results some other amenability properties of hypergroups introduced and studied in [70], see Subsection 6.1.3. Furthermore, we study the *D*-Leptin condition of some Lie groups. As a result, the dual of SU(2), the special unitary group of 2×2 matrices, satisfies the 1-Leptin condition. Further, based on some studies on representation theory of SU(3), the special unitary group of 3×3 matrices, we show that the 3^8 -Leptin condition is satisfied by the hypergroup of the dual of SU(3). Also for every connected simply connected compact real Lie group \mathbb{G} , the hypergroup $\widehat{\mathbb{G}}$ satisfies the *D*-Leptin condition for some $D \ge 1$, as it is shown in Section 6.2.

Approximate amenability of a Banach algebra was defined in [31]. A Banach algebra \mathcal{A} is said to be approximately amenable if every bounded derivation from \mathcal{A} into the dual of any \mathcal{A} bimodule can be approximated by a net of inner derivations. Reiter established classical Segal algebras in his monograph [64]. A Segal algebra $S^1(G)$ on a locally compact group G is a dense left ideal of $L^1(G)$ that satisfies some extra conditions. For example, the elements of $L^1(G)$ act on the Segal algebra as bounded multipliers. Approximate amenability of Segal algebras has been studied in several papers. Dales and Loy, in [18], studied approximate amenability of Segal algebras on the torus \mathbb{T} and the group of real numbers \mathbb{R} . They showed that certain Segal algebras on \mathbb{T} and \mathbb{R} are not approximately amenable. It was further conjectured that no proper Segal algebra on \mathbb{T} is approximately amenable. Choi and Ghahramani, in [14], have shown the stronger fact that no proper Segal algebra on \mathbb{T}^d or \mathbb{R}^d is approximately amenable. In Subsection 6.2.3, applying the D-Leptin condition of hypergroups, we study the approximate amenability of Segal algebras of compact groups. We prove that for every compact group Gwhose dual satisfies the D-Leptin condition for some $D \geq 1$, every proper Segal algebra is not approximately amenable. A version of this subsection has been published as a part of [2].

In Chapter 7, we study some properties of weighted hypergroup algebras, including Arens

regularity and isomorphism with operator algebras. We also study these features for some of examples of weighted hypergroups introduced in the previous chapters.

Arens regularity of weighted group algebras has been studied by Craw and Young in [16]. They showed that a locally compact group G has a weight ω such that $L^1(G, \omega)$ is Arens regular if and only if G is discrete and countable. They also characterized the Arens regularity of weighted group algebras with respect to one feature of the weight, called 0-*clusterness* as described in [17]. In Section 7.1, the Arens regularity of weighted hypergroup algebras for discrete hypergroups is studied and it is shown that strong 0-clusterness of the corresponding hypergroup weight results in the Arens regularity of the weighted hypergroup algebra (strong 0-clusterness implies 0-clusterness, [17]).

A Banach algebra \mathcal{A} is called an *operator algebra* if there is a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} such that \mathcal{A} is a closed subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. For a Banach algebra, one may ask about the existence of an algebra isomorphism from the algebra onto an operator algebra. Isomorphism of weighted group algebras to operator algebras has been studied before, see [52, 76]. In Section 7.2, studying the hypergroup case, we demonstrate that for hypergroup weights which are weakly additive and whose inverse is 2-summable over the hypergroup, an isomorphism to an operator algebra exists.

CHAPTER 1

PRELIMINARIES

1.1 Hypergroups

To define hypergroups, we need to present the definition of the *Michael topology* as follows.

Definition 1.1.1. [8, 1.1.1]

Let $\mathfrak{C}(X)$ denote the space of nonvoid compact subsets of some locally compact space X. For $A, B \subset X$, set $\mathfrak{C}_A(B) := \{C \in \mathfrak{C}(X) : C \cap A \neq \emptyset \text{ and } C \subset B\}$. Then $\mathfrak{C}(X)$ is given the topology which is generated by the subbasis of all $\mathfrak{C}_U(V)$ for all U and V open subsets of X. Then $\mathfrak{C}(X)$ is a locally compact Hausdorff space. Moreover, if Ω is a compact subset of $\mathfrak{C}(X)$ then $B = \bigcup \{A : A \in \Omega\}$ is a compact subset of X.

For a locally compact space X, we use M(X) to denote the Banach space of all bounded complex Radon measures on X. Recall that M(X) can be identified as the dual of $C_0(X)$, the C^* -algebra of all continuous functions vanishing at infinity. For each $x \in X$, δ_x denotes the *Dirac measure* at x i.e. $\delta_x(f) = f(x)$ for each $f \in C_0(X)$. We denote the C^* -algebra of bounded continuous complex valued functions on X by C(X). Also, $C_c(X)$ denotes the space of all compactly supported elements of C(X) which is dense in $C_0(X)$.

Definition 1.1.2. [8, 1.1.2]

We call a locally compact space H a *hypergroup* if the following conditions hold.

- (H1) There exists an associative binary operation * called *convolution* on M(H) under which M(H) is an algebra. Moreover, for every x, y in H, δ_x * δ_y is a positive measure with compact support and ||δ_x * δ_y||_{M(H)} = 1.
- (H2) The mapping $(x, y) \mapsto \delta_x * \delta_y$ is a continuous map from $H \times H$ into M(H) equipped with the weak* topology that is $\sigma(M(H), C_c(H))$ where each $\mu \in M(H)$ is considered as a functional on $C_c(H)$ that is $\mu(f) \coloneqq \int_H f d\mu$ for any $f \in C_c(H)$.

- (H3) The mapping $(x, y) \to \operatorname{supp}(\delta_x * \delta_y)$ is a continuous mapping from $H \times H$ into $\mathfrak{C}(H)$ equipped with the Michael topology.
- (H4) There exists an element (necessarily unique) e in H such that

$$\delta_e \star \delta_x = \delta_x \star \delta_e = \delta_x$$

for all x in H.

- (H5) There exists a (necessarily unique) homeomorphism $x \to \check{x}$ of H called *involution* satisfying the following:
 - (i) $(\check{x}) = x$ for all $x \in H$.
 - (ii) If \check{f} is defined by $\check{f}(t) \coloneqq f(\check{t})$ for all $f \in C_c(H)$ and $t \in H$, one may define $\check{\mu}(f) \coloneqq \mu(\check{f})$ for all $\mu \in M(H)$. Then

$$(\delta_x * \delta_y) = \delta_{\check{y}} * \delta_{\check{x}}$$
 for all $x, y \in H$.

(H6) e belongs to supp $(\delta_x \star \delta_y)$ if and only if $y = \check{x}$.

Remark 1.1.3. Since here we mainly work with discrete hypergroups, we may notice that for discrete hypergroup, two continuity conditions (H2) and (H3) are automatically satisfied.

Applying the convolution of M(H), one may define an action between subsets of H. We denote it by * again where the notation A * B stands for

$$\bigcup \{ \operatorname{supp}(\delta_x \star \delta_y) : \text{ for all } x \in A \text{ and } y \in B \}$$
(1.1.1)

for A, B subsets of the hypergroup H. With abuse of notation, we use x * A and x * y to denote $\{x\} * A$ and $\{x\} * \{y\}$, respectively.

We call a hypergroup H commutative if M(H) forms a commutative algebra. To facilitate the notation, for each pair $x, y \in H$ and $f \in C_c(H)$, the value of the measure of $\delta_x * \delta_y$ on f is denoted by $f(\delta_x * \delta_y)$. As mentioned in [8, 1.1.2], for each pair $\mu, \nu \in M(H)$ and $f \in C_c(H)$,

$$\mu * \nu(f) = \int_H \int_H f(\delta_x * \delta_y) d\mu(x) d\nu(y).$$

We can define a *left translation* on C(H) by

$$L_x f: H \to \mathbb{C}, \quad L_x f(y) = f(\delta_x \star \delta_y)$$

for each f in C(H) and $x, y \in H$. Note that $L_x f \in C_c(H)$ for $f \in C_c(H)$. Similar to the group case a non-zero, positive, left invariant linear functional h (possibly unbounded) on $C_c(H)$ is called a *Haar measure* i.e. $h(L_x f) = h(f)$ for all $f \in C_c(H)$ and $x \in H$. Note that h is a Radon measure which satisfies the subinvariant translation on measurable sets i.e. $h(K) \leq h(x * K)$ for each compact set $K \subseteq H$ and $x \in H$. The Haar measure is unique up to multiplication by a positive constant, [8].

Unlike the theory of locally compact groups, the existence of a Haar measure on hypergroups is not proven for general hypergroups¹. But for specific cases of hypergroups including commutative hypergroups, discrete hypergroups, and compact hypergroups, always a Haar measure exists, [8, Section 1.3]. If there exists a Haar measure on a hypergroup H, it is unique up to a constant multiplier.

Theorem 1.1.4. [8, Theorem 1.3.26]

Let H be a discrete hypergroup. Then there exists a Haar measure $h: H \to (0, \infty)$. If we assume that h(e) = 1, $h(x) = (\delta_{\tilde{x}} * \delta_x(e))^{-1}$ for all $x \in H$.

Note that unlike groups, the Haar measure on discrete hypergroups is not necessarily a fixed multiplier of the counting measure. As an instance, one may look at the Haar measure on $\widehat{SU(2)}$ (see Example 3.2.2).

Since most of the hypergroups that we work with are discrete or commutative or both, from now on, we assume that a hypergroup H possesses a Haar measure. In this case, for each $1 \le p < \infty$, we define $L^p(H, h)$ (sometimes denoted by $L^p(H)$ if there is no risk of confusion) to be the Banach space of *p*-integrable functions on H with respect to the Haar measure h; hence,

$$\|f\|_p \coloneqq \left(\int_H |f(x)|^p dh(x)\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty.$$

Furthermore, for each $f, g \in C_c(H)$ and $y \in H$, let us define

$$f *_h g(y) \coloneqq \int_H f(x)g(\delta_{\check{x}} * \delta_y)dh(x) \quad \tilde{f}(x) \coloneqq \overline{f(\check{x})}.$$

One may extend $*_h$ and \sim to $L^1(H,h)$. $L^1(H,h)$ equipped with the convolution $*_h$ forms a Banach algebra, [8, Section 1.4]. To facilitate writing, we may use dx for integration with respect to the Haar measure i.e. dh(x).

¹Revising very last drafts of the thesis, Professor Yemon Choi directed me to the recent manuscript [11]. In that, it has been claimed that the existence of a left invariant measure on an arbitrary hypergroup is proven.

Let H be a discrete hypergroup. As we mentioned before, $\ell^1(H) = M(H)$ is a Banach algebra. One may easily show that in discrete case, for each pair $f, g \in \ell^1(H)$, we have

$$\|f\|_{1} \coloneqq \sum_{x \in H} |f(x)| \quad , \quad f * g(x) \coloneqq \sum_{t \in H} \sum_{s \in H} \delta_{t} * \delta_{s}(x) f(t) g(s) \quad (x \in H).$$
(1.1.2)

On the other hand, for a discrete hypergroup H equipped with the Haar measure h, one gets

$$||f||_{L^1(H,h)} \coloneqq \sum_{t \in H} |f(t)|h(t) \text{ and } f *_h g(x) \coloneqq \sum_{t \in H} f(t)L_t g(x)h(t).$$

Proposition 1.1.5. [48, Theorem 1.8]

The map $f \to fh$, $L^1(H,h) \to \ell^1(H)$ is an isometric algebra isomorphism from the Banach algebra $L^1(H,h)$ onto the Banach algebra $\ell^1(H)$.

Lemma 1.1.6. Let H be a discrete hypergroup equipped with a Haar measure h. For each pair $x, y \in H$,

$$\delta_x \star_h \delta_y(z) = \delta_x \star \delta_y(z) \frac{h(x)h(y)}{h(z)} \quad (z \in H).$$

Proof. Let Θ be the inverse of the isomorphism defined in Proposition 1.1.5 i.e. $\Theta(f)(x) = h(x)^{-1}f(x)$ and $x, y \in H$ be arbitrary. For each $z \in H$, we have

$$\frac{1}{h(z)}\delta_x * \delta_y(z) = \Theta(\delta_x * \delta_y)(z) = \Theta(\delta_x) *_h \Theta(\delta_y)(z) = \frac{1}{h(x)h(y)}\delta_x *_h \delta_y(z).$$

The following proposition is a discrete case of [8, Proposition 1.2.16].

Proposition 1.1.7. Let H be a discrete hypergroup. Then for every $\phi \in c_0(H)$ and $f \in \ell^1(H)$, the function

$$x \mapsto \sum_{t \in H} f(t)\phi(\delta_{\tilde{t}} \star \delta_x)$$

belongs to $c_0(H)$.

Proof. Let $\epsilon > 0$ be fixed. Therefore there is some $K \subset H$ finite such that for every $x \in H \smallsetminus K$, $|\phi(x)| < \epsilon \|f\|_1^{-1}$. Also there is some $F \subseteq H$ finite such that

$$\sum_{x \in H \smallsetminus F} |f(x)| < \epsilon \|\phi\|_{\infty}^{-1}$$

Based on the definition of convolution between sets and (H1) in Definition 1.1.2, it is obvious that C := F * K is a finite subset of H.

Let $x \in H \smallsetminus C$, $t \in F$, and $s \in K$. If $\delta_{\tilde{t}} * \delta_x(s) \neq 0$, $s \in \tilde{t} * x$. Therefore, by (H6), $e \in \tilde{s} * \tilde{t} * x$. Again (H6) implies that $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{s} * \tilde{t}$ or equivalently $x \in t * s \subseteq F * K$ which is a contradiction. Hence, for $x \in H \setminus C$, $t \in F$, and $s \in K$, $\delta_{\tilde{t}} \star \delta_x(s) = 0$. Consequently,

$$\sum_{t \in F} |f(t)| \sum_{s \in K} |\phi(s)| \delta_{\tilde{t}} * \delta_x(s) = 0.$$

Therefore for $x \in H \setminus C$, one gets

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \sum_{t \in H} f(t)\phi(\delta_{\tilde{t}} * \delta_{x}) \right| &\leq \left| \sum_{t \in F} f(t)\phi(\delta_{\tilde{t}} * \delta_{x}) \right| + \left| \sum_{t \in H \smallsetminus F} f(t)\phi(\delta_{\tilde{t}} * \delta_{x}) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{t \in F} |f(t)||\phi(\delta_{\tilde{t}} * \delta_{x})| + \sum_{t \in H \smallsetminus F} |f(t)| \|\phi\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \epsilon + \sum_{t \in F} |f(t)| \sum_{s \in H} |\phi(s)|\delta_{\tilde{t}} * \delta_{x}(s) \\ &= \epsilon + \sum_{t \in F} |f(t)| \sum_{s \in H \smallsetminus K} |\phi(s)|\delta_{\tilde{t}} * \delta_{x}(s) + \sum_{t \in F} |f(t)| \sum_{s \in K} |\phi(s)|\delta_{\tilde{t}} * \delta_{x}(s) \\ &\leq \epsilon + \sup_{s \in H \smallsetminus K} |\phi(s)| \|f\|_{1} + \sum_{t \in F} |f(t)| \sum_{s \in K} |\phi(s)|\delta_{\tilde{t}} * \delta_{x}(s) = 2\epsilon. \end{aligned}$$

If this finishes the proof.

And this finishes the proof.

For two discrete hypergroups H_1 and H_2 , $H := H_1 \times H_2$ forms a discrete hypergroup where

$$\delta_{(x_1,x_2)} *_H \delta_{(y_1,y_2)}(s,t) \coloneqq \delta_{x_1} *_{H_1} \delta_{y_1}(s) \delta_{x_2} *_{H_2} \delta_{y_2}(t)$$

for all $x_1, y_1, s \in H_1$ and $x_2, y_2, t \in H_2$. As an extension of the previous product of hypergroups, let $\{H_i\}_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ be a family of discrete hypergroups, then $H := \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} H_i$ where for each $x \in H$, $x = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ where x_i is the identity of the hypergroup H_i , e_{H_i} , for all $i \in \mathbf{I}$ except finitely many. H is called restricted direct product of $(H_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$.

A hypergroup H is said to be *amenable* if there exists a left invariant positive linear functional of norm 1 on C(H). Amenability of hypergroups has been studied widely in [70]. Skantharajah, in [70], showed that similar to amenable groups, all compact or commutative hypergroups are amenable. But unlike group case, the amenability of hypergroups does not necessarily imply the amenability of the hypergroup algebra as an algebra (defined in the following). The converse is always true i.e. the amenability of a hypergroup algebra (as a Banach algebra) implies the amenability of the corresponding hypergroup, [70, Proposition 4.9].

Let H be a commutative hypergroup equipped with a Haar measure h. Define

$$\widehat{H} := \{ \alpha \in C_b(H) : \ \alpha(\delta_x * \delta_y) = \alpha(x)\alpha(y), \ \alpha(\check{x}) = \overline{\alpha(x)}, \ \text{and} \ \alpha \neq 0 \}.$$
(1.1.3)

Let us give \widehat{H} the topology of uniform convergence on compact subsets of H. Every $\alpha \in \widehat{H}$ is called a *character* of H and the topological space \widehat{H} is called the *dual* of the hypergroup H.

For each $\mu \in M(H)$, one may define the Fourier-Stieltjes transform $\widehat{\mu}$ (or $\mathcal{F}(\mu)$) on \widehat{H} by

$$\widehat{\mu}(\alpha) \coloneqq \int_{H} \overline{\alpha}(x) d\mu(x) \quad (\alpha \in \widehat{H}).$$

For $f \in L^1(H)$ this gives the Fourier transform

$$\widehat{f}(\alpha) = \int_{H} \overline{\alpha(x)} f(x) dx,$$

which is also denoted by $\mathcal{F}(f)$, see [8, Definition 2.2.3]. In the following we just summarize some of the main properties of \widehat{H} from [8, Chapter 2].

Theorem 1.1.8. [8, Theorem 2.2.4]

Let H be a commutative hypergroup.

- (1) Since the constant function 1 belongs to \widehat{H} , it is non empty.
- (2) \widehat{H} is a locally compact topological space.
- (3) The Fourier-Stieltjes transform is a norm-decreasing linear mapping from M(H) into $C_b(\widehat{H})$.
- (4) The Fourier transform is a norm-decreasing linear mapping from $L^1(H)$ into $C_0(\widehat{H})$. Furthermore, $\mathcal{F}(L^1(H))$ is a dense subalgebra of $(C_0(\widehat{H}), \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$.

Theorem 1.1.9. [8, Theorem 2.2.13]

Let H be a commutative hypergroup. Then there exists a non-negative measure π on \widehat{H} , called Plancherel measure of \widehat{H} such that

$$\int_{H} |f(x)|^{2} dx = \int_{\widehat{H}} |\widehat{f}(\alpha)|^{2} d\pi(\alpha)$$

for all $f \in L^1(H) \cap L^2(H)$.

Note that for an arbitrary hypergroup H (unlike group case) the support of the Plancherel measure, $\operatorname{supp}(\pi)$, may not be equal to \widehat{H} .

1.2 Group algebra and its center

Let G be a locally compact group which is a hypergroup that possesses a Haar measure λ such that $\lambda(xE) = \lambda(E)$ for each measurable set $E \subseteq G$. From now on, we use dx to denote $d\lambda(x)$ in our integrations over a group G.

For a group G, the derived subgroup of G (also called the commutator subgroup of G) is the closed normal subgroup of G generated by the set of all commutators of elements in G. We denote the derived subgroup of G by G'.

We denote the hypergroup algebra of G by $L^1(G)$ and call it the group algebra of G. Note that $L^1(G)$ is commutative if and only if G is a commutative group.

Definition 1.2.1. Let G be a locally compact group. The center of the group algebra is the subalgebra of $L^1(G)$ consisting of all elements which commute with all elements of the group algebra and is denoted by $ZL^1(G)$.

Theorem 1.2.2. Let G be a locally compact group. $ZL^1(G)$ is the set of all elements of $L^1(G)$ which are almost everywhere constant on conjugacy classes of the group G i.e. $f(yxy^{-1}) = f(x)$ for almost all $x, y \in G$.

For a proof, one may look at [57]. Liukkonen and Mosak in their paper, [57], studied some of the properties of $ZL^1(G)$. Namely they showed that $ZL^1(G)$ is a regular, Tauberian, symmetric Banach *-algebra and contains a bounded approximate identity. In [5], Azimifard, Samei, and Spronk studied some amenability properties of the center of group algebras for compact and finite groups.

1.3 Banach algebras

1.3.1 Characters of commutative Banach algebras

Let \mathcal{A} be a commutative Banach algebra. We denote by $\sigma(\mathcal{A})$ the *(Gelfand) spectrum* of \mathcal{A} which is the set of all non-zero multiplicative linear functionals on \mathcal{A} ; that is also called the *maximal ideal space* or *character space* of \mathcal{A} . For each $\psi \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$, ψ is called a *character* on the algebra \mathcal{A} .

1.3.2 Injective and projective tensor products

We use [69] as our reference of this subsection. Let X and Y be two linear spaces. There exists a linear space $X \otimes Y$, called the *tensor product* of X and Y and a canonical bilinear map $\varphi : X \times Y \to X \otimes Y$ with the following universal property. For each linear space E and an arbitrary bilinear map $B : X \times Y \to E$ there exists one and only one linear map \tilde{B} such that

 $B=\tilde{B}\circ\varphi.$ A typical element u in $X\otimes Y$ can be represented in the form of

$$u = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i \otimes y_i \tag{1.3.1}$$

for $x_i \in X$ and $y_i \in Y$ and $x_i \otimes y_i = \varphi(x_i, y_i)$. Note that this representation for each element may not be unique. If X and Y are Banach spaces, we may apply their norms to norm $X \otimes Y$ and even complete it to a Banach space. In this case, a norm $\|\cdot\|$ on $X \otimes Y$ is called *cross norm* if $\|x \otimes y\| = \|x\|_X \|y\|_Y$ for all $x \in X$ and $y \in Y$. For each $u \in X \otimes Y$, in the form of (1.3.1), let

$$\|u\|_{\gamma} \coloneqq \inf\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|x_i\|_X \|y_i\|_Y\right\}$$
(1.3.2)

where the infimum is taken over all representations of u. This norm is called *projective tensor* norm and is the largest possible cross norm defined on $X \otimes Y$. The completion of $X \otimes Y$ with respect to $\|\cdot\|_{\gamma}$ is called *projective tensor product* of X and Y and denoted by $X \otimes_{\gamma} Y$. One may show that the dual of $X \otimes_{\gamma} Y$, as a Banach space, is isometrically isomorphic to $\mathcal{L}(X, Y^*)$, the space of all bounded operators from X into Y^* .

If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are two Banach algebras, there is a product on $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ which makes it an algebra such that $(a_1 \otimes b_1)(a_2 \otimes b_2) = a_1 a_2 \otimes b_1 b_2$. The projective norm on $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ is an algebra norm; hence, $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\gamma} \mathcal{B}$ is a Banach algebra.

Let (S_1, μ_1) and (S_2, μ_2) be two measured spaces, then $L^1(S_1, \mu_1) \otimes_{\gamma} L^1(S_2, \mu_2)$, as a Banach space, is isometrically isomorphic to $L^1(S_1 \times S_2, \mu_1 \times \mu_2)$. Let H_1 and H_2 be two hypergroups. Then there exists an isometric isomorphism θ from the Banach algebra $L^1(H_1) \otimes_{\gamma} L^1(H_2)$ onto $L^1(H_1 \times H_2)$ such that

$$\theta(f \otimes g)(x, y) = f(x)g(y)$$

for all $f \in L^1(H_1)$, $g \in L^1(H_2)$, and almost all $x \in H_1$ and $y \in H_2$. A proof would be exactly similar to the group case, (see [43, Proposition 1.5.5]).

Moreover, for Banach spaces X and Y and $u \in X \otimes Y$,

$$\|u\|_{\epsilon} \coloneqq \sup\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \psi(x_i)\phi(y_i) : \psi \in X^* \text{ and } \phi \in Y^* \text{ such that } \|\psi\| \le 1 \text{ and } \|\phi\| \le 1\right\},$$

forms another norm called *injective tensor norm* which is the least cross norm one may define on $X \otimes Y$. The completion of $X \otimes Y$ with respect to the injective norm is called *injective tensor* product of X and Y and denoted by $X \otimes_{\epsilon} Y$.

Remark 1.3.1. For each two Banach spaces X and Y, the projective tensor norm or injective tensor norm are *cross norms*.

1.3.3 Amenability of Banach algebras

For amenability of Banach algebras, we use [68] as the main reference. The proof of the following results can be found there.

If \mathcal{A} is a Banach algebra, a Banach space X is called a Banach \mathcal{A} -bimodule if there are bounded maps, a homomorphism $\mathcal{A} \to B(X) : a \mapsto (x \mapsto a \cdot x)$ and an anti-homomorphism $\mathcal{A} \to B(X) : a \mapsto (x \mapsto x \cdot a)$, with commuting ranges. A Banach \mathcal{A} -bimodule X is called symmetric if the left and right module actions coincide i.e. $a \cdot x = x \cdot a$ for all $x \in X$ and $a \in \mathcal{A}$. The adjoints of these actions make the dual space X^* into a dual Banach \mathcal{A} -bimodule.

A linear map $D : \mathcal{A} \to X$ is called a *derivation* if $D(ab) = a \cdot D(b) + D(a) \cdot b$ for a, b in \mathcal{A} . Inner derivations are those of the form $D(a) = a \cdot x - x \cdot a$ for some x in X. A Banach algebra \mathcal{A} is *amenable* if, for every dual Banach \mathcal{A} -bimodule X^* , every bounded derivation $D : \mathcal{A} \to X^*$ is inner.

Note that, canonical actions of \mathcal{A} into its dual make \mathcal{A}^* into a dual Banach \mathcal{A} -bimodule. A Banach algebra \mathcal{A} is *weakly amenable* if every bounded derivation $D : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}^*$ is inner. If \mathcal{A} is commutative, the weak amenability is equivalent to this fact that every bounded derivation $D : \mathcal{A} \to X$ for a symmetric Banach \mathcal{A} -bimodule X is constantly 0. Let $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^*$ be a character i.e. ϕ is non-zero and $\phi(ab) = \phi(a)\phi(b)$ for all $a, b \in \mathcal{A}$. A non-zero linear functional $d_{\phi} \in \mathcal{A}^*$ such that $d_{\phi}(ab) = \phi(a)d_{\phi}(b) + d_{\phi}(a)\phi(b)$ is called a *point derivation*. If a non-zero point derivation ϕ exists, the derivation $D : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}^*$ which is defined as $D(a) := d_{\phi}(a)\phi$ implies that \mathcal{A} cannot be weakly amenable. If a Banach algebra \mathcal{A} is amenable, it is clearly weakly amenable as well.

Let \mathcal{A} be a Banach algebra. Then the Banach algebra $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\gamma} \mathcal{A}$ forms a Banach \mathcal{A} -bimodule where

$$a \cdot (b \otimes c) \coloneqq (ab) \otimes c \text{ and } (b \otimes c) \cdot a = b \otimes (ca)$$

for all $a, b, c \in \mathcal{A}$. Moreover, the mapping $\mathbf{m} : \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$, where $\mathbf{m}(a, b) = ab$, has a continuous extension from $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\gamma} \mathcal{A}$ into \mathcal{A} which we denote by \mathbf{m} again.

For a Banach algebra \mathcal{A} there are a variety of conditions which equal the amenability of the Banach algebra. For example, \mathcal{A} is amenable if and only if there is a norm bounded net $(m_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ in $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\gamma} \mathcal{A}$ such that

- (1) $\lim_{\alpha} a \cdot m_{\alpha} m_{\alpha} \cdot a = 0.$
- (2) $\lim_{\alpha} \|\mathbf{m}(m_{\alpha})a a\|_{\mathcal{A}} = 0$ and $\lim_{\alpha} \|a\mathbf{m}(m_{\alpha}) a\|_{\mathcal{A}} = 0$.

Such a bounded net $(m_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ is called a *bounded approximate diagonal* of \mathcal{A} .

Note that the second adjoint **m** is a mapping $\mathbf{m}^{**} : (\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\gamma} \mathcal{A})^{**} \to \mathcal{A}^{**}$. Moreover, \mathcal{A}^{**} and $(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\gamma} \mathcal{A})^{**}$ are also \mathcal{A} -bimodules in canonical ways. An element $M \in (\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\gamma} \mathcal{A})^{**}$ is called a *virtual diagonal* for \mathcal{A} if

$$a \cdot M = M \cdot a \text{ and } a \cdot \mathbf{m}^{**}(M) = \mathbf{m}^{**}(M) \cdot a = a.$$

The existence of a virtual diagonal also equals the amenability of \mathcal{A} .

The concept of *amenability constant* was developed by Johnson, in [39], as a tool to study the amenability of Fourier algebras. Roughly speaking, we can measure amenability of a Banach algebra via amenability constant.

Definition 1.3.2. For a Banach algebra \mathcal{A} , we denote the *amenability constant* of \mathcal{A} by AM(\mathcal{A}) and define it to be

$$\inf\left\{\sup_{\alpha}\|m_{\alpha}\|_{\mathcal{A}\otimes_{\gamma}\mathcal{A}}\right\}$$

where the infimum is taken over all bounded approximate diagonals $(m_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ of \mathcal{A} . If the set of bounded approximate diagonals of \mathcal{A} is empty, AM(\mathcal{A}) is set to be $+\infty$.

For a Banach algebra \mathcal{A} , $AM(\mathcal{A}) < \infty$ if and only if \mathcal{A} is amenable. If \mathcal{A} is a unital Banach algebra, $AM(\mathcal{A}) \ge 1$.

Remark 1.3.3. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be Banach algebras, and let $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a continuous homomorphism with dense range. It is well known that if \mathcal{A} is amenable then so is \mathcal{B} ; moreover, $\operatorname{AM}(\mathcal{B}) \leq \|\phi\|^2 \operatorname{AM}(\mathcal{A})$. Toward a proof, one may note that for every bounded approximate diagonal $(m_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ of \mathcal{A} , $(\phi \otimes \phi(m_{\alpha}))_{\alpha}$ is a bounded approximate diagonal of \mathcal{B} .

Furthermore, if \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are two amenable Banach algebras, the Banach algebra $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\gamma} \mathcal{B}$ is also amenable, by [40, Proposition 5.4].

Note that for every amenable Banach algebra \mathcal{A} , it has a bounded approximate identity. Let \mathcal{A} be an amenable Banach algebra, and let \mathcal{I} be a closed ideal of \mathcal{A} with finite dimension or codimension. Then \mathcal{I} is amenable. Specially for an amenable commutative Banach algebra \mathcal{A} , Ker(ψ) for all $\psi \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$ is amenable and consequently has a bounded approximate identity.

1.4 More on locally compact groups

1.4.1 Representation theory of compact groups

For a locally compact group G, a unitary representation π from G into $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H}_{\pi})$, the group of all unitary operators on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_{π} , is a group homomorphism which is continuous with respect to the topology of G and the strong operator topology on $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H}_{\pi})$. For a sub-Hilbert space \mathcal{K}_{π} of \mathcal{H}_{π} that is invariant under the group action of $\pi(x)$ for all $x \in G$, the representation $\pi|_{\mathcal{K}_{\pi}}: G \to \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{K}_{\pi})$ is called a *sub-representation* of π . If π has exactly two subrepresentations corresponding to the Hilbert spaces $\{0\}$ and \mathcal{H}_{π} , then the representation π is said to be *irreducible*. In this manuscript we mainly care about irreducible unitary representations of locally compact groups which we call representations if there is no risk of confusion. Two unitary representations ρ and π on a locally compact group G are called to be equivalent if there is some unitary operator $U: \mathcal{H}_{\pi} \to \mathcal{H}_{\rho}$ such that $U^*\rho(x)U = \pi(x)$ for every $x \in G$.

Let G be a compact group, \widehat{G} denotes a selection of continuous unitary irreducible representations of G, when from each class of equivalent irreducible unitary representations, we have one element in \widehat{G} . Let (π, \mathcal{H}_{π}) be an irreducible unitary representation of a compact group G, it is well-known that \mathcal{H}_{π} is a finite dimensional Hilbert space (see [36]). In this case, we denote the dimension of \mathcal{H}_{π} by d_{π} and call it the *degree* (or dimension) of the representation π .

The trace of a matrix $A = (a_{i,j})_{i,j \in 1,...,n}$ is defined to be the sum of the coefficients on the diagonal of A, i.e. $\sum_{i \in 1,...,n} a_{i,i}$. We denote the trace of A by $\operatorname{Tr}(A)$. Let G be a compact group. Since for each irreducible representation of G, say π , d_{π} is finite, $\pi(x)$ is a matrix for each $x \in G$. So we may define a function $\chi_{\pi} : G \to \mathbb{C}$, called a character of G, by $\chi_{\pi}(x) := \operatorname{Tr} \pi(x)$ for $x \in G$. Note that $\chi_{\pi}(x^{-1}) = \overline{\chi_{\pi}(x)}$ for all $\pi \in \widehat{G}$ and $x \in G$. Moreover, $\chi_{\pi}(xyx^{-1}) = \operatorname{Tr} \pi(xyx^{-1}) = \operatorname{Tr}(\pi(x)\pi(y)\pi(x)^{-1}) = \operatorname{Tr} \pi(y) = \chi_{\pi}(y)$, since $\operatorname{Tr}(AB) = \operatorname{Tr}(BA)$ for all matrices A, B. Hence, χ_{π} for each representation π is a continuous class function i.e. it is constant over conjugacy classes of G.

For each two compact groups G_1 and G_2 , $G \coloneqq G_1 \times G_2$ forms a compact group. For two representations $\pi_i \in \widehat{G}_i$ with corresponding Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_i , i = 1, 2 one may define a unitary irreducible representation $\pi_1 \times \pi_2 \in \widehat{G}$ where

$$\pi_1 imes \pi_2(x,y)(\xi \otimes \eta) = \pi_1(x)\xi \otimes \pi_2(y)\eta$$

for $\xi \in \mathcal{H}_1$ and $\eta \in \mathcal{H}_2$. Moreover, $d_{\pi_1 \times \pi_2} = d_{\pi_1} d_{\pi_2}$ and one may show that $Tr(\pi_1 \otimes \pi_2(x, y)) = Tr(\pi_1(x))Tr(\pi_2(y))$. The inverse is true that is $\widehat{G} \equiv \widehat{G}_1 \times \widehat{G}_2$ i.e. for each $\pi \in \widehat{G}$, $\pi \equiv \pi_1 \times \pi_2$ for

some $\pi_i \in \widehat{G}_i$ where i = 1, 2.

For each two representations $\pi_1, \pi_2 \in \widehat{G}$, for a compact group $G, \pi_1 \oplus \pi_2$ is a new representation of G with Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_1 \oplus \mathcal{H}_2$ where $\pi_1 \oplus \pi_2(x)(\xi \oplus \eta) = \pi_1(x)\xi \oplus \pi_2(x)\eta$ for all $\xi \in \mathcal{H}_1$ and $\eta \in \mathcal{H}_2$. And $Tr(\pi_1 \oplus \pi_2(x)) = Tr(\pi_1(x)) + Tr(\pi_2(x))$.

The proof of the following results can be found in [28, Section 5.3].

Proposition 1.4.1. For each character χ_{π} ($\pi \in \widehat{G}$), we have $\chi_{\pi}(e_G) = d_{\pi}$, $\|\chi_{\pi}\|_{\infty} = d_{\pi}$, and $\chi_{\pi} \in ZL^1(G)$.

Proposition 1.4.2. [28, (5.20)]

Let G be a compact group and $\lambda(G)$ denotes the Haar measure of G. Then for all $\pi_1, \pi_2 \in \widehat{G}$,

$$\chi_{\pi_1} * \chi_{\pi_2}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{\lambda(G)}{d_{\pi}} \chi_{\pi}(x) & \text{if } \pi = \pi_1 = \pi_2 \\ 0 & \text{if } \pi_1 \neq \pi_2 \end{cases}$$

For a compact group G, for each $1 \leq p < \infty$, $L^p(G) \subseteq L^1(G)$; furthermore, $(L^p(G), \|\cdot\|_p)$ equipped with the convolution forms a Banach algebra. Similarly, $C(G) \subseteq L^1(G)$ and therefore, $(C(G), \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ equipped with the convolution forms a Banach algebra.

Definition 1.4.3. For a compact group G, define $ZL^p(G) \coloneqq ZL^1(G) \cap L^p(G)$ $(1 \le p < \infty)$ and $ZC(G) = ZL^1(G) \cap C(G)$ i.e. $ZL^p(G) = \{f \in L^p(G) \colon f * h = h * f \ \forall h \in L^1(G)\}$ and $ZC(G) = \{f \in C(G) \colon f * h = h * f \ \forall h \in L^1(G)\}.$

The Banach spaces $ZL^p(G)$ $(1 \le p < \infty)$ and ZC(G) equipped with the convolution form commutative Banach algebras. Furthermore, $ZL^p(G)$ and ZC(G) are the closure of the linear span of $\{\chi_{\pi} : \pi \in \widehat{G}\}$ for all $1 \le p \le \infty$ with respect to $\|\cdot\|_p$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$, respectively. Let the Haar measure on compact group G be normalized i.e. $\lambda(G) = 1$. Then $\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$ even forms an orthonormal basis of $ZL^2(G)$.

Theorem 1.4.4. [28, Theorem 5.26]

Let G be a compact group. Then $\pi \mapsto \psi_{\pi}$ forms a bijection from \widehat{G} onto $\sigma(\mathcal{A})$, where \mathcal{A} is one of $ZL^{p}(G)$ $(1 \leq p < \infty)$ or ZC(G) as a commutative algebra with convolution and

$$\psi_{\pi}(f) = \frac{1}{d_{\pi}} \int_{G} f(y) \overline{\chi_{\pi}(y)} dy$$

for each $f \in \mathcal{A}$.

For each $\pi \in \widehat{G}$, let us define

$$\langle \widehat{f}(\pi)\xi,\eta\rangle \coloneqq \int_G f(x)\langle \pi(x^{-1})\xi,\eta\rangle dx \quad (\xi,\eta\in\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_\pi))$$

for each $f \in L^1(G)$. The Fourier transform, \mathcal{F} , of some $f \in L^1(G)$ is defined to be $(\widehat{f}(\pi))_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$. For each pair $\pi, \sigma \in \widehat{G}$, as a result of Schur orthogonality relations ([28, Section 5.2]), one gets that

$$\widehat{\chi}_{\pi}(\sigma) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{d_{\pi}} I_{d_{\pi}} & \text{if } \pi = \sigma \\ 0 & \text{if } \pi \neq \sigma. \end{cases}$$
(1.4.1)

For each compact group $G, f \mapsto \widehat{f}(\pi)$ is an algebra homomorphism of $L^1(G)$ onto the algebra of $d_{\pi} \times d_{\pi}$ matrices. In this case, A(G), the Fourier algebra of the compact group G is the set of all functions $f \in L^1(G)$ such that

$$\|f\|_{A(G)} \coloneqq \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} d_{\pi} \|\widehat{f}(\pi)\|_{\mathcal{S}_1} < \infty$$
(1.4.2)

where $||A||_{S_1}$ for a matrix A denotes the trace class norm i.e. $||A||_{S_1} = \text{Tr}(|A|)$. One can show that A(G) equipped with pointwise multiplication and the norm $||\cdot||_{A(G)}$ defined above forms a Banach algebra (see [36, Theorem 34.18]). By (1.4.2), one can show that $\lim \{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$ is dense in A(G) and $\|\chi_{\pi}\|_{A(G)} = d_{\pi}$ for every $\pi \in \widehat{G}$.

Similarly, for each $f \in L^2(G)$,

$$\|f\|_{2}^{2} = \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} d_{\pi} \|\widehat{f}(\pi)\|_{\mathcal{S}_{2}}^{2}$$
(1.4.3)

where $||A||_{\mathcal{S}_2}^2$ is the the *Hilbert-Schmidt norm* of a matrix $A = [a_{i,j}]_{1 \le i,j \le n}$ that is $(\sum_{i,j} |a_{i,j}|^2)^{1/2}$.

Unfortunately, the word 'character' is used in both Banach algebra theory and in the representation theory of finite groups and means two slightly different things. To prevent ambiguity, we may occasionally use the phrase *algebra character* to mean a character in the sense of Gelfand theory for the center of group algebra.

1.4.2 Segal algebras

Abstract Segal algebras first was defined in [10] as generalization of Segal algebras. We say that the Banach algebra $(\mathcal{B}, \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{B}})$ is an *abstract Segal algebra* of a Banach algebra $(\mathcal{A}, \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{A}})$ if

- 1. \mathcal{B} is a dense left ideal in \mathcal{A} .
- 2. There exists M > 0 such that $||b||_{\mathcal{A}} \leq M ||b||_{\mathcal{B}}$ for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$.
- 3. There exists C > 0 such that $||ab||_{\mathcal{B}} \leq C ||a||_{\mathcal{A}} ||b||_{\mathcal{B}}$ for all $a, b \in \mathcal{B}$.

If \mathcal{B} is a proper subalgebra of \mathcal{A} , we call it a *proper* abstract Segal algebra of \mathcal{A} .

The definition of Segal algebra and most of examples below are from [64]. Let G be a locally compact group. A linear subspace $S^1(G)$ of $L^1(G)$, the group algebra of G, is said to be a *Segal* algebra on G, if it satisfies the following conditions:

- 1. $S^1(G)$ is dense in $L^1(G)$.
- 2. $S^1(G)$ is a Banach space under some norm $\|\cdot\|_{S^1}$ and $\|f\|_{S^1} \ge \|f\|_1$ for all $f \in S^1(G)$.
- 3. $S^1(G)$ is left translation invariant and the map $x \mapsto L_x f$ of G into $S^1(G)$ is continuous where $L_x f(y) = f(x^{-1}y)$.
- 4. $||L_x f||_{S^1} = ||f||_{S^1}$ for all $f \in S^1(G)$ and $x \in G$.

Note that every Segal algebra on G is an abstract Segal algebra of $L^1(G)$ with convolution product. Similarly, we call a Segal algebra on G proper if it is a proper subalgebra of $L^1(G)$.

Example 1.4.5.

- Let LA(G) := L¹(G) ∩ A(G) and |||h||| := ||h||₁ + ||h||_{A(G)} for h ∈ LA(G). Then LA(G) with norm |||·||| is a Banach space; this space was studied extensively by Ghahramani and Lau in [30]. They have shown that LA(G) with the convolution product is a Banach algebra called the Lebesgue-Fourier algebra of G; moreover, it is a Segal algebra on the locally compact group G. LA(G) is a proper Segal algebra on G if and only if G is not discrete. Also, LA(G) with pointwise multiplication is a Banach algebra and even an abstract Segal algebra of A(G). Similarly, LA(G) is a proper subset of A(G) if and only if G is not compact.
- The convolution algebra $L^1(G) \cap L^p(G)$ for $1 \le p < \infty$ equipped with the norm $||f||_1 + ||f||_p$ is a Segal algebra.
- Similarly, $L^1(G) \cap C_0(G)$ with respect to the norm $||f||_1 + ||f||_{\infty}$ is a Segal algebra.
- Let G be a compact group, \mathcal{F} denote the Fourier transform, and $\mathcal{L}^{p}(\widehat{G})$ be the space which will be defined in (3.2.1). We can see that $\mathcal{F}^{-1}(\mathcal{L}^{p}(\widehat{G}))$, which we denote by $\mathfrak{C}^{p}(G)$, equipped with convolution is a subalgebra of $L^{1}(G)$. For $||f||_{\mathfrak{C}^{p}(G)} := ||\mathcal{F}f||_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(\widehat{G})}$, one can show that for each $1 \leq p \leq 2$, $(\mathfrak{C}^{p}(G), ||\cdot||_{\mathfrak{C}^{p}(G)})$ is a Segal algebra of G.

Chapter 2

RESTRICTED DIRECT PRODUCTS OF FINITE GROUPS

In this chapter, we are interested in knowing more about the center of discrete group algebras. Where G is a discrete group, if some conjugacy class $C_x = \{yxy^{-1} : y \in G\}$ is infinite for each function $f \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$, it is easy to verify that $f(C_x) = 0$; therefore, the characteristic function of the set C_x , denoted by 1_{C_x} , does not belong to $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$. This is the main reason that we restrict our study to discrete groups with finite conjugacy classes (including finite groups) which are called *finite conjugacy groups* or in short *FC groups*. For a FC group *G*, we denote the set of all conjugacy classes of *G* by Conj(*G*). In this chapter, we study a specific class of FC groups, called RDPF groups and some properties of the center of their group algebras.

This chapter is based on a joint project with Professor Yemon Choi and Professor Ebrahim Samei; a version of that has been written in the manuscript [3].

2.1 General properties of $Z\ell^1(G)$ for product groups

It is well known that when G is finite, the space of maximal ideals of $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ corresponds to the set of irreducible group characters of G. As a particular class of compact groups, one may re-write Theorem 1.4.4 for finite groups, as follows.

Lemma 2.1.1. Let G be a finite group. If ψ is an algebra character on $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$, then there is a unique $\pi \in \widehat{G}$ such that for the corresponding group character χ_{π} ,

$$\psi(f) = \sum_{x \in G} f(x) d_{\chi_{\pi}}^{-1} \chi_{\pi}(x^{-1}) \qquad \text{for all } f \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^{1}(G).$$
(2.1.1)

Conversely, for each group character χ_{π} of G, $\pi \in \widehat{G}$, the formula (2.1.1) defines an algebra character on $\mathbb{Z}\ell^{1}(G)$.

The following lemma will be used later, in several places.

Lemma 2.1.2. Let H and K be (discrete) FC-groups. Then the canonical, isometric isomorphism of Banach algebras $\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(K) \cong \ell^1(H \times K)$ restricts to an isometric isomorphism of Banach algebras $Z\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} Z\ell^1(K) \cong Z\ell^1(H \times K)$.

Proof. For any FC group H, we can define an averaging operator $P_H: \ell^1(H) \to \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H)$ by

$$P_H(f)(x) = \frac{1}{|C_x|} \sum_{t \in C_x} f(t)$$

where C_x denotes the conjugacy class of x in H. Since H is an FC-group, P_H is well-defined and P_H leaves elements of $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H)$ fixed. For two FC groups H and K, we define $P_H \otimes P_K$: $\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(K) \to \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(K)$ where $P_H \otimes P_K(f \otimes g) = P_H(f) \otimes P_K(g)$ for each $f \otimes g \in$ $\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(K)$.

Now let H and K be FC groups, and let $\theta : \ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(K) \to \ell^1(H \times K)$ be the canonical isometrical isomorphism of Banach algebras, which satisfies $\theta(f \otimes g)(x, y) = f(x)g(y)$ for all $f \in \ell^1(H), g \in \ell^1(K), x \in H$ and $y \in K$. We claim that

$$P_{H \times K} \circ \theta = \theta \circ (P_H \otimes P_K). \tag{2.1.2}$$

Note that for every pair H, K of FC groups, $H \times K$ is a FC group. Let $f \in \ell^1(H)$ and $g \in \ell^1(K)$. If $(x, y) \in H \times K$, then since $C_{(x,y)}$ may be identified with $C_x \times C_y$, we have

$$P_{H \times K} \circ \theta(f \otimes g)(x, y) = P_{H \times K}(f(x)g(y))$$

= $|C_{(x,y)}|^{-1} \sum_{(t,s) \in C_x \times C_y} f(t)g(s)$
= $|C_x|^{-1} \sum_{t \in C_x} f(t) |C_y|^{-1} \sum_{s \in C_y} g(s)$
= $P_H(f)(x)P_K(g)(y)$ = $\theta \circ (P_H \otimes P_K)(f \otimes g)(x, y)$,

so $P_{H \times K} \circ \theta(f \otimes g) = \theta \circ (P_H \otimes P_K)(f \otimes g)$. Let $f \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H)$ and $g \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(K)$, then for each $h_1 \otimes h_2 \in \ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(K)$, note that

$$\begin{aligned} \theta(f \otimes g) *_{\ell^{1}(H \times K)} \theta(h_{1} \otimes h_{2}) &= \theta \Big((f *_{\ell^{1}(H)} h_{1}) \otimes (g *_{\ell^{1}(K)} h_{2}) \Big) \\ &= \theta \Big((h_{1} *_{\ell^{1}(H)} f) \otimes (h_{2} *_{\ell^{1}(K)} g) \Big) \\ &= \theta (h_{1} \otimes h_{2}) *_{\ell^{1}(H \times K)} \theta(f \otimes g). \end{aligned}$$

Since the space generated by the set of all $h_1 \otimes h_2$ is dense in $\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(K)$, $\theta(f \otimes g) \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H \times K)$. Hence, $\theta(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(K)) \subseteq \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H \times K)$. To prove the converse inclusion: let $u \in \mathbb{Z}l^1(H \times K)$; then $\theta^{-1}(u) \in \ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(K)$, and so

$$u = P_{H \times K} \theta(\theta^{-1}(u)) = \theta(P_H \otimes P_K)(\theta^{-1}(u)) \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H \times K),$$

since $P_H \otimes P_K(\theta^{-1}(u)) \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(K)$. Moreover, since θ^{-1} and $P_H \otimes P_K$ both have norm 1, this shows that

$$\theta|_{Zl^1(H)\otimes_{\gamma}Zl^1(K)}: Zl^1(H)\otimes_{\gamma}Zl^1(K) \to Zl^1(H \times K)$$

is not just surjective, but is an isometry, as claimed.

2.2 The restricted direct product of finite groups

Let I be an indexing set and $(G_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ a family of finite groups; the restricted direct product of the family (G_i) , abbrevated RDPF here, is defined to be the group

$$\bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i \coloneqq \left\{ (x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \in \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i \colon x_i = e_{G_i} \text{ for all but finitely many } i. \right\}$$

which is a group version of the definition mentioned in Section 1.1. Note that if \mathbf{I} is finite, the restricted direct product agrees with the usual direct product of groups.

Proposition 2.2.1. Let $(G_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ be a family of finite groups and G their restricted direct product. Then G is a FC group.

Proof. Let $x = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \in G$ and let C_x denote the conjugacy class of x. Since $x_i = e_{G_i}$ for all but finitely many $i \in \mathbf{I}$, for any $y = (y_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$, we have $y_i x_i y_i^{-1} = e_{G_i} \in G$ for all but finitely many $i \in \mathbf{I}$.

Define $\mathbf{I}_x \coloneqq \{i \in \mathbf{I} : x_i \neq e_{G_i}\}$, which is a finite subset of \mathbf{I} . Then

$$|C_x| = \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}_x} |C_{x_i}| \le \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}_x} |G_i| < \infty,$$

and since x was chosen arbitrarily, G is a FC group.

Recall that for a group G, the center of the group is defined to be the set of all $x \in G$ such that xy = yx for all $y \in G$ and denoted by Z(G).

Proposition 2.2.2. Let $(G_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ be a family of finite groups and let $G = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i$.

- (i) $Z(G) = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} Z(G_i).$
- (ii) $G' = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G'_i$.
- (iii) If each G_i is nilpotent of class n, then so is G.
- (iv) If each G_i is solvable of length n, then so is G.

Proof. (i). Let $x = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \in Z(G)$. For some $i_0 \in \mathbf{I}_x$, suppose that $x_{i_0} \notin Z(G_{i_0})$. Therefore, there exists some $y_{i_0} \in G_{i_0}$ such that $y_{i_0}x_{i_0} \neq x_{i_0}y_{i_0}$. So for $y := (y_i)$ where $y_i = e_{G_i}$ for all $i \in \mathbf{I} \setminus \{i_0\}$ and $y_i = y_{i_0}$ as defined for $i = i_0$. Hence, the i_0 th coordinate of xy which is $x_{i_0}y_{i_0}$ is not equal to the i_0 th coordinate of yx which is $y_{i_0}x_{i_0}$. So, $xy \neq yx$ which is a contradiction. So,

 $Z(G) \subseteq \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} Z(G_i)$. Conversely, for each $x = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \in \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} Z(G_i)$ and each $y = (y_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \in G$, for each $i \in \mathbf{I}$, $x_i y_i = y_i x_i$; hence, xy = yx.

(*ii*). Note that for each commutator $[x, y] \in G'$, $[x, y] = ([x_i, y_i])_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \in \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G'_i$. Therefore, $G' \subseteq \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G'_i$. On the other hand, for each $x \in \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G'_i$, we know $x = x^{(1)} \cdots x^{(n)}$ such that for $j \in 1, \cdots, n$, $I_{x^{(j)}}$ is a singleton. So without loss of generality, we assume that $x \in \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G'_i$ and $\mathbf{I}_x = \{i_0\}$ is a singleton; hence, $x_{i_0} = y_{i_0}^1 \cdots y_{i_0}^m$ where for each $j \in 1, \cdots, m, y_{i_0}^j$ is a commutator in G_{i_0} . For each $j \in 1, \cdots, m$, define $y^j = (y_i^j)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \in G$ such that y_i^j is the mentioned commutator $y_{i_0}^j$ for $i = i_0$ and e_{G_i} for $i \neq i_0$. Therefore, $y^j \in G'$ for each $j \in 1, \cdots, m$, and consequently, $x = y^1 \cdots y^m \in G'$.

(*iii*) and (*iv*). First, note that if for each $i \in \mathbf{I}$, N_i is a normal subgroup of G_i such that G_i/N_i is commutative, then $N = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} N_i$ is a normal subgroup of $G = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i$ and G/N is commutative. If for each i, G_i is nilpotent of class n, one may find a central series $\{e_{G_i}\} = N_i^1 \triangleleft N_i^2 \triangleleft \cdots \triangleleft N_i^n = G_i$. So, $\{e_G\} = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} N_i^1 \triangleleft \cdots \triangleleft \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} N_i^n = G$ is a central series. Similarly, a set of subnormal series $\{e_{G_i}\} = N_i^1 \triangleleft N_i^2 \triangleleft \cdots \triangleleft N_i^n = G_i$ such that N_{i+1}/N_i is commutative implies the subnormal series $\{e_G\} = N^1 = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} N_i^1 \triangleleft \cdots \triangleleft N^n = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} N_i^n = G$ such that N^{j+1}/N^j is commutative.

Let (G_i) be a family of finite groups, and let $F \subset \mathbf{I}$; write F^c for $\mathbf{I} \setminus F$. Since

$$\bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i \cong \left(\bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i\right) \times \left(\bigoplus_{i \in F^c} G_i\right)$$

by Lemma 2.1.2, we obtain an isometric isomorphism of Banach algebras

$$Z\ell^{1}(\bigoplus_{i\in\mathbf{I}}G_{i}) \cong Z\ell^{1}(\bigoplus_{i\in F}G_{i}) \otimes_{\gamma} Z\ell^{1}(\bigoplus_{i\in F^{c}}G_{i}).$$

$$(2.2.1)$$

Hence, if we write E_F^c for the identity of $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i\in F^c} G_i)$, there is a unital, isometric, homomorphism of Banach algebras

$$\iota_F : \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i) \to \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i) \left(\cong \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i) \otimes_{\gamma} \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in F^c} G_i) \right)$$
(2.2.2)

defined by $i_F(f) = f \otimes E_F^c$. When F is a singleton, say $\{j\}$, we denote i_F by i_j . Let ε_{F^c} denote the *augmentation character* on $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i\in F^c} G_i)$ i.e. for each $f \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i\in F^c} G_i)$,

$$\varepsilon_{F^c}(f) = \sum_{x \in \bigoplus_{i \in F^c} G_i} f(x).$$

If we denote by id_F the identity homomorphism on $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i\in F} G_i)$, then there is a unital, surjective homomorphism of Banach algebras

$$\mathbf{P}_F = \mathrm{id}_F \otimes \varepsilon_{F^c} : \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i) \to \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i)$$
(2.2.3)

which satisfies $\mathbf{P}_F(f \otimes g) = \varepsilon_{F^c}(g)f$ for all $f \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i)$ and all $g \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in F^c} G_i)$.

2.3 The Gelfand spectrum of $Z\ell^1(G)$

Let G be a RDPF group. Since $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ is a commutative Banach algebra, it is natural to ask for a description of its Gelfand spectrum. This is given by the following result (recall that Lemma 2.1.1 gives a description of the spectrum when G is finite).

Theorem 2.3.1. Let $(G_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ be a family of finite groups and G their restricted direct product. Then there is a homeomorphism from $\sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G))$ onto

$$\prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_i)) \coloneqq \{(\psi_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} : \psi_i \in \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_i)) \; \forall i \in \mathbf{I}\}$$

equipped with the product topology. In particular, $\sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G))$ is totally disconnected.

Proof. For each $\omega \in \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G))$, we can define $\psi_i \coloneqq \omega \circ \imath_i$ for each $i \in \mathbf{I}$. Note that ψ_i is a functional on $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_i)$. Moreover, since $\|\imath_i\| \le 1$, ψ_i is also continuous. Moreover, note that for all $f, g \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_i)$,

$$\psi_i(f \ast g) = \omega \circ \imath_i(f \ast g) = \omega(f \otimes E_i^c \ast g \otimes E_i^c) = \omega(f \otimes E_i^c) \omega(g \otimes E_i^c) = \omega \circ \imath_i(f) \omega \circ \imath_i(g) = \psi_i(f) \psi_i(g).$$

So, ψ_i is an algebra character for $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_i)$ for each $i \in \mathbf{I}$. Conversely, let

 $Zc_c(G) = \{f \in c_c(G) : f \text{ is constant on the conjugacy classes of } G\}.$

For each set $(\psi_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$, we define ω on $Zc_c(G)$ as follows: given $f \in Zc_c(G)$, since $\operatorname{supp}(f)$ is a finite subset of G. There is some $F \subseteq \mathbf{I}$ such that $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subseteq \bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i \times E_F^c$. It is clear that

$$\omega_F(x) \coloneqq \prod_{i \in F} \psi_i(x_i), \quad x = (x_i)_{i \in F} \in \bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i$$

for ψ_i 's defined above. It will define a character group for finite group $\bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i$. Let $\omega(f) := \omega_F(\mathbf{P}_F(f))$ (\mathbf{P}_F was defined in (2.2.3)). We show that ω is well-defined. If for some $F \subseteq F'$ for some $F, F' \subseteq \mathbf{I}$, and $x = (x_i)_{i \in F} \in \bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i$, then for $y = (y_i)_{i \in F'} \in \bigoplus_{i \in F'}$ such that $y_i = x_i$ for all $i \in F$ and $y_i = e_{G_i}$ for $i \notin F$, $\omega_F(x) = \omega_{F'}(y)$. Also, $\mathbf{P}(\delta_x) = \delta_x \otimes E_F^c$. Clearly, for each pair F, F'of subsets of \mathbf{I} , if $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subseteq \bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i \times E_F^c$ and $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subseteq \bigoplus_{i \in F'} G_i \times E_{F'}^c$, $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subseteq \bigoplus_{i \in F \cap F'} G_i \times E_F^c$. Moreover, since f is finitely supported, $\omega_F(\mathbf{P}_F(f)) = \omega_{F'}(\mathbf{P}_{F'}(f)) = \omega_{F \cap F'}(\mathbf{P}_{F \cap F'}(f))$.

Since ω is a bounded linear map, we can extend it to $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$. On the other hand, for all $f, g \in \mathbb{Z}c_c(G)$ we have $\omega(f * g) = \omega(f)\omega(g)$ and so ω belongs to $\sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G))$.

Let $\mathbf{j} : \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)) \to \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_i))$ be the map defined by

$$\mathbf{j}(\omega) = (\omega \circ \imath_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}.$$

We have just seen that **j** is a bijection. It remains only to show that **j** is continuous. Let $U = \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} U_i \subseteq \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_i))$ be a sub-basic open set i.e $U_i = \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_i))$ for all $i \in \mathbf{I}$ but one i_0 when

$$U_{i_0} = \{ \psi \in \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_{i_0})) \text{ so that } |\langle \psi - \phi, f \rangle| < \varepsilon \}$$

for some $f \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_{i_0})$, $\epsilon > 0$, and $\phi \in \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_{i_0}))$. We show that $\mathbf{j}^{-1}(U)$ is open, by showing that each $\omega \in \mathbf{j}^{-1}(U)$ has a Gelfand-open neighbourhood contained in $\mathbf{j}^{-1}(U)$. Since $\omega \in \mathbf{j}^{-1}(U)$, $\delta := \varepsilon - |\langle \omega \circ \imath_{i_0} - \phi, f \rangle| > 0$. Define

$$V \coloneqq \{\omega' \in \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)) \text{ so that } |\langle \omega' - \omega, \imath_{i_0}(f) \rangle| < \delta\}$$

an open neighborhood of ω in Gelfand topology on $\sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G))$. So, for each $\omega' \in V$,

$$\langle \omega' - \omega, \imath_{i_0}(f) \rangle = \langle (\omega' - \omega) \circ \imath_{i_0}, f \rangle = \langle \omega' \imath_{i_0} - \omega \imath_{i_0}, f \rangle.$$

Hence,

$$|\langle \omega' \imath_{i_0} - \phi, f \rangle| \le |\langle \omega' \imath_{i_0} - \omega \imath_{i_0}, f \rangle| + |\langle \omega \imath_{i_0} - \phi, f \rangle| < \epsilon_{i_0}$$

thus, $\omega' \circ \imath_{i_0} \in U_{i_0}$. Therefore, $\mathbf{j}(\omega') \in U$. Since i_0 is arbitrary and f is an arbitrary element in $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_{i_0})$, Thus \mathbf{j} is continuous; since it is bijective from a compact space onto a Hausdorff one, we conclude that \mathbf{j}^{-1} is also continuous.

2.4 Characterizing ZL-amenability of RDPF groups

The amenability of the group algebra of a locally compact group G is equivalent to the amenability of the group G, [68]. But, the amenability of $ZL^1(G)$, the centre of $L^1(G)$, is not characterized completely. If $ZL^1(G)$ is amenable for a locally compact group G, we call G ZL-amenable. As we mentioned before, amenability constant of a Banach algebra is a tool to quantify the amenability of the algebra. The amenability constant of $ZL^1(G)$ for a locally compact group Gis called the ZL-amenability constant of G.

As a conjecture for a discrete FC group G, ZL-amenability of G is equivalent to the finiteness of G'. In this section, we prove this conjecture for RDPF groups.

The following proposition is a result by Rider, [67], about the norm one of a class of idempotents in group algebras of compact groups, presented in the following. Note that Rider's result is stated for the case where the Haar measure on G is normalized i.e. $\lambda(G) = 1$. However, a rescaling argument, based on Proposition 1.4.2, shows that this is equivalent to the formulation we have given.

Proposition 2.4.1. [67, Lemma 5.2]

Let G be a compact group with a Haar measure λ and $\psi = \sum_{\pi \in F} \frac{d_{\pi}}{\lambda(G)} \chi_{\pi}$ for a finite subset $F \subseteq \widehat{G}$ such that $\|\psi\|_{L^1(G,\lambda)} > 1$. Then $\|\psi\|_{L^1(G,\lambda)} \ge 301/300$.

Remark 2.4.2. For a finite group G, let μ be the normalized Haar measure on G i.e. $\mu(x) = |G|^{-1}$ for every $x \in G$. Let us denote the group algebra generated by the normalized Haar measure μ by $\ell^1(G,\mu)$ and $\|\cdot\|_{1,\mu}$ and $*_{\mu}$ denote the corresponding norm and the convolution respectively. While $\ell^1(G,\lambda)(=\ell^1(G))$ denotes the center of the group algebra with the regular counting measure i.e. $\lambda(x)$ for every element $x \in G$ is 1. Hence, $\lambda = |G|\mu$. Then one may define an isometric linear map $\theta : \ell^1(G,\mu) \to \ell^1(G,\lambda)$ where $\theta(f) = |G|f$ for every $f \in \ell^1(G,\mu)$. Note that

$$\begin{aligned} \theta(f) *_{\mu} \theta(g)(x) &= \sum_{y \in G} \theta(f)(y) \theta(y^{-1}x) \mu(y) \\ &= |G|^2 \sum_{y \in G} f(y) g(y^{-1}x) \frac{\lambda(y)}{|G|} \\ &= |G|(f *_{\lambda} g)(x) \\ &= \theta(f *_{\lambda} g)(x). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, two algebras $\ell^1(G,\mu)$ and $\ell^1(G)$ are isomorphic. In many studies of finite groups as a special case of compact groups, they are equipped with a normalized Haar measure. Here we mainly work with the counting measure. So all results which are mentioned in the following have been modified for the counting measure, in particular the following summary from [5].

Azimifard, Spronk, and Samei in [5] studied the ZL-amenability constant of the center of the group algebra of finite groups. In [5, Theorem 1.8] they have shown that for a finite group G,

$$M = \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} \frac{d_{\pi}^2}{|G|^2} \chi_{\pi} \otimes \chi_{\pi}$$
(2.4.1)

is a virtual diagonal of $Z\ell^1(G)$ which is actually an idempotent of the form mentioned in Proposition 2.4.1 that belongs to $Z\ell^1(G) \otimes_{\gamma} Z\ell^1(G)$. Computing the norm of M where they consider G equipped with normalized Haar measure, they achieved a formula for ZL-amenability constant of G. One may note that by some simplifications in the ZL-amenability developed in [5], for an abelian finite group G, since $Z\ell^1(G) = \ell^1(G)$, $AM(Z\ell^1(G)) = 1$. The following proposition is based an observation which is done in the proof of [5, Theorem 1.10] applying Proposition 2.4.1 and computing norm of M. **Proposition 2.4.3.** Let G be a non-abelian finite group equipped with the normalized Haar measure λ generated by the counting measure. Then the ZL-amenability constant of G is always greater than or equal to 1 + 1/300 i.e. $AM(Z\ell^1(G)) \ge 301/300$.

Proof. Let us consider M as an element in $\ell^1(G \times G) (= \ell^1(G) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(G))$. Note that, for each representation $\pi \in \widehat{G}$, $\pi \otimes \pi \in \widehat{G} \times \widehat{G} = \widehat{G \times G}$ where $\pi \otimes \pi(x, y) = \pi(x) \otimes \pi(y)$ and $d_{\pi \otimes \pi} = d_{\pi}^2$. On the other hand,

$$\chi_{\pi} \otimes \chi_{\pi}(x,y) = Tr(\pi(x))Tr(\pi(y)) = Tr(\pi \otimes \pi(x,y)) = \chi_{\pi \otimes \pi}(x,y).$$

Therefore, $M = |G|^{-2} \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} d_{\pi \otimes \pi} \chi_{\pi \otimes \pi}$ forms an idempotent which is a finite combination of characters of the group $G \times G$, based on Proposition 1.4.2. But by [5, Corollary 1.9], if G is non-abelian $||M||_{\ell^1(G \times G)} = AM(Z\ell^1(G)) > 1$. Therefore, by Proposition 2.4.1, $||M||_1 \ge 301/300$. \Box

The following theorem is the main result of this section.

Theorem 2.4.4. Let $(G_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ be a family of finite groups and let $G = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i$. Then the followings are equivalent:

- (i) $Z\ell^1(G)$ is amenable;
- (ii) G_i is abelian for all but finitely many *i*;
- (iii) G is isomorphic to the product of a finite group with an abelian group;
- (iv) the derived subgroup of G is finite.

Proof. We start by defining $N = \{i \in \mathbf{I}: G_i \text{ is non-abelian}\}.$

(i) \implies (ii). By Proposition 2.4.3, $\operatorname{AM}(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H)) \ge 1 + 1/300$ whenever H is a finite nonabelian group. Now suppose $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ is amenable, and let F be a finite subset of N. Recall that we have a quotient homomorphism of Banach algebras $\mathbf{P}_F : \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G) \to \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i)$, as defined earlier in (2.2.3). Moreover, note that if $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ is equipped with the regular counting measure, one may compute an upper bound for $\|\mathbf{P}_F\|$. For each $f \otimes g \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G) \cong$ $(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i)) \otimes_{\gamma} (\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in F^c} G_i))$, one gets that $\|f \otimes g\|_1 = \|f\|_1 \|g\|_1$. Therefore,

$$\|\mathbf{P}_{F}(f \otimes g)\|_{1} \le |\varepsilon_{F^{c}}(g)| \|f\|_{1} \le \|f\|_{1} \|g\|_{1}.$$
(2.4.2)

Note that according to the definition of projective tensor product and its norm, (2.4.2) implies that $\|\mathbf{P}_F\| \leq 1$.

It follows from Remark 1.3.3 that

$$\infty > \operatorname{AM}(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)) \ge \|\mathbf{P}_F\|^2 \operatorname{AM}(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)) \ge \operatorname{AM}(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i)).$$

Moreover, it was proven in [5] that

$$\operatorname{AM}(\operatorname{Z}\ell^{1}(\bigoplus_{i\in F}G_{i})) = \prod_{i\in F}\operatorname{AM}(\operatorname{Z}\ell^{1}(G_{i}))$$

Hence, by Proposition 2.4.3,

$$\infty > \operatorname{AM}(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)) \ge \prod_{i \in F} \operatorname{AM}(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_i)) \ge (1 + 1/300)^{|F|}.$$

Since F was an arbitrary finite subset of N, this shows N is finite.

(ii) \implies (iii). Let $\mathbf{I}_A = \{i \in \mathbf{I} : G_i \text{ is abelian}\}$; thus, $A \coloneqq \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}_A} G_i$ is abelian. Since $F \coloneqq \mathbf{I} \setminus \mathbf{I}_A$ is finite, so $K = \bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i$ is a finite group and $G = A \times K$.

(iii) \implies (i). If K is finite and A is abelian, then by Lemma 2.1.2,

$$\mathbb{Z}\ell^{1}(K \times A) \cong \mathbb{Z}\ell^{1}(K) \otimes_{\gamma} \mathbb{Z}\ell^{1}(A) = \mathbb{Z}\ell^{1}(K) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^{1}(A)$$

which is the projective tensor product of two amenable Banach algebras, hence is amenable by [40, Proposition 5.4].

(ii) \iff (iv). It is pointed out in Proposition 2.2.2(ii) that $G' = \bigoplus_{i \in I} G'_i$. Note that $G'_i = \{e_{G_i}\}$ if and only if G_i is abelian. Therefore G' is finite if and only if G_i is abelian for all but finitely many i.

2.5 Bounded approximate identities in maximal ideals of $Z\ell^1(G)$

Stegmeir, in [72], studied the center of the group algebra $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ for a RDPF group G where $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ has a maximal ideal without a bounded approximate identity, and therefore, G is not $\mathbb{Z}L$ -amenable. In this section, we study the existence of a bounded approximate identity of maximal ideals of $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ for RDPF groups with respect to a characterization of the corresponding character $\psi \in \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G))$.

We need some preliminary observations, which all follow from basic properties of the nonabelian Fourier transform for finite groups. Note that for a finite group G, the linear span of $\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi\in\widehat{G}}$ is dense in $\mathbb{Z}\ell^{1}(G)$. Let ψ_{σ} be the algebra character on $\mathbb{Z}\ell^{1}(G)$ that corresponds to the irreducible group representation $\sigma \in \widehat{G}$. Let us recall a finite version of Proposition 1.4.2 as follows where * denotes the convolution with respect to the counting measure:

$$\frac{d_{\sigma}}{|G|}\chi_{\sigma} * \frac{d_{\pi}}{|G|}\chi_{\pi} = \begin{cases} \frac{d_{\sigma}}{|G|}\chi_{\sigma} & \sigma = \pi\\ 0 & \sigma \neq \pi \end{cases}$$
(2.5.1)

Thus if $\pi \neq \sigma$, then

$$\psi_{\sigma}(\chi_{\pi}) = \sum_{x \in G} \chi_{\pi}(x) d_{\sigma}^{-1} \chi_{\sigma}(x^{-1}) = d_{\sigma}^{-1} \chi_{\pi} * \chi_{\sigma}(e_G) = 0.$$

Therefore, $\operatorname{Ker}(\psi_{\sigma})$ is the closure of the linear span $\{\chi_{\pi} : \pi \in \widehat{G} \setminus \{\sigma\}\}$. Note that $\operatorname{Z}\ell^{1}(G)$ has the identity δ_{e} . We show that $\operatorname{Ker}(\psi_{\sigma})$ has the identity element

$$u_{\sigma} \coloneqq \delta_e - \frac{d_{\sigma}}{|G|} \chi_{\sigma}. \tag{2.5.2}$$

To observe that, let $f = \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}, \pi \neq \sigma} \alpha_{\pi} \chi_{\pi}$ (which belongs to $\operatorname{Ker}(\psi_{\sigma})$), for some finite set $\{\alpha_{\pi}\}_{\pi \in \widehat{G}, \pi \neq \sigma} \subseteq \mathbb{C}$. Therefore

$$f * u_{\sigma} = f - \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}, \pi \neq \sigma} \alpha_{\pi} \chi_{\pi} * \frac{1}{|G|} d_{\sigma} \chi_{\sigma}$$
$$= f - \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}, \pi \neq \sigma} \alpha_{\pi} \frac{d_{\sigma}}{|G|} \chi_{\sigma} * \chi_{\pi} = f$$

by (2.5.1).

Now suppose $G = G_1 \times \cdots \times G_n$. Then the Banach algebra $\ell^1(G)$ is isometrically isomorphic with $\ell^1(G_1) \otimes_{\gamma} \ldots \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(G_n)$. Let $\sigma, \pi \in \widehat{G}$. Then for $i = 1, \ldots, n$, there exists $\sigma_i, \pi_i \in \widehat{G_i}$ such that $\sigma = \sigma_1 \times \cdots \times \sigma_n$ and $\pi = \pi_1 \times \cdots \times \pi_n$, by Theorem 2.3.1; and since $d_{\sigma} = \prod_{i=1}^n d_{\sigma_i}$ and $d_{\pi} = \prod_{i=1}^n d_{\pi_i}$, one may conclude from (2.5.1) that

$$\left(\bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} \frac{d_{\sigma_i}}{|G_i|} \chi_{\sigma_i}\right) * \left(\bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} \frac{d_{\pi_i}}{|G_i|} \chi_{\pi_i}\right) = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{d_{\sigma_i}}{|G_i|} \chi_{\pi_i} * \frac{d_{\pi_i}}{|G_i|} \chi_{\pi_i}\right) = \begin{cases} \bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} \frac{d_{\sigma_i}}{|G_i|} \chi_{\sigma_i} & \sigma = \pi \\ 0 & \sigma \neq \pi \end{cases}$$

Hence, one may rewrite the whole story of the identity of kernel of some character ψ_{σ} corresponding to a representation $\sigma \in \widehat{G}$. Consequently, (2.5.2) implies that

$$u_{\sigma} = \delta_e - \left(\frac{1}{|G_1|} d_{\sigma_1} \chi_{\sigma_1}\right) \otimes \dots \otimes \left(\frac{1}{|G_n|} d_{\sigma_n} \chi_{\sigma_n}\right) \in \ell^1(G_1) \otimes_{\gamma} \dots \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(G_n),$$
(2.5.3)

is an identity for $\operatorname{Ker}(\psi_{\sigma})$.

Theorem 2.5.1. Let $(G_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ be a family of finite groups, and let $G = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i$. Let $\omega \in \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G))$, and let $(\chi_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ be the corresponding family of group characters. Then Ker ω has a bounded approximate identity, if and only if $d_{\chi_i} ||\chi_i||_1 = |G_i|$ for all but finitely many $i \in \mathbf{I}$.
Proof. Define for each $F \subseteq \mathbf{I}$ finite, $H_F = \bigoplus_{i \in F} G_i$ and $H_{F^c} = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I} \setminus F} G_i$, so that $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G) = \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_F \times H_{F^c})$. Write E_{F^c} for the identity element of $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_{F^c})$, i.e. the Dirac measure at the identity element of H_{F^c} , and likewise write E_F for the identity element of $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_F)$. We also write d_i for the degree of χ_i .

First suppose that $d_i ||\chi_i||_1 = |G_i|$ for all but finitely many $i \in \mathbf{I}$. As in Equation (2.5.3), define $u_F \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_F)$ by

$$u_F = E_F - \bigotimes_{i \in F} \frac{d_i}{|G_i|} \chi_i \,.$$

Let $\omega_F := \omega \circ \imath_F$, where $\imath_F : \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_F) \to \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ was defined in (2.2.2). Then u_F is the identity element of Ker ω_F . As \otimes_{γ} is a cross-norm,

$$\sup_{F} \|u_F\|_1 = \sup_{F} \|E_F - \bigotimes_{i \in F} \frac{d_i}{|G_i|} \chi_i\| \le 1 + \sup_{F} \|\bigotimes_{i \in F} \frac{d_i}{|G_i|} \chi_i\| = 1 + \sup_{F} \prod_{i \in F} \left(\frac{d_i}{|G_i|} \|\chi_i\|_1\right) < \infty$$

Moreover, since $||\iota_F(u_F)||_1 = ||u_F \otimes E_{F^c}||_1 = ||u_F||_1$, the family $(\iota_F(u_F))_{F \in \mathbf{I}, |F| < \infty}$ is bounded. We claim that it is, when ordered by inclusion of finite subsets, a bounded approximate identity for Ker ω . To prove this, it is enough to prove that

$$\lim_{F \subseteq \mathbf{I}, |F| < \infty} (i_F(u_F)) * f = f \quad \text{for all } f \in \text{Ker}(\omega);$$
(2.5.4)

and by a standard approximation argument, we may assume without loss of generality that f has a finite support. Thus, for $f \in Zc_c(G) \cap \text{Ker}(\omega)$ and S the support of f; if F is any finite subset of \mathbf{I} such that $S \subseteq \bigotimes_{i \in F} G_i \otimes E_{F^c}$, then

$$f = \imath_F \mathbf{P}_F(f)$$

(where \mathbf{P}_F is the homomorphisms defined in (2.2.3)). So, $0 = \omega(f) = \omega \circ \iota_F \circ \mathbf{P}_F(f) = \omega_F(\mathbf{P}_F(f))$. Consequently $\mathbf{P}_F(f) \in \text{Ker}(\omega_F)$, and thus

$$f * \imath_F(u_F) = \imath_F(\mathbf{P}_F(f) * u_F) = \imath_F(\mathbf{P}_F(f)) = f.$$

This proves Equation (2.5.4).

Conversely, suppose that Ker ω has a bounded approximate identity say $(h_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$. For each $F \subseteq \mathbf{I}$ when $|F| < \infty$ define

$$\Lambda_F^{\omega}(f \otimes g) = \omega_{F^c}(g) f \quad \text{for all } f \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_F) \text{ and } g \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_{F^c})$$

Since $\omega_{F^c} = \omega \circ i_{F^c}$ has norm 1, being an algebra character, we have

$$\|\Lambda_F^{\omega}(f \otimes g)\|_1 \le \|f\|_1 \|g\|_1$$

and so Λ_F^{ω} defines a linear contraction from $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_F \times H_{F^c})$ onto $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_F)$, using Lemma 2.1.2. Moreover, given $f_1, f_2 \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_F)$ and $g_1, g_2 \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_F^c)$,

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_F^{\omega}\big((f_1 \otimes g_1) * (f_2 \otimes g_2)\big) &= \Lambda_F^{\omega}\big((f_1 * f_2) \otimes (g_1 * g_2)\big) = \omega_{F^c}(g_1 * g_2)f_1 * f_2 \\ &= \omega_{F^c}(g_1)f_1 * \omega_{F^c}(g_1)f_2 = \Lambda_F^{\omega}(f_1 \otimes g_1) * \Lambda_F^{\omega}(f_2 \otimes g_2). \end{split}$$

Hence, by linearity and continuity, Λ_F^ω is an algebra homomorphism. Moreover,

$$\omega_F \Lambda_F^{\omega}(f \otimes g) = \omega_F(\omega_{F^c}(g)f) = \omega_F(f)\omega_{F^c}(g) = \omega(f \otimes g)$$

and

$$\Lambda_F^{\omega}\iota_F(f) = \Lambda_F^{\omega}(f \otimes E_{F^c}) = \omega_{F^c}(E_{F^c})f = f$$

for all $f \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_F)$ and $g \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(H_{F^c})$.

Observe, since $\omega_F \Lambda_F^{\omega} = \omega$, that $\Lambda_F^{\omega}(\operatorname{Ker}(\omega)) \subseteq \operatorname{Ker}(\omega_F)$. Moreover, for each $f \in \operatorname{Ker}(\omega_F)$, $\omega(\iota_F(f)) = \omega(f \otimes E_{F^c}) = \omega_F(f)$; therefore, $\iota_F(f) \in \operatorname{Ker}(\omega)$. Since $u_F \in \operatorname{Ker}(\omega_F)$ and (h_{α}) is a bounded approximate identity for $\operatorname{Ker}(\omega_F)$,

$$\begin{split} \|\Lambda_F^{\omega}(h_{\alpha}) - u_F\|_1 &= \|\Lambda_F^{\omega}(h_{\alpha}) * u_F - u_F\|_1 \\ &= \|\Lambda_F^{\omega}(h_{\alpha}) * \Lambda_F^{\omega} \imath_F(u_F) - \Lambda_F^{\omega} \imath_F(u_F)\|_1 \\ &= \|\Lambda_F^{\omega}(h_{\alpha} * \imath_F(u_F) - \imath_F(u_F))\|_1 \longrightarrow 0 \,. \end{split}$$

Because $\|\Lambda_F^{\omega}\| \leq 1$,

$$\sup_{F \subseteq \mathbf{I}, |F| < \infty} \sup_{\alpha} \|\Lambda_F^{\omega}(h_{\alpha})\|_1 \le \sup_{\alpha} \|h_{\alpha}\|_1 \le M$$

for some M > 0, thus $||u_F||_1 \le M$ for all finite subsets $F \subseteq \mathbf{I}$. Hence

$$\prod_{i \in F} \frac{d_i}{|G_i|} \|\chi_i\|_1 = \|E_F - u_F\|_1 \le M + 1$$
(2.5.5)

Let $i \in \mathbf{I}$. For each i, $|G_i|^{-1} d_i \chi_i$ is a central idempotent in the group algebra $\ell^1(G_i)$; in particular it has ℓ^1 -norm ≥ 1 . Moreover, by Proposition 2.4.1,

either
$$|G_i|^{-1} d_i \|\chi_i\|_1 = 1$$
 or $|G_i|^{-1} d_i \|\chi_i\|_1 \ge \frac{301}{300}$.

But if $\{i \in \mathbf{I}: d_i ||\chi_i|| > |G_i|\}$ is infinite, we may find a subset $F \subseteq \mathbf{I}$ such that $(301/300)^{|F|} > M + 1$. But by (2.5.5),

$$\left(\frac{301}{300}\right)^{|F|} \le \prod_{i \in F} \frac{d_i}{|G_i|} \|\chi_i\|_1 = \|E_F - u_F\|_1 \le M + 1$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore, $d_i \|\chi_i\| = |G_i|$ for all but finitely many *i*.

Although the following theorem is not resulted from Theorem 2.5.1 directly, its proof is analogous to some parts of the proof of Theorem 2.5.1.

Theorem 2.5.2. Let $(G_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ be a family of finite groups and let $G = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i$. Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) every maximal ideal in $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ has a bounded approximate identity;
- (ii) there is a finite subset F ⊂ I such that, for each i ∈ I \ F and each irreducible group character χ of G_i, we have d_χ ||χ||₁ = |G_i|.
- (iii) there exists a constant M > 0 such that each maximal ideal in $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ has a bounded approximate identity of norm $\leq M$.

Proof.

(iii) \implies (i). This is trivial.

(ii) \implies (iii). Let F be as assumed in (ii), and define

$$M \coloneqq \prod_{i \in F} \sup_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} \frac{d_{\pi}}{|G_n|} \|\chi_{\pi}\|_1 < \infty.$$

Given $\omega \in \sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G))$, let (χ_i) be the corresponding family of (irreducible) group characters, and let d_i denote the degree of χ_i . For each finite subset $T \subset \mathbf{I}$, define $u_T \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(\bigoplus_{i \in T} G_i) = \widehat{\otimes}_{i \in T} \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_i)$ by

$$u_T = \delta_e - \bigotimes_{i \in T} \frac{d_i}{|G_i|} \chi_i$$

Order the net $(\iota_T(u_T))$, where T ranges over all finite subsets of **I**, by inclusion. Then by an argument like that in the proof of Theorem 2.5.1, $(\iota_T(u_T))$ is a bounded approximate identity for Ker ω , with $\sup_T ||\iota_T(u_T)|| \le M + 1$.

(i) \Longrightarrow (ii). Suppose that (ii) does not hold. Then there exists an infinite set $S \subset \mathbf{I}$, and for each $j \in S$, an irreducible group character ϕ_j on G_j such that $d_j \|\phi_j\|_1 \neq |G_j|$. Since $|G_j|^{-1}d_j\phi_j$ is an idempotent in $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G_j)$, Proposition 2.4.1 implies that $|G_j|d_j\|\phi_j\|_1 \ge 301/300$. Now let ω in $\sigma(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G))$ be such that the corresponding family (χ_i) of group characters satisfies $\chi_j = \phi_j$ for all $j \in S$ and $\chi_j \equiv 1$ for $j \in \mathbf{I} \setminus S$. Then as in the last part of the proof of Theorem 2.5.1, we can show that Ker(ω) does not have a bounded approximate identity. For any irreducible group character χ on a finite group G, $d_{\chi} \|\chi\|_1 \ge |G|$ implies a lower bound. In the rest of this section, we investigate this property a bit deeper.

Lemma 2.5.3. Let G be a finite group and χ an irreducible character on G. Then $d_{\chi} ||\chi||_1 \ge |G|$. Moreover, equality holds if and only if

$$|\chi(x)| \in \{0, d_{\chi}\} \quad for \ all \ x \in G.$$

$$(2.5.6)$$

Proof. Since χ is irreducible, $\sum_{x \in G} |\chi(x)|^2 = |G|$, [28, Proposition 5.23]. Moreover, since $\|\chi\|_{\infty} \leq d_{\chi}$,

$$|G| = \sum_{x \in G} |\chi(x)|^2 \le d_{\chi} \sum_{x \in G} |\chi(x)| = d_{\chi} ||\chi||_1.$$
(*)

For the second statement, we need to show that equality holds in (*) if and only if (2.5.6) is satisfied. If $|\chi(x)| \in \{0, d_{\chi}\}$ for all $x \in G$, clearly the inequality in (*) is replaced by an equality. Conversely, if (2.5.6) is not satisfied, pick $y \in G$ such that $0 < |\chi(y)| < d_{\chi}$. Then $|\chi(y)|^2 < d_{\chi}|\chi(y)|$, so that

$$\sum_{x \in G} |\chi(x)|^2 = |\chi(y)|^2 + \sum_{x \in G \smallsetminus \{y\}} |\chi(x)|^2 < d_{\chi} |\chi(y)| + d_{\chi} \sum_{x \in G \smallsetminus \{y\}} |\chi(x)| = d_{\chi} \sum_{x \in G} |\chi(x)|$$

red.

as required.

Following [42], in [3], a character satisfying (2.5.6) is called *absolutely idempotent character*, abbreviated as AIC. Clearly each linear character is AIC. We also call a finite group G to be AIC if each irreducible character of G is AIC. It follows from the definition that quotients of AIC groups and from Theorem 2.3.1 that products of AIC groups are also AIC. F. Ladisch proves the following result about AIC groups, [3].

Theorem 2.5.4. Every finite AIC group is nilpotent.

CHAPTER 3

THREE FAMILIES OF EXAMPLES

In this chapter we introduce three main classes of discrete commutative hypergroups. In the rest of this manuscript, we will study more properties of these classes of hypergroups.

3.1 $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ as a hypergroup

In this section, G is a discrete finite conjugacy group with the group algebra $(\ell^1(G), \circledast, \|\cdot\|_1)$ where \circledast denotes the regular convolution of the group algebra. Furthermore, $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ is the set of conjugacy classes of G. By Theorem 1.2.2, we know that for each two conjugacy classes C and D, 1_C and 1_D , the characteristic functions of C and D respectively, belong to $Z\ell^1(G)$; thus, $1_C \circledast 1_D \in Z\ell^1(G)$, for \circledast the convolution of $\ell^1(G)$. Let Ψ denotes a linear mapping from $c_c(G) \cap Z\ell^1(G)$ to $c_c(\operatorname{Conj}(G))$ such that for each $f \in Z\ell^1(G) \cap c_c(G)$, $\Psi(f)(C) = |C|f(C)$ for $C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$ where

$$f(C) \coloneqq f(x) \quad \text{for (every) } x \in C.$$
 (3.1.1)

First note that

$$\|\Psi(f)\|_{1} = \sum_{C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} |\Psi(f)(C)| = \sum_{C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} |f(C)||C| = \sum_{t \in G} |f(t)| = \|f\|_{1},$$

which shows that Ψ is an isometry. On the other hand, for each $C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$, $\Psi(1_C) = |C|\delta_C$. Therefore Ψ is surjective. Since $c_c(G) \cap \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ and $c_c(\operatorname{Conj}(G))$ are dense in $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ and $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G))$ respectively, Ψ can be extended as an isometric linear mapping from $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ onto $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G))$.

Applying Ψ , let us define an associative binary operation * on $c_c(\operatorname{Conj}(G))$, where

$$\delta_C * \delta_D \coloneqq \frac{1}{|C||D|} \Psi(1_C \otimes 1_D) \quad C, D \in \operatorname{Conj}(G).$$
(3.1.2)

A simple approximation argument lets us to extend *, called convolution, as a continuous bilinear action on $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G))$; hence, $(\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G)), *, \|\cdot\|_1)$ forms a Banach algebra. Therefore, from now on we identify each function $f \in \ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G))$ with its pre-image with respect to Ψ . The following theorem is an immediate result of the previous observations. **Theorem 3.1.1.** Let G be a FC group. Then the Banach algebra $(\ell^1(\text{Conj}(G)), *)$ is isometrically isomorphic to $(Z\ell^1(G), \circledast)$.

Remark 3.1.2. Note that for each $z \in G$ and $C, D \in \text{Conj}(G)$ such that $1_C \otimes 1_D(z) \neq 0$,

$$1_C \otimes 1_D(z) = \sum_{t \in G} 1_C(t) 1_D(t^{-1}z) = \sum_{t \in C} 1_{tD}(z);$$

therefore, $z \in CD$. Moreover, $\operatorname{supp}(1_C \otimes 1_D)$ is a subset of G which is invariant with respect to inner automorphisms, so for some $\alpha_E^{C,D} \ge 0$, we have

$$1_C \otimes 1_D = \sum_{E \in \operatorname{Conj}(G), E \subseteq CD} \alpha_E^{C,D} 1_{E_r}.$$

So for all $C, D \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$,

$$\Psi(1_C \otimes 1_D) = \Psi(\sum_{E \in \operatorname{Conj}(G), E \subseteq CD} \alpha_E^{C,D} 1_E) = \sum_{E \in \operatorname{Conj}(G), E \subseteq CD} \alpha_E^{C,D} |E| \delta_E.$$

Therefore

$$\delta_C \star \delta_D = \frac{1}{|C||D|} \sum_{E \in \operatorname{Conj}(G), E \subseteq CD} \alpha_E^{C,D} |E| \delta_E.$$
(3.1.3)

We show that $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ is a discrete hypergroup with the convolution defined in (3.1.2) with respect to Definition 1.1.2. We observed that $(\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G)), *, \|\cdot\|_1)$ forms a Banach algebra. Moreover, for each $C, D \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$, one can write

$$\sum_{E \in \operatorname{Conj}(G), E \subseteq CD} \alpha_E^{C,D} |E| = \sum_{t \in G} 1_C \otimes 1_D(t)$$
$$= \sum_{t \in G} \sum_{s \in G} 1_C(s) 1_D(s^{-1}t)$$
$$= \sum_{s \in G} 1_C(s) \sum_{t \in G} 1_D(t) = |C| |D|.$$

Hence, $\|\delta_C * \delta_D\|_1 = 1$ for the positive measure $\delta_C * \delta_D$. So $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G))$ satisfies (H1). For *e*, the identity of the group *G*, let us denote the conjugacy class $\{e\}$ by *e* as well. Therefore, $1_e \otimes 1_C = 1_C$ for each $C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$; hence, $\delta_e * \delta_C = \delta_C * \delta_e = \delta_C$ and therefore $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ satisfies (H4).

If for $C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$, $\check{C} \coloneqq C^{-1}$ where $C^{-1} = \{x^{-1} : x \in C\}$, one has that $e \in CC^{-1}$; hence, $e \in \operatorname{supp}(1_C \star 1_{C^{-1}})$ and consequently $e \in \operatorname{supp}(\delta_C \star \delta_{C^{-1}})$. On the other hand, suppose that $e \in \operatorname{supp}(\delta_C \star \delta_D)$ for some $C, D \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$. Therefore,

$$0 \neq 1_C \otimes 1_D(e) = \sum_{t \in G} 1_C(t) 1_D(t^{-1}) = \sum_{t \in C} 1_D(t^{-1}).$$

It implies that at least for one $x \in C$, $x^{-1} \in D$. Then by a simple argument about conjugacy classes of groups, one may verify that $D = C_{x^{-1}} = \check{C}_x = \check{C}$. This implies (H6). For each

 $f \in \ell^1(G)$, we define $\tilde{f}(x) = \overline{f(x^{-1})}$ for all $x \in G$. A brief study of the properties of \circledast verifies that $(f \circledast g) = \tilde{g} \circledast \tilde{f}$. Also, $\tilde{1}_C = 1_{\check{C}}$ for each $C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$. Since $|C| = |\check{C}|$ for all $C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$,

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\delta_{C} * \delta_{D}\right) &= \left(\frac{1}{|C||D|} \sum_{E \in \operatorname{Conj}(G), E \subseteq CD} \alpha_{E}^{C,D} |E| \delta_{E}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{|\check{C}||\check{D}|} \sum_{\check{E} \subseteq \check{C}\check{D}} \alpha_{E}^{C,D} |\check{E}| \delta_{\check{E}}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{|\check{C}||\check{D}|} \sum_{\check{E} \subseteq \check{C}\check{D}} 1_{C} \circledast 1_{D}(E) |\check{E}| \delta_{\check{E}}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{|\check{C}||\check{D}|} \sum_{\check{E} \subseteq \check{C}\check{D}} 1_{\check{D}} \circledast 1_{\check{C}}(\check{E}) |\check{E}| \delta_{\check{E}}\right) = \delta_{\check{D}} * \delta_{\check{C}}. \end{aligned}$$

So $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ satisfies (H5). This implies that $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ is a commutative discrete hypergroup.

Note that to avoid conflict between our notations, in the section \otimes denotes the convolution of the group algebra of G, $\ell^1(G)$, while * denotes the convolution of the hypergroup algebra of Conj(G), $\ell^1(\text{Conj}(G))$.

Example 3.1.3. For a family of finite groups $(G_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$, let $G := \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i$ be the restricted direct product of $(G_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$. Then G is a discrete FC group, by Proposition 2.2.1. For each $C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$, C can be seen as the conjugacy class of some $x = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \in C$. On the other hand, for each $i \in \mathbf{I}_x = \{i \in \mathbf{I} : x_i \neq e_{G_i}\}, C_{x_i} \neq e_{G_i}$. Therefore, $C = \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}_x} C_{x_i} \times E_{\mathbf{I}_x}^c$ where $E_{\mathbf{I}_x}^c$ is the identity of the group $\bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I} \setminus \mathbf{I}_x} G_i$; hence, $C \in \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \operatorname{Conj}(G_i)$. Conversely, for each $C \in \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \operatorname{Conj}(G_i)$, $C = (C_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ where $C_i = e_{G_i}$ for all $i \in \mathbf{I}$ except finitely many. We denote the set of all $i \in \mathbf{I}$ for them $C_i \neq e_{G_i}$ by \mathbf{I}_C . For each $i \in \mathbf{I}_C$, $C_i = C_{x_i}$ for some $x_i \in G_i$. Define $y = (y_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \in G$ where $y_i = x_i$ for each $i \in \mathbf{I}_C$ and $x_i = e_{G_i}$ otherwise. It is not hard to show that $C_x = C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$. This argument implies that the hypergroup $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ equals the hypergroup generated by the restricted direct product of $(\operatorname{Conj}(G_i))_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$,

$$\operatorname{Conj}(G) = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \operatorname{Conj}(G_i),$$

as defined in Section 1.1.

Remark 3.1.4. By Theorem 1.1.4, for h, the Haar measure on Conj(G),

$$h(C) = \left(\delta_{\check{C}} * \delta_C(e)\right)^{-1} = |C| \ (C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G))$$

To prove that, note

$$\delta_{\check{C}} * \delta_{C}(e) = \frac{1}{|\check{C}| |C|} \sum_{E \subseteq \check{C}C} \alpha_{E}^{C,\check{C}} |E| \delta_{E}(e) = \frac{1}{|C|^{2}} \mathbf{1}_{C^{-1}} \otimes \mathbf{1}_{C}(e) = \frac{1}{|C|^{2}} \sum_{t \in G} \mathbf{1}_{C^{-1}}(t) \mathbf{1}_{C}(t^{-1}) = |C|^{-1}.$$

3.2 Dual of compact groups as hypergroups

In this section, G is a compact group. Let \widehat{G} denote the set of all irreducible unitary representations of a compact group G, up to equivalence relation, as defined in Section 1.4. Here we follow the notation of [23] for the dual of compact groups and apply many results of [36, Section 27] about representation theory of compact groups.

Let $\phi = \{\phi_{\pi} : \pi \in \widehat{G}\}$ if $\phi_{\pi} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\pi})$ for each $\pi \in \widehat{G}$ and define $\|\phi\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\widehat{G})} \coloneqq \sup_{\pi} \|\phi_{\pi}\|_{\infty}$ for $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$ to be the operator norm of a matrix. The set of all those ϕ 's with $\|\phi\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\widehat{G})} < \infty$ forms a C^* -algebra denoted by $\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\widehat{G})$. It is well known that $\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\widehat{G})$ is isomorphic to the group von Neumann algebra of G i.e. the dual of A(G), see [23, 8.4.17]. We define

$$\mathcal{L}^{p}(\widehat{G}) = \{ \phi \in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\widehat{G}) : \|\phi\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(\widehat{G})}^{p} \coloneqq \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} d_{\pi} \|\phi_{\pi}\|_{\mathcal{S}_{p}}^{p} < \infty \},$$
(3.2.1)

for $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{S}_p}$, the *p*-Schatten norm¹ that is $\|A\|_{\mathcal{S}_p}^p \coloneqq \sum_{n\geq 1} s_n^p(A)$ for $s_1(A) \ge s_2(A) \ge \cdots s_n(A) \ge 0$ the singular values of a matrix A, i.e. the eigenvalues of the Hermitian matrix $|A| \coloneqq \sqrt{(A^*A)}$. For each p, $\mathcal{L}^p(\widehat{G})$ is an ideal of $\mathcal{L}^\infty(\widehat{G})$, see [23, 8.3]. Moreover, we define

$$\mathcal{C}_0(\widehat{G}) = \{ \phi \in \mathcal{L}^\infty(\widehat{G}) : \lim_{\pi \to \infty} \|\phi_\pi\|_\infty = 0 \}.$$

For each $f \in L^1(G)$, $\mathcal{F}(f) = (\hat{f}(\pi))_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$ belongs to $\mathcal{C}_0(\widehat{G})$, where \mathcal{F} denotes the Fourier transform and

$$\hat{f}(\pi) = \int_G f(x)\pi(x^{-1})dx$$

Indeed, $\mathcal{F}(L^1(G))$ is a dense subset of $\mathcal{C}_0(\widehat{G})$ and \mathcal{F} is an algebra isomorphism from $L^1(G)$ onto its image where $\mathcal{F}(f * g) = \mathcal{F}(f)\mathcal{F}(g)$ for all $f, g \in L^1(G)$. Moreover, $\mathcal{F}(A(G))$ is isometrically isomorphic to the Banach space $\mathcal{L}^1(\widehat{G})$, [23].

For each two unitary irreducible representations $\pi, \sigma \in \widehat{G}$, we know that $\pi \otimes \sigma$ forms a new unitary representation of G whose dimension is $d_{\pi}d_{\sigma}$. This new representation can be decomposed as a direct product of a finite set of irreducible unitary representations π_1, \ldots, π_n with respective positive constants $m_1^{\pi,\sigma}, \ldots, m_n^{\pi,\sigma} \in \mathbb{N}$, i.e.

$$\pi \otimes \sigma \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^n m_i^{\pi,\sigma} \pi_i.$$

¹Note that , as described in Chapter 1, for p = 1 and p = 2, *p*-Schatten norm is called Trace norm and Hilbert-Schmidt norm respectively.

consequently,

$$\chi_{\pi}\chi_{\sigma} = \operatorname{Tr}(\pi)\operatorname{Tr}(\sigma) = \operatorname{Tr}(\pi \otimes \sigma) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma}\pi_{i}\right) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma}\operatorname{Tr}(\pi_{i}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma}\chi_{\pi_{i}}.$$
 (3.2.2)

Therefore the dimension of $\pi \otimes \sigma$ which is $d_{\pi}d_{\sigma}$ is equivalent to $\sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma} d_{\pi_{i}}$. We define a convolution on $c_{c}(\widehat{G})$ by

$$\delta_{\pi} \star \delta_{\sigma} \coloneqq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{m_i^{\pi,\sigma} d_{\pi_i}}{d_{\pi} d_{\sigma}} \delta_{\pi_i}.$$
(3.2.3)

Note that

$$\|\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma} d_{\pi_{i}}}{d_{\pi} d_{\sigma}} \delta_{\pi_{i}}\|_{\ell^{1}(\widehat{G})} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma} d_{\pi_{i}}}{d_{\pi} d_{\sigma}} = 1 \le \|\delta_{\pi}\|_{\ell^{1}(\widehat{G})} \|\delta_{\sigma}\|_{\ell^{1}(\widehat{G})}.$$
(3.2.4)

By (3.2.3) the convolution is submultiplicative on $c_c(\widehat{G})$, and since $c_c(\widehat{G})$ is dense in $\ell^1(\widehat{G})$; we can extend the convolution defined in (3.2.3) to $\ell^1(\widehat{G})$. For each representation $\pi \in \widehat{G}$, $\overline{\pi}$ denotes the complex conjugate of π , [36, Definition 27.27].

Theorem 3.2.1. Let G be a compact group. Then \widehat{G} equipped with discrete topology, the convolution (3.2.3), and the involution resulting from complex conjugate forms a discrete commutative hypergroup.

Proof. (3.2.4) implies (H1) while the associativity is resulted from associativity of tensor products of the representations i.e. $\pi_1 \otimes (\pi_2 \otimes \pi_3) \cong (\pi_1 \otimes \pi_2) \otimes \pi_3$. Commutativity is a direct result of this fact that $\pi \otimes \sigma$ is equivalent to $\sigma \otimes \pi$. The trivial representation $\pi_0 : G \to \mathcal{U}(\mathbb{C})$ where $\pi_0(x) = 1$ for all $x \in G$ always belongs to \widehat{G} . Also, $\pi \otimes \pi_0 \cong \pi$ for all $\pi \in \widehat{G}$. So δ_{π_0} plays the role of the identity of $\ell^1(\widehat{G})$ and so \widehat{G} satisfies (H4). Since $\overline{\pi} \cong \pi$ and $\overline{\pi \otimes \sigma} \cong \overline{\pi} \otimes \overline{\sigma}$, (H5) is held. One side of (H6) is directly resulted from [36, (27.34)]. On the other hand, suppose that for two representations $\pi, \sigma \in \widehat{G}$, $\chi_{\pi}\chi_{\sigma} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_i^{\pi,\sigma}\chi_{\pi_i}$ such that for one *i*, say $i = 1, \pi_1 = \pi_0$, the trivial representation of *G*, and $m_1^{\pi,\sigma} > 0$. Then

$$\int_{G} \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma} \overline{\chi_{\pi_{0}}(x)} \chi_{\pi_{i}}(x) dx = \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma} \int_{G} \overline{\chi_{\pi_{0}}(x)} \chi_{\pi_{i}}(x) dx = \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma} \langle \chi_{\pi_{i}}, \chi_{\pi_{0}} \rangle_{L^{2}(G)} = m_{1}^{\pi,\sigma} \langle \chi_{\pi_{0}}, \chi_{\pi_{0}} \rangle_{L^{2}(G)} = m_{1$$

since $\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi\in\widehat{G}}$ forms an orthogonal basis for $ZL^2(G)$ (see [36, Theorem 27.24]). Note that $\chi_{\pi_0}(x) \equiv 1$ and $\overline{\chi_{\pi}(x)} = \chi_{\overline{\pi}}(x)$; hence similarly,

$$m_1^{\pi,\sigma} = \int_G \chi_{\pi}(x)\chi_{\sigma}(x)\overline{\chi_{\pi_0}(x)}dx = \int_G \chi_{\pi}(x)\overline{\chi_{\overline{\sigma}}(x)}dx = \langle \chi_{\pi}, \chi_{\overline{\sigma}} \rangle_{L^2(G)} = \delta_{\pi,\overline{\sigma}},$$
$$\pi = \overline{\sigma}.$$

Therefore $\pi = \overline{\sigma}$.

To calculate the Haar measure of \widehat{G} , we apply Theorem 1.1.4. By [36, (27.34)], the multiplicity of π_0 in the irreducible decomposition of $\pi \otimes \overline{\pi}$ is 1. So for each $\pi \in \widehat{G}$, the Haar measure is defined by

$$h(\pi) = \left(\delta_{\pi} \star \delta_{\overline{\pi}}(\pi_0)\right)^{-1} = \frac{d_{\pi}d_{\overline{\pi}}}{1} = d_{\pi}^2,$$

since $d_{\overline{\pi}} = d_{\pi}$.

Example 3.2.2. Let SU(2) denote the compact Lie group of 2×2 special unitary matrices on \mathbb{C} , and let $\widehat{SU(2)}$ be the hypergroup of all irreducible representations on SU(2). It is known that

$$\overline{SU(2)} = (\pi_{\ell})_{\ell \in 0, \frac{1}{2}, 1, \frac{3}{2}, \cdots}$$

where the dimension of π_{ℓ} is $2\ell + 1$, see [36, 29.13]. Moreover, for all $\ell, \ell', \overline{\pi}_{\ell} = \pi_{\ell}$ and

$$\pi_{\ell} \otimes \pi_{\ell'} \cong \bigoplus_{r=|\ell-\ell'|}^{\ell+\ell'} \pi_r = \pi_{|\ell-\ell'|} \oplus \pi_{|\ell-\ell'|+1} \oplus \dots \oplus \pi_{\ell+\ell'} \quad [36, \text{ Theorem 29.26}]$$

called "Clebsch-Gordan" decomposition formula. So using Definition 3.2.3, we have that

$$\delta_{\pi_{\ell}} * \delta_{\pi_{\ell'}} = \sum_{r=|\ell-\ell'|}^{\ell+\ell'} \frac{(2r+1)}{(2\ell+1)(2\ell'+1)} \delta_{\pi_r}.$$

Also $\overline{\pi}_{\ell} = \pi_{\ell}$ and $h(\pi_{\ell}) = (2\ell + 1)^2$ for all ℓ .

Remark 3.2.3. Indeed, the hypergroup structure of $\widehat{SU(2)}$ can be rendered by a family of Chebyshev polynomials as a polynomial hypergroup structure on \mathbb{N}_0 . We will define polynomial hypergroups in the following section.

Example 3.2.4. Suppose that $\{G_i\}_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ is a non-empty family of compact groups for arbitrary indexing set \mathbf{I} . Let $G \coloneqq \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i$ be the product of $\{G_i\}_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ i.e.

$$G \coloneqq \{ (x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \colon x_i \in G_i \}$$

equipped with the product topology. Then G is a compact group and [36, Theorem 27.43] implies that \widehat{G} is nothing but

$$\{\pi = \bigotimes_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \pi_i : \text{ such that } \pi_i \in \widehat{G}_i \text{ and } \pi_i = \pi_0 \text{ except for finitely many } i \in \mathbf{I}\}$$

equipped with the discrete topology. Moreover, for each $\pi = \bigotimes_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \pi_i \in \widehat{G}$, $d_{\pi} = \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} d_{\pi_i}$. When $\pi_k = \bigotimes_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \pi_i^{(k)} \in \widehat{G}$ for k = 1, 2, one can show that

$$\delta_{\pi_1} * \delta_{\pi_2}(\pi) = \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \delta_{\pi_i^{(1)}} *_{\widehat{G}_i} \delta_{\pi_i^{(2)}}(\pi_i) \quad \text{for all } \pi = \bigotimes_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \pi_i \in \widehat{G},$$

where $*_{\widehat{G}_i}$ is the hypergroup convolution of \widehat{G}_i for each $i \in \mathbf{I}$. Also, each character χ of G is related to a family of characters $(\chi_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ such that χ_i is a character of G_i and

$$\chi(x) = \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \chi_i(x_i)$$

for each $x = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \in G$. Note that $\chi_i \equiv 1$ for all of $i \in \mathbf{I}$ except finitely many; therefore, χ is well-defined.

3.3 Polynomial hypergroups on \mathbb{N}_0

Let $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$. Let $(a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ and $(c_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ be sequences of non-zero real numbers and $(b_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ be a sequence of real numbers with the property

$$a_0 + b_0 = 1$$

 $a_n + b_n + c_n = 1, \quad n \ge 1.$

If $(R_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ is a sequence of polynomials defined by

$$R_{0}(x) = 1,$$

$$R_{1}(x) = \frac{1}{a_{0}}(x - b_{0}),$$

$$R_{1}(x)R_{n}(x) = a_{n}R_{n+1}(x) + b_{n}R_{n}(x) + c_{n}R_{n-1}(x), \quad n \ge 1,$$
(3.3.1)

then it is proven in [12] that there exists a probability measure π on \mathbb{R} such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} R_n(x) R_m(x) d\pi(x) = \delta_{n,m} \mu_m \tag{3.3.2}$$

where $(\mu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ is a sequence of positive numbers. The sequence $(R_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ satisfying (3.3.2) is called an *orthogonal polynomial sequence*. By induction, one can see that $R_n(1) = 1$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Moreover,

$$R_n(x)R_m(x) = \sum_{k=|n-m|}^{n+m} g(n,m;k)R_k(x)$$
(3.3.3)

where $g(n,m;k) \in \mathbb{R}$ for all $|n-m| \le k \le n+m$. Moreover, g(n,m;|n-m|) and g(n,m;n+m) are non-zero. The following theorem summarizes some of the main results of [49, Section 5].

Theorem 3.3.1. Let $(R_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ be an orthogonal polynomial sequence defined by (3.3.1). Assume that

 $g(n,m;k) \ge 0 \quad \forall n,m \in \mathbb{N}_0, \ |n-m| \le k \le n+m.$

Let * to be defined on \mathbb{N}_0 to $\ell^1(\mathbb{N}_0)$ such that

$$\delta_n \star \delta_m = \sum_{k=|n-m|}^{n+m} g(n,m;k) \delta_k$$

and $\check{n} = n$. Then $(\mathbb{N}_0, \star, \check{})$ is a discrete commutative hypergroup with the unit element 0 which is called the polynomial hypergroup on \mathbb{N}_0 induced by $(R_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$.

[49, Section 5] is a good reference to observe almost all of the facts mentioned above. Here, we should mention that there are plenty of concrete examples of polynomials that satisfy the conditions of Theorem 3.3.1, namely *Chebyshev polynomial* of the first and second kinds, *cosh polynomials*, *ultraspherical polynomials*, *Jacobi polynomials*, *Karlin–McGregor polynomials*, and *little q-Legendre polynomials*.

Remark 3.3.2. For a polynomial hypergroup the left translation is defined by

$$L_n f(m) = \sum_{k=|n-m|}^{n+m} g(n,m;k) f(k).$$

Moreover, the Haar function is defined by

$$h(n) = (\delta_n * \delta_n)(0))^{-1} = g(n, n; 0)^{-1} = \mu_n^{-1}$$

Chapter 4

WEIGHTED DISCRETE HYPERGROUPS

In this chapter we study weights on discrete hypergroups, their corresponding algebras, and their examples. Specially we are interested to see concrete examples of weights defined on the classes of commutative discrete hypergroups which were introduced in Chapter 3.

4.1 Weighted hypergroups and their algebras

Definition 4.1.1. Let H be a discrete hypergroup. We call a function $\omega : H \to (0, \infty)$ a weight if, for every $x, y \in H$,

$$\omega(\delta_x \star \delta_y) \le \omega(x)\omega(y)$$

where $\omega(\delta_x \star \delta_y) = \sum_{t \in H} \omega(t) \delta_x \star \delta_y(t)$ is as defined in Section 1.1. We call (H, ω) a weighted hypergroup. Let $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ be the set of all complex functions on H such that

$$\|f\|_{\ell^1(H,\omega)} \coloneqq \sum_{t \in H} |f(t)|\omega(t) < \infty.$$

Then one can easily observe that $(\ell^1(H,\omega), \|\cdot\|_{\ell^1(H,\omega)})$ forms a Banach space.

This definition is a specific case of the weighted hypergroups defined in [32]; here, we focus mainly on discrete hypergroups.

Definition 4.1.2. A function $\omega_z : H \to (0, \infty)$ is called a *central weight* if

$$\omega_z(t) \le \omega_z(x)\omega_z(y)$$

for all $t, x, y \in H$ where $t \in x * y (= \operatorname{supp}(\delta_x * \delta_y))$, in the sense of (1.1.1).

Since, $\delta_x \star \delta_y$ is a positive probability measure, for each central weight ω_z , one gets that

$$\sum_{t \in H} \omega_z(t) \delta_x * \delta_y(t) \le \sum_{t \in H} \omega_z(x) \omega_z(y) \delta_x * \delta_y(t) \le \omega_z(x) \omega_z(y) \| \delta_x * \delta_y \| = \omega_z(x) \omega_z(y).$$

Hence, ω_z is a weight over a hypergroup H. Although, most of the hypergroup weight studied in here are central, in Subsection 4.4.1 and Section 4.6, we will see some examples of weights which are not central weights. For all $f, g \in c_c(H)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|f * g\|_{\ell^{1}(H,\omega)} &= \sum_{t \in H} |f * g(t)|\omega(t) \\ &= \sum_{t \in H} |\sum_{x \in H} \sum_{y \in H} \delta_{x} * \delta_{y}(t)f(x)g(y)|\omega(t) \\ &\leq \sum_{x \in H} \sum_{y \in H} \sum_{t \in H} \delta_{x} * \delta_{y}(t)\omega(t)|f(x)g(y)| \\ &= \sum_{x \in H} \sum_{y \in H} \omega(\delta_{x} * \delta_{y})|f(x)| |g(y)| \\ &\leq \sum_{x \in H} \omega(x)|f(x)| \sum_{y \in H} \omega(y)|g(y)| = \|f\|_{\ell^{1}(H,\omega)} \|g\|_{\ell^{1}(H,\omega)} \end{split}$$

Since $c_c(H)$ is dense in $\ell^1(H,\omega)$ and the convolution is continuous with respect to $\|\cdot\|_{\ell^1(H,\omega)}$, one may extend the convolution to $\ell^1(H,\omega)$. Therefore, $(\ell^1(H,\omega), *, \|\cdot\|_{\ell^1(H,\omega)})$ is actually a Banach algebra; we call it *weighted hypergroup algebra* of H with respect to the weight ω .

Moreover, we can see that the dual of $\ell^1(H,\omega)$ is nothing but $\ell^{\infty}(H,\omega^{-1})$ which is the set of all functions $\phi: H \to \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\|\phi\|_{\ell^{\infty}(H,\omega^{-1})} \coloneqq \sup_{t\in H} |f(t)|\omega(t)^{-1} < \infty.$$

We may easily see that $\ell^{\infty}(H, \omega^{-1})$ equipped with the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\ell^{\infty}(H, \omega^{-1})}$ forms a Banach space.

Definition 4.1.3. [17, Definition 2.6]

Let \mathcal{A} be a Banach algebra. Then \mathcal{A} is a *dual Banach algebra* with respect to E, if E is a closed sub-bimodule of the dual \mathcal{A} -bimodule A^* that if for every $\phi \in E$ and $f \in \mathcal{A}$, $f \cdot \phi$ and $\phi \cdot f$ belong to E such that $\mathcal{A} = E^*$.

Let $c_0(H, \omega^{-1})$ be the set all elements ϕ in $\ell^{\infty}(H, \omega^{-1})$ such that $\phi \omega^{-1}$ is vanishing at infinity. Clearly $c_0(H, \omega^{-1})$ is Banach subspace of $\ell^{\infty}(H, \omega^{-1})$.

Proposition 4.1.4. Let (H, ω) be a weighted discrete hypergroup for a central weight ω . Then $\ell^{1}(H, \omega)$ is a dual Banach algebra with respect to $c_{0}(H, \omega^{-1})$.

Proof. We know that $\ell^1(H,\omega)$ can be considered as the dual of $c_0(H,1/\omega) = \{f : H \to \mathbb{C} : f/\omega \in c_0(H)\}$, by Riesz representation theorem; the second dual of $c_0(H,1/\omega)$ is $\ell^{\infty}(H,1/\omega)$. Let us define the Banach space isomorphism $\kappa : \ell^1(H,\omega) \to \ell^1(H)$ where $\kappa(f) = f\omega$ for each $f \in \ell^1(H,\omega)$. Then $\kappa^* : \ell^{\infty}(H) \to \ell^{\infty}(H,1/\omega)$ where

$$\langle \kappa^*(\phi), \delta_x \rangle = \langle \phi, \kappa(\delta_x) \rangle = \sum_{t \in H} \phi(t) \omega(t) \delta_x(t) = \phi(x) \omega(x)$$

for all $x \in H$. So, $\kappa^*(\phi) = \phi \omega$. One may easily show that $\kappa^*(c_0(H)) = c_0(H, 1/\omega)$.

On the other hand, we show that $c_0(H, 1/\omega)$ is an $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ -bimodule. To do so, let $f, g \in \ell^1(H, \omega)$ and $\phi \in c_0(H, 1/\omega)$. Hence

$$\begin{split} \langle g, \phi \cdot f \rangle &= \langle f \ast g, \phi \rangle &= \sum_{y \in H} f \ast g(y) \phi(y) \\ &= \sum_{y \in H} \sum_{t \in H} \sum_{s \in H} \delta_t \ast \delta_s(y) f(t) g(s) \phi(y) \\ &= \sum_{s \in H} g(s) \sum_{t \in H} f(t) \sum_{y \in H} \delta_t \ast \delta_s(y) \phi(y) \\ &= \sum_{s \in H} g(s) \sum_{t \in H} f(t) \phi(\delta_t \ast \delta_s). \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$\phi \cdot f(x) = \sum_{t \in H} f(t)\phi(\delta_t * \delta_x).$$

And similarly,

$$f \cdot \phi(x) = \sum_{t \in H} f(t)\phi(\delta_x \star \delta_t).$$

Here we show that if $\phi \in c_0(H, 1/\omega)$ and ω is central, $f \cdot \phi$ and $\phi \cdot f$ also belong to $c_0(H, 1/\omega)$ for all $f \in \ell^1(H, \omega)$. To do so, let us recall from Proposition 1.1.7 that for every $\varphi \in c_0(H)$ and $\psi \in \ell^1(H)$,

$$x \mapsto \sum_{t \in H} \psi(t)\varphi(\delta_{\tilde{t}} \star \delta_x)$$
(4.1.1)

belongs to $c_0(H)$.

Let ω be a central weight on H as defined in Definition 4.1.2. Note that for $\phi \in c_0(H, 1/\omega)$ and $f \in \ell^1(H, \omega), \kappa^{*^{-1}}(|\phi|) = |\phi|\omega^{-1} \in c_0(H)$. Moreover, since $\sim H \to H$ is a bijection, $\tilde{\kappa}(|f|) := |\tilde{f}|\tilde{\omega} \in \ell^1(H)$. Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} |\phi \cdot f(x)| &= \left| \sum_{t \in H} f(t)\phi(\delta_t * \delta_x) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{t \in H} |f|(t)|\phi|(\delta_t * \delta_x) \\ &= \sum_{t \in H} |f|(t) \sum_{s \in H} |\phi|(s)\delta_t * \delta_x(s) \\ &= \sum_{t \in H} \frac{\kappa(|f|)(t)}{\omega(t)} \sum_{s \in H} \kappa^{*-1}(|\phi|)(s) \,\omega(s) \,\delta_t * \delta_x(s) \\ &\leq \sum_{t \in H} \frac{\kappa(|f|)(t)}{\omega(t)} \sum_{s \in t * x} \kappa^{*-1}(|\phi|)(s) \,\omega(x)\omega(t) \,\delta_t * \delta_x(s) \quad (*) \\ &= \omega(x) \sum_{t \in H} \kappa(|f|)(t)\kappa^{*-1}(|\phi|)(\delta_t * \delta_x) \\ &= \omega(x) \sum_{t \in H} \tilde{\kappa}(|f|)(t)\kappa^{*-1}(|\phi|)(\delta_{\tilde{t}} * \delta_x). \quad (**) \end{aligned}$$

Note that (\star) is because ω is central. By (4.1.1), $(\star\star)$ belongs to $c_0(H, 1/\omega)$. Consequently, $\phi \cdot f$ whose absolute value is dominated by a function in $c_0(H, 1/\omega)$ belongs to $c_0(H, 1/\omega)$ as well.

Similarly, one may show that $f \cdot \phi$ lies in $c_0(H, 1/\omega)$. Therefore, $c_0(H, 1/\omega)$ is a sub-bimodule of $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ -bimodule $\ell^{\infty}(H, \omega)$ while $c_0(H, 1/\omega)^* = \ell^1(H, \omega)$. Consequently, $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ is a dual Banach algebra.

It would be interesting to know if the theorem remains true for arbitrary weights, not just the central weights.

Definition 4.1.5. A hypergroup weight ω on H is called *weakly additive*, if for some C > 0, $\omega(\delta_x * \delta_y) \leq C(\omega(x) + \omega(y))$ for all $x, y \in H$. Also ω is said to be *centrally additive* if $\omega(t) \leq C(\omega(x) + \omega(y))$ for some C > 0 and all $x, y, t \in H$ such that $t \in x * y$.

Note that for all $x, y \in H$, $\sum_{t \in H} \delta_x * \delta_y(t) = 1$; therfore, for each weight ω which is centrally additive, it is weakly additive as well.

Definition 4.1.6. Let H be a hypergroup and ω_1 and ω_2 are two weights on H. Then ω_1 and ω_2 are two *equivalent* weights if there are two constants $C_1 > 0$ and $C_2 > 0$ such that $C_1\omega_1 \leq \omega_2 \leq C_2\omega_1$.

It is straightforward to check that if two weights ω_1 and ω_2 on a hypergroup H are equivalent with respect to two constants C_1 and C_2 as defined in Definition 4.1.6,

$$C_1 \| \cdot \|_{\ell^1(H,\omega_1)} \le \| \cdot \|_{\ell^1(H,\omega_1)} \le C_2 \| \cdot \|_{\ell^1(H,\omega_1)};$$

hence, $\ell^1(H, \omega_1)$ is isomorphic to $\ell^1(H, \omega_2)$.

Remark 4.1.7. Let *H* be a discrete hypergroup equipped with the Haar measure *h*. For a weight $\omega : H \to (0, \infty)$, let $L^1(H, \omega)$ be the set of all complex functions on *H* such that

$$\|f\|_{L^1(H,\omega)} \coloneqq \sum_{t \in H} |f(t)|\omega(t)h(t) < \infty.$$

Then $(L^1(H,\omega), \|\cdot\|_{\ell^1(H,\omega)})$ equipped with the convolution forms a Banach algebra .

4.1.1 Product of weighted hypergroups

Let (H_1, ω_1) and (H_2, ω_2) be two weighted hypergroups. For the hypergroup $H := H_1 \times H_2$ and the function $\omega := \omega_1 \times \omega_2 : H_1 \times H_2 \to (0, \infty)$, we have that

$$\sum_{(s,t)\in H_1\times H_2} \omega(s,t)\delta_{(x_1,x_2)} *_H \delta_{(y_1,y_2)}(s,t) = \sum_{s\in H_1} \delta_{x_1} *_{H_1} \delta_{y_1}(s)\omega_1(s) \sum_{t\in H_2} \delta_{x_2} *_{H_2} \delta_{y_2}(t)\omega_2(t)$$

$$\leq \omega_1(x_1)\omega_1(y_1) \omega_2(x_2)\omega_2(y_2)$$

$$= \omega(x_1,x_2)\omega(y_1,y_2).$$

Therefore, ω forms a weight on the hypergroup H. An argument similar to the group case implies that $\ell^1(H_1 \times H_2, \omega_1 \times \omega_2) = \ell^1(H_1, \omega_1) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(H_2, \omega_2)$.

As an extension of the previous example, let $\{H_i\}_{i\in \mathbf{I}}$ be a family of discrete hypergroups with corresponding weights $\{\omega_i\}_{i\in \mathbf{I}}$ such that $\omega_i(e_{H_i}) = 1$ for all $i \in \mathbf{I}$ except finitely many. Let us recall from Section 1.1 that the restricted direct product of $\{H_i\}_{i\in \mathbf{I}}$, denoted by $H := \bigoplus_{i\in \mathbf{I}} H_i$, is

$$\{(x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} : x_i = e_{H_i} \text{ for all } i \in \mathbf{I} \text{ but finitely many} \}.$$

We can define

$$\delta_{(x_i)_{i\in\mathbf{I}}} \star \delta_{(y_i)_{i\in\mathbf{I}}}(s_i)_{i\in\mathbf{I}} \coloneqq \prod_{i\in\mathbf{I}} \delta_{x_i} \star_{H_i} \delta_{y_i}(s_i)$$

and

$$\omega(x_i)_{i\in\mathbf{I}}\coloneqq\prod_{i\in\mathbf{I}}\omega_i(x_i)$$

which are well-defined. Using the properties of finite product of hypergroups, one may easily verify that H forms a discrete hypergroup. Moreover,

$$\sum_{(s_i)_{i\in\mathbf{I}}\in H} \omega(s_i)_{i\in\mathbf{I}} \,\delta_{(x_i)_{i\in\mathbf{I}}} * \delta_{(y_i)_{i\in\mathbf{I}}}(s_i)_{i\in\mathbf{I}} = \prod_{i\in\mathbf{I}} \sum_{s_i\in H_i} \omega_i(s_i) \,\delta_{x_i} *_{H_i} \,\delta_{y_i}(s_i)$$

$$\leq \prod_{i\in\mathbf{I}} \omega_i(x_i) \,\omega_i(y_i)$$

$$= \omega(x_i)_{i\in\mathbf{I}} \,\omega(y_i)_{i\in\mathbf{I}}$$

for all $(x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ and $(y_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ in H. Therefore, (H, ω) is a weighted hypergroup. Note that since in the aforementioned equations, only for finitely many indices, the corresponding values may not be 1, the calculations are well-defined.

4.2 Some weights related to the growth of hypergroups

If $a, b \ge 0$ and $\beta \ge 0$, then

$$(a+b)^{\beta} \le C(a^{\beta}+b^{\beta}) \tag{4.2.1}$$

where $C = \min\{1, 2^{\beta-1}\}$. We will use this inequality in the following.

Let H be a discrete hypergroup. For each finite subset F of H, we define

$$F^n \coloneqq \bigcup \{ x_1 \ast \dots \ast x_n : \text{ for all } x_1, \dots, x_n \in F \}.$$

Definition 4.2.1. A hypergroup H is called a *finitely generated hypergroup* if there exists a finite subset $F \subseteq H$, called a *generator*, such that

$$H = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} F^n.$$

Let F be a finite symmetric generator of H i.e. $x \in F$ implies that $\check{x} \in F$. Then we define

$$\tau_F : H \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\} \tag{4.2.2}$$

by $\tau_F(x) = \inf\{n \in \mathbb{N} : x \in F^n\}$ for all $x \neq e$ and $\tau_F(e) = 0$. Moreover, since F is symmetric, $\tau_F(\check{x}) = \tau_F(x)$. It is straightforward to verify that if F' is another finite symmetric generator of H, then for some constants $C_1, C_2, C_1\tau_{F'} \leq \tau_F \leq C_2\tau_{F'}$.

If there is no risk of confusion, we may just use τ instead of τ_F . For each pair $x, y \in H$, for each $t \in x * y (= \operatorname{supp}(\delta_x * \delta_y))$, t belongs to $F^{\tau(x)+\tau(y)}$, so

$$\tau(t) \le \tau(x) + \tau(y) \quad \text{where } t \in x * y. \tag{4.2.3}$$

• Polynomial weight. For a given $\beta \ge 0$, $\omega_{\beta}(x) := (1 + \tau(x))^{\beta}$ is a central weight on H.

Proof. We know that for each $t \in x * y$, $\omega_{\beta}(t) = (1 + \tau(t))^{\beta} \leq (1 + \tau(x) + \tau(y))^{\beta}$. On the other hand,

$$\ln(1 + \tau(x) + \tau(y)) \leq \ln(1 + \tau(x) + \tau(y) + \tau(x)\tau(y))$$

= $\ln(1 + \tau(x)) + \ln(1 + \tau(y)).$

Therefore $\omega_{\beta}(t) \leq \omega_{\beta}(x)\omega_{\beta}(y)$.

Remark 4.2.2. ω_{β} is centrally additive (and consequently weakly additive). For a generator F of H, note that

$$\omega_{\beta}(t) = (1 + \tau_{F}(t))^{\beta} \le (1 + \tau_{F}(x) + \tau_{F}(y))^{\beta} \le C(1 + \tau_{F}(x))^{\beta} + C(1 + \tau_{F}(y))^{\beta}$$

= $C(\omega_{\beta}(x) + \omega_{\beta}(y))$

where $C = \min\{1, 2^{\beta-1}\}$ based on the inequality (4.2.1).

• Exponential weight. For given C > 0 and $0 \le \alpha \le 1$, $\sigma_{\alpha,C}(x) := e^{C\tau(x)^{\alpha}}$ is a central weight on H.

Proof. For
$$x, y \in H$$
 and $t \in x * y$, $\sigma_{\alpha,C}(t) = e^{C\tau(t)^{\alpha}} \leq e^{C(\tau(x)+\tau(y))^{\alpha}}$. Also $e^{C(\tau(x)+\tau(y))^{\alpha}} \leq e^{C\tau(x)^{\alpha}}e^{C\tau(y)^{\alpha}}$, since $\tau(x) \geq 1$ for all $x \neq e$.

Example 4.2.3. [49] implies that $F = \{0, 1\}$ is a symmetric generator of \mathbb{N}_0 . Using induction and since $1 \in F^1$, suppose that $\tau_F(n) = n$. Then by [49, Proposition 5.2], $g(n, 1; n + 1) \neq 0$;

therefore, $n + 1 \in \text{supp}(\delta_n \star \delta_1) \subseteq F^{n+1}$. But $n + 1 \notin F^n$. Thus $\tau_F(n) = n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ for the map τ_F defined in (4.2.2). In particular, \mathbb{N}_0 is a finitely generated hypergroup.

Consequently, for each $\beta \ge 0$, we can define a polynomial weight ω_{β} on \mathbb{N}_0 where

$$\omega_{\beta}(n) = (1+n)^{\beta} \quad (n \in \mathbb{N}_0)$$

Also, for each $0 \leq \alpha \leq 1$ and C > 0, we can define an exponential weight $\sigma_{\alpha,C}$ on \mathbb{N}_0 where

$$\sigma_{\alpha,C}(n) = e^{Cn^{\alpha}} \quad (n \in \mathbb{N}_0).$$

Using these two classes of weights we can generate a variety of weighted hypergroup algebras.

4.3 Weights on Conj(G) derived from group weights

For a (discrete) group G, as a hypergroup, a weight is a mapping $\sigma : G \to (0, \infty)$ such that $\sigma(xy) \leq \sigma(x)\sigma(y)$ for all $x, y \in G$, since $\delta_x \otimes \delta_y = \delta_{xy}$. Then (G, σ) is called a *weighted group*. Therefore, $\ell^1(G, \sigma)$ equipped by the convolution and the weighted norm i.e.

$$\|f\|_{\ell^{1}(G,\sigma)} = \sum_{t \in G} |f(t)|\sigma(t).$$
(4.3.1)

is a Banach algebra called weighted group algebra.

To prove the main result of this section, we need the following lemma.

Lemma 4.3.1. Let ω : Conj $(G) \rightarrow (0, \infty)$ be defined on Conj(G). Then

$$\omega(\delta_C * \delta_D) = \frac{1}{|C||D|} \sum_{t \in C} \sum_{s \in D} \omega(C_{ts}) \quad (C, D \in \operatorname{Conj}(G))$$

Proof. The proof is a straightforward calculation based on (3.1.3) as follows:

$$\sum_{E \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} \omega(E) \delta_C * \delta_D(E) = \sum_{E \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} \omega(E) \frac{|E|}{|C||D|} \alpha_E^{C,D}$$

$$= \sum_{C_t \in \operatorname{Conj}(G), C_t \subseteq CD} \frac{1}{|C||D|} \alpha_{C_t}^{C,D} \omega(C_t)$$

$$= \sum_{t \in G} \frac{\omega(C_t)}{|C||D|} 1_C \otimes 1_D(t)$$

$$= \sum_{t \in G} \frac{\omega(C_t)}{|C||D|} \sum_{s \in G} 1_C(s) 1_D(s^{-1}t)$$

$$= \sum_{t \in G} \sum_{s \in G} \frac{\omega(C_{st})}{|C||D|} 1_C(s) 1_D(t)$$

$$= \frac{1}{|C||D|} \sum_{t \in D} \sum_{s \in C} \omega(C_{st}).$$

Г			٦
L			1
L	_	_	┛

The following proposition, as the main result of this section, lets us apply group cases which are constant on conjugacy classes to generate hypergroup weights on Conj(G).

Proposition 4.3.2. Let G be a FC group possessing a weight σ . Then the mean function ω_{σ} defined as

$$\omega_{\sigma}(C) = \frac{1}{|C|} \sum_{t \in C} \sigma(t) \quad \text{for every } C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$$
(4.3.2)

is a weight on the hypergroup $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$.

Proof. By Lemma 4.3.1, it suffices to show that

$$\frac{1}{|C||D|} \sum_{t \in C} \sum_{s \in D} \omega_{\sigma}(C_{ts}) \le \omega_{\sigma}(C) \omega_{\sigma}(D)$$

for all $C, D \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$. To do so, using weighted group algebra $\ell^1(G, \sigma)$, one gets

$$\begin{split} \sum_{t \in D} \sum_{s \in C} \omega_{\sigma}(C_{st}) &= \sum_{t \in G} \sum_{s \in G} \mathbf{1}_{C}(s) \mathbf{1}_{D}(t) \omega_{\sigma}(C_{st}) \\ &= \sum_{t \in G} \sum_{s \in G} \mathbf{1}_{C}(s) \mathbf{1}_{D}(s^{-1}t) \omega_{\sigma}(C_{t}) \\ &= \sum_{t \in G} \mathbf{1}_{C} \circledast \mathbf{1}_{D}(C_{t}) \omega_{\sigma}(C_{t}) \\ &= \sum_{E \in \mathrm{Conj}(G)} \mathbf{1}_{C} \circledast \mathbf{1}_{D}(E) |E| \omega_{\sigma}(E) \\ &= \sum_{E \in \mathrm{Conj}(G)} \mathbf{1}_{C} \circledast \mathbf{1}_{D}(E) \sum_{s \in E} \sigma(s) \\ &= \sum_{t \in G} \mathbf{1}_{C} \circledast \mathbf{1}_{D}(t) \sigma(t) = \|\mathbf{1}_{C} \circledast \mathbf{1}_{D}\|_{\ell^{1}(G,\sigma)} \\ &\leq \|\mathbf{1}_{C}\|_{\ell^{1}(G,\sigma)} \|\mathbf{1}_{D}\|_{\ell^{1}(G,\sigma)} = |C| \omega_{\sigma}(C) |D| \omega_{\sigma}(D), \end{split}$$

because $\|1_E\|_{\ell^1(G,\sigma)} = \sum_{t \in E} \sigma(t) = \omega_{\sigma}(E)|E|$ for every $E \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$.

We call ω_{σ} the weight derived from σ . When (G, σ) is a weighted FC group, we define

$$Z\ell^{1}(G,\sigma) = \{ f \in \ell^{1}(G,\sigma), f(yxy^{-1}) = f(x) \forall x, y \in G \}$$

which is the center of the Banach algebra $\ell^1(G, \sigma)$; hence, it is a commutative Banach algebra.

Corollary 4.3.3. Let (G, σ) be a weighted FC group, and ω_{σ} on $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ be the weight derived from σ . Then the weighted hypergroup algebra $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega_{\sigma})$ is isometrically isomorphic to $Z\ell^1(G, \sigma)$.

Proof. By Proposition 4.3.2, $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega_{\sigma})$ is a weighted hypergroup algebra. Similar to the proof of Theorem 3.1.1, we define $\Psi : Z\ell^1(G, \sigma) \to \ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega_{\sigma})$ such that for each $f \in$

 $Z\ell^1(G,\sigma), \Psi(f)(C) = |C|f(C)$ for all $C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$. Note that Ψ is an algebra homomorphism, since the convolution is the same of the hypergroup algebra restricted to $Zc_c(G)(=c_c(G) \cap \ell^1(G))$. To see that Ψ is an isometry, note that for every $f \in Z\ell^1(G,\sigma)$,

$$\begin{split} \|\Psi(f)\|_{\ell^{1}(\operatorname{Conj}(G),\omega_{\sigma})} &= \sum_{C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} |\Psi(f)(C)|\omega_{\sigma}(C) = \sum_{C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} |C||f(C)|\omega_{\sigma}(C) \\ &= \sum_{C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} |f(C)| \sum_{s \in C} \sigma(s) = \sum_{t \in G} |f(t)|\sigma(t) = \|f\|_{\ell^{1}(G,\sigma)}. \end{split}$$

Here, F(C) is as defined in (3.1.1).

4.4 Central weights on Conj(G)

Let ω be a mapping from $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ to \mathbb{R}^+ such that $\omega(E) \leq \omega(C)\omega(D)$ for all conjugacy classes $E, C, D \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$ where $E \subseteq CD$. Then it is immediate that ω forms a central weight on the hypergroup $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ as defined in Definition 4.1.2.

Remark 4.4.1. Let G be a FC group and ω be a central weight on $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$. Then the mapping σ_{ω} is defined on G by $\sigma_{\omega}(x) \coloneqq \omega(C_x)$ that forms a group weight on G. And $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega)$ as a Banach algebra is isometrically isomorphic to $Z\ell^1(G, \sigma_{\omega})$.

Example 4.4.2. Let G be a discrete FC group. The mapping $\omega(C) = |C|$, for $C \in \text{Conj}(G)$, is a central weight on Conj(G). Clearly, if $E \subseteq CD$, we have $|E| \leq |C||D|$.

Example 4.4.3. Let $G = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i$ for a family of finite groups $(G_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ as studied in Example 3.1.3. Given $C \in \text{Conj}(G)$, for each $\alpha > 0$, we define a mapping

$$\omega_{\alpha}(C) \coloneqq (1 + |C_{i_1}| + \dots + |C_{i_n}|)^{\alpha}$$

where $i_j \in \mathbf{I}_C$. We show that ω_{α} is a central weight on $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$. Let $E \subseteq CD$ for some $E, C, D \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$. One can easily show that for each $i \in \mathbf{I}, E_i \subseteq C_i D_i$; $\mathbf{I}_E \subseteq \mathbf{I}_C \cup \mathbf{I}_D$. Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} \omega_{\alpha}(C) &= \left(1 + \sum_{i \in \mathbf{I}_{E}} |E_{i}|\right)^{\alpha} \leq \left(1 + \sum_{i \in \mathbf{I}_{E}} |C_{i}||D_{i}|\right)^{\alpha} \quad \text{by Example 4.4.2} \\ &\leq \left(1 + \sum_{i \in \mathbf{I}_{C}} |C_{i}|\right)^{\alpha} \left(1 + \sum_{i \in \mathbf{I}_{D}} |D_{i}|\right)^{\alpha} = \omega_{\alpha}(C)\omega_{\alpha}(D). \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 4.4.4. Let (G, σ) be a weighted FC group such that $M = \sup_{C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} |C| < \infty$. Then the hypergroup weight $\omega_z(C) \coloneqq M^2 \omega_\sigma(C)$, for $C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$, forms a central weight.

_	_
-	-

Proof. Let $E \subseteq CD$ for some $C, D, E \in \text{Conj}(G)$. Note that for each $t \in E$, there are some $x \in C$ and $y \in D$ such that t = xy, so one gets that

$$\omega_{\sigma}(E) = \frac{1}{|E|} \sum_{t \in E} \sigma(t) \le \frac{1}{|E|} \sum_{t \in E} \sum_{x \in C} \sigma(x) \sum_{y \in D} \sigma(y) \le \sum_{x \in C} \sigma(x) \sum_{y \in D} \sigma(y).$$

Hence,

$$\omega_{\sigma}(E) \leq |C|\omega_{\sigma}(C)|D|\omega_{\sigma}(D) \leq M^{2}\omega_{\sigma}(C)\omega_{\sigma}(D),$$

and so, $\omega_z(E) \leq \omega_z(C)\omega_z(D)$.

Theorem 4.4.4 implies that for discrete groups whose conjugacy classes are uniformly finite, every weight on G leads to a central weight on $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$. A group G is called a group with finite commutator group or FD if its derived subgroup is finite. Let G be an FD group. For every $C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$, $C = \{zxz^{-1} : z \in G\}$ for some $x \in C$. Hence, $Cx^{-1} = \{zxz^{-1}x^{-1} : z \in G\} \subseteq G'$ and therefore $|C| = |Cx^{-1}| \leq |G'|$. Therefore, the order of conjugacy classes of an FD group are uniformly bounded by |G'|.

4.4.1 An example: $\operatorname{Conj}(S_3)$

The natural question that one may ask would be the existence of a weight over $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$, for some discrete FC group G, which is not equivalent to any central weight with respect to the equivalency defined in Definition 4.1.6. In this subsection, we generate a class function which is satisfying Lemma 4.3.1 but is not equivalent to any central weight.

Let S_n be the symmetric group of degree n. First, we study $\operatorname{Conj}(S_n)$ for n = 3 and some possible weights on the finite hypergroup $\operatorname{Conj}(S_3)$. Recall that for any element $x = (i_1^{(1)} \cdots i_{k_1}^{(1)}) \cdots (i_1^{(m)} \cdots i_{k_m}^{(m)}) \in S_n$, where $(i_1^{(j)} \cdots i_{k_j}^{(j)})$'s are pairwise commute cycles, the conjugacy class of x is the set of all elements of S_n which can be written in the same cycle structure [19, Section 1.3].

Figure 4.1 summarizes the support of $\delta_C * \delta_D$ for all $C, D \in \text{Conj}(S_3)$. As an example, $\text{supp}(\delta_{C_{(12)}} * \delta_{C_{(123)}}) = C_{(12)}$. To check this note that for each $z \in G$ where $1_{C_{(12)}} \otimes 1_{C_{(123)}}(z) \neq 0$, one gets that

$$1_{C_{(12)}} \otimes 1_{C_{(123)}}(z) = \sum_{t \in S_3} 1_{C_{(12)}}(t) 1_{C_{(123)}}(t^{-1}z) = \sum_{t \in S_3} 1_{C_{(12)}}(t) 1_{tC_{(123)}}(z) = \sum_{t \in C_{(12)}C_{(123)}}(t).$$

So, by the definition of the convolution on $\operatorname{Conj}(S_3)$, $\operatorname{supp}(\delta_{C_{(12)}} * \delta_{C_{(123)}}) = C_{(12)}C_{(123)}$ which is $C_{(12)}$. Clearly, since $\operatorname{Conj}(S_3)$ forms a commutative hypergroup the table is symmetric, and hence, one may complete the other half symmetrically.

*	C_e	C(12)	C ₍₁₂₃₎
C_e	$\{C_e\}$	$\{C_{(12)}\}$	$\{C_{(123)}\}$
$C_{(12)}$		$\{C_e, C_{(123)}\}$	$\{C_{(12)}\}$
$C_{(123)}$			$\{C_e, C_{(123)}\}$

Figure 4.1: Convolution action on conjugacy classes of S_3

Example 4.4.5. Using the table, one may easily verify that the weight ω , defined in the following, forms a central weight on $\text{Conj}(S_3)$.

$$\begin{array}{c|cccc} & C_e & C_{(12)} & C_{(123)} \\ \hline \omega & 1 & 3 & 5 \end{array}$$

Applying Lemma 4.3.1, it is sufficient to check that the following inequalities hold for ω to be a weight on Conj (S_3) .

(i) $1/3 \omega(C_e) + 2/3 \omega(C_{(123)}) \le \omega(C_{(12)})^2$.

(ii)
$$1 \le \omega(C_e), \omega(C_{(123)})$$

(iii) $1/2\omega(C_{(123)}) + 1/2\omega(C_e) \le \omega(C_{(123)})^2$.

Remark 4.4.6. Some long computations on the previous equations imply that for each weight ω on Conj (S_3) , one may show that $\omega_z = \alpha \omega$ will be a central weight for all $\alpha > 5/4$.

Example 4.4.7. Considering equations (i), (ii), and (iii), one may verify that the weight ω as defined below is a weight on Conj(S_3).

$$\begin{array}{c|ccc} C_e & C_{(12)} & C_{(123)} \\ \\ \omega & 1 & 2 & 5 \end{array}$$

On the other hand, since $5 = \omega(C_{(123)}) \notin \omega(C_{(12)})^2 = 4$, ω is not a central weight.

Question. Can one generate a group weight σ on S_3 for which ω_{σ} is not a central weight on Conj (S_3) ?

Example 4.4.8. We generate the RDPF group $G = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}} S_3$ as defined in Section 2.2. Let us define the weight $\omega' \coloneqq \prod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \omega$ on $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ where ω is the hypergroup weight on $\operatorname{Conj}(S_3)$ defined in Example 4.4.7. For each $N \in \mathbb{N}$, define $D_N \coloneqq \prod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} D_n^{(N)} \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$ where $D_n^{(N)} = C_{(123)}$ for all $n \in 1, \ldots, N$ and $D_n^{(N)} = C_e$ otherwise. One can verify that $D_N \in \operatorname{supp}(\delta_{E_N} * \delta_{E_N})$ for $E_N = \prod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} E_n^{(N)} \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$ with $E_n^{(N)} = C_{(12)}$ for all $n \in 1, ..., N$ and $E_n^{(N)} = C_e$ otherwise. Therefore

$$\frac{\omega'(D_N)}{\omega'(E_N)^2} = \prod_{n=1}^N \frac{\omega(C_{(123)})}{\omega(C_{(12)})^2} = (5/4)^N \to \infty$$

where $N \to \infty$. We claim that ω' is a weight which cannot equal any central weight i.e. there is not a constant M such that $M\omega'$ is a central weight. To prove this claim, let ω_z be a central weight and α_1 and α_2 two positive constants such that $\alpha_1 \omega' \leq \omega_z \leq \alpha_2 \omega'$. Hence,

$$\frac{\omega'(D_N)}{\omega'(E_N)^2} \le \frac{\alpha_2^2 \omega_z(D_N)}{\alpha_1 \omega_z(E_N)^2} < \frac{\alpha_2^2}{\alpha_1}$$

which is a contradiction.

4.5 Weights related to quotient groups

Let G be a group, N a normal subgroup of G, and $T : \ell^1(G) \to \ell^1(G/N)$ the Reiter's map as defined in [65, (3.4.10)],

$$Tf(xN) = \sum_{t \in N} f(xt) \text{ for } f \in \ell^1(G)$$

which is an onto algebra homomorphism. For each $f \in \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ and $g \in \ell^1(G)$, note that $Tf \oplus Tg = T(f \oplus g) = T(g \oplus f) = Tg \oplus Tf$. Since T is onto, this implies that $T(\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)) \subseteq \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G/H)$. Let us denote the restriction of T to $\mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G)$ by T again; hence, $T : \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G) \to \mathbb{Z}\ell^1(G/N)$. By Theorem 3.1.1, T can be seen as a mapping $T : \ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G)) \to \ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G/N))$.

Claim. We claim that for each $x \in G$, $T(\delta_{C_x}) = \alpha_{C_{xN}} \delta_{C_{xN}}$ for some $0 < \alpha_{C_{xN}} \le 1$.

Proof of Claim. For each $C_x \in \text{Conj}(G)$ and $C_{zN} \in \text{Conj}(G/N)$, applying Ψ defined to prove Theorem 3.1.1, one gets

$$T(\delta_{C_x})(C_{zN}) = T \circ \Psi(\frac{1}{|C_x|} \mathbf{1}_{C_x})(zN) = \frac{1}{|C_x|} \sum_{t \in N} \mathbf{1}_{C_x}(zt).$$
(4.5.1)

First, assume that $C_{xN} \neq C_{zN}$. Toward a contradiction, one may assume that for some $t \in N, zt \in C_x$. Without loss of generality, let zt = x. But, this implies that zN = xN which is a contradiction. Therefore, if $C_{xN} \neq C_{zN}, T(\delta_{C_x})(C_{zN}) = 0$.

On the other hand, one may complete the equation (4.5.1) as follows.

$$T(\delta_{C_x})(C_{zN}) = \frac{1}{|C_x|} \sum_{t \in N} \mathbb{1}_{C_x}(zt) = \frac{1}{|C_x|} \sum_{y \in C_x} \sum_{t \in N} \delta_y(zt).$$

So, if for some $y \in C_x$, zt = y, $\sum_{t \in N} \delta_y(zt) = 1$;

$$0 < \frac{1}{|C_x|} \le \frac{1}{|C_x|} \sum_{y \in C_x} \sum_{t \in N} \delta_y(zt) \le 1 = \delta_{C_{xN}}(C_{xN}).$$

For some $0 < \alpha_{C_{xN}} \leq 1$, we have proved the claim.

Suppose that ω be a weight on $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ which is bounded away from zero i.e. for some $\delta > 0$, $\omega(C) > \delta$ for all $C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$. Since ω is away from zero by some $\delta > 0$, for each $f \in \ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega)$,

$$\delta \|f\|_{\ell^{1}(\operatorname{Conj}(G))} = \sum_{C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} \delta |f(C)| \le \sum_{C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} |f(C)| \omega(C) = \|f\|_{\ell^{1}(\operatorname{Conj}(G),\omega)}$$

Therefore, $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega)$ is a subalgebra of $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G))$. So, let us define the restricted map T_{ω} by

$$T_{\omega} \coloneqq T|_{\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G),\omega)} \colon \ell^1(G,\omega) \to \mathcal{A}$$

where $\mathcal{A} = \operatorname{Im}(T_{\omega})$ is equipped with the quotient norm i.e. for each $f \in \ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega)$,

$$||T_{\omega}(f)||_q = \inf\{||f-k||_{\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G),\omega)}, k \in \operatorname{Ker} T_{\omega}\}.$$

Some arguments in the proof of the following proposition are similar to the ones in [65, Proposition 3.6.11].

Proposition 4.5.1. The mapping $\tilde{\omega}$: Conj $(G/N) \to \mathbb{R}^+$ defined as

$$\tilde{\omega}(C_{xN}) = \inf\{\omega(C_{xy}): y \in N\} \ (C_{xN} \in \operatorname{Conj}(G/N))$$

forms a weight on $\operatorname{Conj}(G/N)$.

Proof. Note that, $T_{\omega}(\delta_{C_x} - \delta_{C_{xy}}) = \alpha_{C_{xN}}(\delta_{C_{xN}} - \delta_{C_{xyN}}) = 0$ for all $x \in G$ and $y \in N$. For each $x \in G$ and

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_{\omega}(\delta_{C_x})\|_q &= \inf\{\|\alpha_{C_{xN}}\delta_{C_x} - k\|_{\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G),\omega)} : k \in \operatorname{Ker} T_{\omega}\} \\ &\leq \inf\{\|\alpha_{C_{xN}}\delta_{C_x} + \alpha_{C_{xN}}\delta_{C_{xy}} - \alpha_{C_{xN}}\delta_{C_x}\|_{\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G),\omega)} : y \in N\} \\ &= \alpha_{C_{xN}}\inf\{\omega(C_{xy}) : y \in N\} = \alpha_{C_{xN}}\tilde{\omega}(C_{xN}). \end{aligned}$$

Let us study the dual of the map T_{ω} which is denoted by $T_{\omega}^* : \mathcal{A}^* \to \ell^{\infty}(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega^{-1})$. So for each $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}^*, T_{\omega}^*(\varphi) \in \ell^{\infty}(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega^{-1})$. Hence,

$$\|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{A}^*} \ge \sup_{C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} \frac{|\langle \varphi, T_\omega(\delta_{C_x}) \rangle|}{\|T_\omega(\delta_{C_x})\|_q} \ge \sup_{C_{xN} \in \operatorname{Conj}(G/N)} \frac{\alpha_{C_{xN}}|\varphi(C_{xN})|}{\alpha_{C_{xN}}\tilde{\omega}(C_{xN})} = \|\varphi\|_{\ell^{\infty}(\operatorname{Conj}(G/N),\tilde{\omega}^{-1})}.$$

Also, since \mathcal{A} is equipped with the quotient topology, T^*_{ω} is an isometry. Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{A}^*} &= \|T^*_{\omega}(\varphi)\|_{\ell^{\infty}(\operatorname{Conj}(G),\omega^{-1})} \\ &= \sup_{C_x \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} \frac{|T^*_{\omega}(\varphi)(C_x)|}{\omega(C_x)} \\ &\leq \sup_{C_x \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} \frac{|T^*_{\omega}(\varphi)(C_x)|}{\tilde{\omega}(C_{xN})} \\ &= \sup_{C_x \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} \frac{|\langle\varphi, T_{\omega}(\delta_{C_x})\rangle|}{\tilde{\omega}(C_{xN})} \\ &= \sup_{x \in G} \alpha_{C_{xN}} \frac{|\varphi(C_{xN})|}{\tilde{\omega}(C_{xN})} \leq \|\varphi\|_{\ell^{\infty}(\operatorname{Conj}(G/N),\tilde{\omega}^{-1})}. \end{aligned}$$

So $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{A}^*} = \|\cdot\|_{\ell^{\infty}(\operatorname{Conj}(G/N),\tilde{\omega}^{-1})}$. Consequently, as two Banach algebras,

$$\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G/N), \tilde{\omega}) \cong \ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega) / \operatorname{Ker} T_{\omega}.$$

Thus,

$$\|\delta_{C_{xN}} * \delta_{C_{yN}}\|_{\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G/N),\tilde{\omega})} \le \|\delta_{C_{xN}}\|_{\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G/N),\tilde{\omega})}\|\delta_{C_{yN}}\|_{\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G/N),\tilde{\omega})}$$

which equals to this fact that $\tilde{\omega}(\delta_{C_{xN}} \star \delta_{C_{yN}}) \leq \tilde{\omega}(C_{xN})\tilde{\omega}(C_{yN})$. This shows that $\tilde{\omega}$ is a weight on $\operatorname{Conj}(G/N)$.

4.6 Weights on duals of compact groups

Corollary 4.6.1. Let G be a compact group and \widehat{G} be the set of all irreducible representations of G as a discrete commutative hypergroup. Then $\omega_{\beta}(\pi) = d_{\pi}^{\beta} = h(d_{\pi})^{\beta/2}$ is a central weight for each $\beta \ge 0$.

Proof. Since for every pair $\pi, \sigma \in \widehat{G}$, the dimension of $\pi \otimes \sigma$ which is $d_{\pi}d_{\sigma}$ is equivalent to $\sum_{i=1}^{n} m_i^{\pi,\sigma} d_{\pi_i}$ for some $m_i^{\pi,\sigma} > 0$ and $(\pi_i)_{i=1}^n \subseteq \widehat{G}$, for each $\pi_{i_0} \in \pi * \sigma$ one gets that

$$d_{\pi}d_{\sigma} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma} d_{\pi_{i}} \ge m_{i_{0}}^{\pi,\sigma} d_{\pi_{i}} \ge d_{\pi_{i_{0}}}.$$

Example 4.6.2. Let $\widehat{SU(2)}$ be the hypergroup of all irreducible representations on the compact group SU(2). Let $F = \{\pi_0, \pi_{1/2}\}$. We claim that F is a generator for $\widehat{SU(2)}$. For π_1 we know that

$$\delta_{\pi_{1/2}} * \delta_{\pi_{1/2}} = \frac{3}{4} \delta_{\pi_1} + \delta_{\pi_0}.$$

So $F^2 = \{\pi_0, \pi_{1/2}, \pi_1\}$. We claim that $F^{2k} = \{\pi_\ell\}_{\ell=0}^k$. Suppose that this claim is correct for $k - \frac{1}{2}$ that is $F^{2k-1} = \{\pi_i\}_{i=0}^{k-1/2}$. Therefore, for each $\pi_i \in F^{2k-1}$, $\pi_i \star \pi_0 = \pi_i$ and for each $\pi_i \neq \pi_0$,

 $\pi_i * \pi_{1/2} = \{\pi_{i-1/2}, \pi_{i+1/2}\}$. So $F^{2k} = F^{2k-1} \cup \{\pi_k\}$. Thus, $|F^n| = n+1$ and for each $\ell \in \widehat{SU(2)}$, $\tau_F(\pi_\ell) = 2\ell$ for all $\ell > 0$ and $\tau_F(\pi_0) = 0$ where τ_F is the map defined in (4.2.2).

Consequently, for each $\beta \ge 0$, we can define a polynomial weight ω_{β} on $\overline{SU(2)}$ when

$$\omega_{\beta}(\pi_{\ell}) = (1+2\ell)^{\beta} \quad \pi_{\ell} \in \widehat{SU(2)}.$$
(4.6.1)

Note that (4.6.1) implies that $\omega_{\beta}(\pi) = h(\pi)^{\beta/2} = d_{\pi}^{\beta}$ corresponds to the weight defined in Corollary 4.6.1.

Also, for each $0 \le \alpha \le 1$ and C > 0, we can define an exponential weight $\sigma_{\alpha,C}$ on $\widehat{SU(2)}$ where

$$\sigma_{\alpha,C}(\ell) = e^{C(2\ell)^{\alpha}} \quad \ell \in \widehat{SU(2)}.$$

Example 4.6.3. Let us define $\omega_a : \widehat{SU(2)} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ such that

$$\omega_a(\pi_\ell) = \frac{a^{2\ell+1}}{2\ell+1}$$

for a fixed constant $a \ge (\sqrt{5}+1)/2$. We show that ω_a is a weight on $\widehat{SU(2)}$. For a pair of ℓ, ℓ' in $\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^+ := \{0, 1/2, 1, 3/2, \ldots\}$, without loss of generality suppose that $\ell \ge \ell'$. So

$$\sum_{r=\ell-\ell'}^{\ell+\ell'} (2r+1)\omega_a(\pi_r) = \sum_{r=\ell-\ell'}^{\ell+\ell'} a^{2r+1}$$

$$= a^{2\ell-2\ell'+1} \sum_{r=0}^{2\ell'} a^{2r}$$

$$= a^{2\ell-2\ell'+1} \frac{a^{4\ell'+2}-1}{a^2-1}$$

$$= \frac{a^{2\ell+2\ell'+3}}{a^2-1} - \frac{a^{2\ell+2\ell'+1}}{a^2-1}$$

$$\leq a^{2\ell+2\ell'+2} \left(\frac{a}{a^2-1}\right)$$

$$\leq \frac{a}{a^2-1} \omega_a(\ell)(2\ell+1)\omega_a(\ell')(2\ell'+1).$$

But since $a \ge (\sqrt{5} + 1)/2$, $a/(a^2 - 1) \le 1$; therefore,

$$\omega_a(\delta_{\pi_\ell} * \delta_{\pi_{\ell'}}) \le \omega_a(\pi_\ell)\omega_a(\pi_{\ell'}).$$

Note that

$$\frac{\omega_a(\pi_{2\ell})}{\omega_a(\pi_\ell)^2} = \frac{a^{4\ell+1}}{4\ell+1} / \left(\frac{a^{2\ell+1}}{2\ell+1}\right)^2 \to \infty$$

where $\ell \to \infty$; while $\pi_{2\ell} \in \pi_{\ell} * \pi_{\ell}$. Hence, not only is ω_a not a central weight but also it is not equivalent to any central weight. To show the second claim, let ω_z be a central weight and α_1 and α_2 two constants such that $\alpha_1 \omega_a \leq \omega_z \leq \alpha_2 \omega_a$. Hence,

$$\frac{\omega_a(\pi_{2\ell})}{\omega_a(\pi_\ell)^2} \le \frac{\alpha_2^2 \omega_z(\pi_{2\ell})}{\alpha_1 \omega_z(\pi_\ell)^2} < \frac{\alpha_2^2}{\alpha_1}$$

which is a contradiction.

Example 4.6.4. Let σ be a weight on the group \mathbb{Z} i.e. $\sigma(m+n) \leq \sigma(m)\sigma(n)$. We define

$$\omega_{\sigma}(\pi_{\ell}) = \frac{1}{2\ell + 1} \sum_{r=-2\ell}^{2\ell} \sigma(r) \qquad (\ell \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^{+}).$$
(4.6.2)

Recall that elements of $\widehat{SU(2)}$ can be regarded as π_k when $k \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^+$. Suppose that $m, n \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^+$ and without loss of generality $n \ge m$. Then,

$$\begin{split} \omega_{\sigma}(\pi_{m})\omega_{\sigma}(\pi_{n}) &= \frac{1}{2m+1} \sum_{t=-2m}^{2m} \sigma(t) \frac{1}{2n+1} \sum_{s=-2n}^{2n} \sigma(s) \\ &\geq \frac{1}{(2m+1)(2n+1)} \sum_{t=-2m}^{2m} \sum_{s=-2n}^{2n} \sigma(t+s) \\ &= \frac{1}{(2m+1)(2n+1)} \sum_{t=2n-2m}^{2n+2m} \sum_{s=-2n}^{2n} \sigma(t-2n+s) \\ &= \frac{1}{(2m+1)(2n+1)} \sum_{t=2n-2m}^{2n+2m} \sum_{s=t-4n}^{t} \sigma(s) \qquad (\star) \\ &\geq \frac{1}{(2m+1)(2n+1)} \sum_{t=2n-2m}^{2n+2m} \sum_{s=-t}^{t} \sigma(s) \\ &= \sum_{r=n-m}^{n+m} \frac{(2r+1)}{(2m+1)(2n+1)} \left(\frac{1}{2r+1} \sum_{s=-2r}^{2r} \sigma(r)\right) \\ &= \sum_{r=n-m}^{n+m} \frac{(2r+1)}{(2m+1)(2n+1)} \omega_{\sigma}(\pi_{r}) \\ &= \omega_{\sigma}(\delta_{\pi_{m}} \star \delta_{\pi_{n}}). \end{split}$$

We note that, in (*) above, since if $2n - 2m \le t \le 2n + 2m$ and $-2(n+m) \le t - 4n$; therefore $-2n \le t$, one gets that $t - 4n \le -t$. Therefore, ω_{σ} forms a weight on $\widehat{SU(2)}$ as a hypergroup.

Remark 4.6.5. Let $\sigma(n) = a^n$ for some $a \ge 1$ on \mathbb{Z} . Clearly, σ is a weight on \mathbb{Z} and therefore, one may consider the weight ω_{σ} as defined in Example 4.6.4. For each $\ell \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^+$ and $a \ge (1+\sqrt{5})/2$,

$$\omega_{\sigma}(\pi_{\ell}) = \frac{1}{2\ell+1} \sum_{r=-2\ell}^{2\ell} a^{r} = \frac{a^{-2\ell}}{2\ell+1} (1 + a^{2} + \dots + a^{4\ell})$$
$$= \frac{a^{-2\ell}}{2\ell+1} \frac{a^{4\ell+2} - 1}{a^{2} - 1}$$
$$= \omega_{a}(\pi_{\ell}) \frac{a^{4\ell+2} - 1}{a^{4\ell+1}(a^{2} - 1)}$$

where ω_a is the weight defined in Examples 4.6.3. But some simple calculations verify that for every $\ell \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^+$ and a > 1,

$$\frac{1}{a} \le \frac{a^{4\ell+2} - 1}{a^{4\ell+1}(a^2 - 1)} \le \frac{a}{a^2 - 1}$$

This implies that

$$\frac{1}{a}\omega_a \le \omega_\sigma \le \frac{a}{a^2 - 1}\omega_a$$

for each $a \ge (\sqrt{5} + 1)/2$; hence, the weights ω_a and ω_σ are equivalent according to Definition 4.1.6.

Example 4.6.6. [58, Proposition 4.11]

Let G be a compact group and ω be a central weight on the hypergroup \widehat{G} . Then for each closed subgroup N of G, we may define ω_N on \widehat{N} such that

$$\omega_N(\sigma) = \inf_{\pi \in \widehat{G}, \sigma \leq \pi|_N} \omega(\pi) \quad (\sigma \in \widehat{N})$$

where $\sigma \leq \pi | N$ means that σ is equivalent to one of the representations of irreducible decomposition of $\pi | N$. Given $\epsilon > 0$, note that if $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in \widehat{N}$ there are $\pi_1, \pi_2 \in \widehat{G}$ such that $\sigma_i \leq \pi_i$ and $\omega(\pi_i) < \omega_N(\sigma_i) + \epsilon$ for i = 1, 2. Note that for each $\sigma \in \sigma_1 * \sigma_2$, $\sigma \leq \sigma_1 \otimes \sigma_2 \leq \pi_1 |_N \otimes \pi_2 |_N$; hence,

$$\omega_N(\sigma) = \inf_{\pi \in \widehat{G}, \sigma \le \pi|_N} \omega(\pi) \le \inf_{\pi \le \pi_1 \otimes \pi_2, \sigma \le \pi|_N} \omega(\pi) \le \omega(\pi_1)\omega(\pi_2) \le (\omega_N(\sigma_1) + \epsilon)(\omega_N(\sigma_2) + \epsilon).$$

Since $\epsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, it implies that ω_N is a central weight on \widehat{N} .

CHAPTER 5

The Fourier Algebra of a regular Fourier hypergroup

For a hypergroup H, Muruganandam, [60], gave a definition of the Fourier space, A(H), and showed that A(H) is a Banach algebra with pointwise product for certain commutative hypergroups. In this chapter first we study Fourier space of hypergroups in general. Then we focus on the Fourier algebra of dual of compact groups. We finishes the chapter by studying the amenability of ZA(G) for a compact group G in Section 5.3.

A version of some results of Sections 5.1 and 5.2 has appeared in [2].

5.1 Background

In this section, we review main properties of A(H) from [60]; the proof of all unproven results mentioned in the following may be found there.

For a compact hypergroup H, Vrem in [78] defined the Fourier space similar to the Fourier algebra of a compact group. Subsequently, Muruganandam, [60], defined the Fourier-Stieltjes space on an arbitrary (not necessary compact) hypergroup H using irreducible representations of H analogous to the Fourier-Stieltjes algebra on locally compact groups. Subsequently, he defined the Fourier space of a hypergroup H, as a closed subspace of the Fourier-Stieltjes algebra, generated by $\{f *_h \tilde{f} : f \in L^2(H,h)\}$ or equivalently generated by $\{f *_h \tilde{f} : f \in C_c(H)\}$; hence, $A(H) \cap C_c(H)$ is dense in A(H).

Proposition 5.1.1. Let H be a hypergroup. Then

- (1) $A(H) \cap C_c(H)$ is dense in A(H),
- (2) $A(H) \subseteq C_0(H)$, by [60, Corollary 2.13],
- (3) $\|\cdot\|_{\infty} \leq \|\cdot\|_{A(H)}$, by [60, Remark 2.9],
- (4) for every $u \in A(H)$, $L_x u$, \check{u} , and \overline{u} belong to A(H), [60, Proposition 2.16].

In [60], Muruganandam showed that when H is commutative, A(H) can be characterized as follows. This argument first was appeared in [13].

Theorem 5.1.2. [60, Section 4]

Let H be a commutative hypergroup. Then $A(H) = \{f *_h \tilde{g} : f, g \in L^2(H,h)\}$ and $||u||_{A(H)} = \inf ||f||_2 ||g||_2$ for all $f, g \in L^2(H,h)$ such that $u = f * \tilde{g}$.

Remark 5.1.3. The key point for this advantage of commutative hypergroups, as it was proven in [60, Proposition 4.2] and [13, Section 2], is this fact that $\mathcal{F}(A(H))$, where \mathcal{F} is the (extension of the) Fourier transform, is $L^1(S, \pi)$ where S, as a subset of \widehat{H} , is the support of the Plancherel measure π (see [8, Chapter 2]). Note that the Fourier transform $\mathcal{F} : L^1(H) \to C_0(\widehat{H})$ is an algebra isomorphism i.e. $\mathcal{F}(f * g) = \mathcal{F}(f)\mathcal{F}(g)$. Moreover, similar to the group case, $\mathcal{F}|_{L^2(H)\cap L^1(H)}$ is an isometry which can be extended as an isometric isomorphism from $L^2(H)$ onto the Banach space $L^2(S,\pi)$ (see [8, Theorem 2.2.22]). Therefore, by taking care of some details, one may obtain that for each $u \in A(H)$, $\mathcal{F}(u) \in L^1(S,\pi)$ and since $\mathcal{F}(u) = fg$ for some $f, g \in L^2(S,\pi)$,

$$u = \mathcal{I} \circ \mathcal{F}(u) = \mathcal{I}(f) * \mathcal{I}(g).$$

But note that $\mathcal{I}(f), \mathcal{I}(g) \in L^2(H)$. The implication of the norm is now obvious applying the mapping \mathcal{I} for every $f \in A(H)$.

For a hypergroup H, it is known that for every $x \in H$ and $f \in L^2(H)$, $L_x f \in L^2(H)$ while $\|L_x f\|_2 = \|f\|_2$ (see [8, (1.3.18)]). Therefore, L_x is an operator in $\mathcal{B}(L^2(H))$ which we denote it by $\lambda(x)$. The von Neumann sub-algebra of $\mathcal{B}(L^2(H))$ generated by $(\lambda(x))_{x \in H}$ is called the hypergroup von Neumann algebra of H and denoted by VN(H).

On the other hand, for each $f \in L^1(H)$, $f * g \in L^2(H)$ for $g \in L^2(H)$ while

$$\|f \star g\|_2 \le \|f\|_1 \|g\|_2 \tag{5.1.1}$$

(see [8, (1.4.12)]). So the operator $\lambda(f)$ which carries g to f * g belongs to $\mathcal{B}(L^2(H))$. The C^* algebra generated by $(\lambda(f))_{f \in L^1(H)}$ in $\mathcal{B}(L^2(H))$ is called *reduced* C^* -algebra of H and denoted by $C^*_{\lambda}(H)$. It is proven in [60] that $C^*_{\lambda}(H)$ is actually a C^* -subalgebra of VN(H).

Let $B_{\lambda}(H)$ denote the set of all continuous, bounded functions ϕ on H such that

$$||u||_{B_{\lambda}(H)} := \sup\left\{\int_{H} u(x)f(x)dx: f \in L^{1}(H), ||f(x)||_{C^{*}_{\lambda}(H)} \le 1\right\} < \infty.$$

Similar to the group case, it is proved that $(B_{\lambda}(H), \|\cdot\|_{B_{\lambda}(H)})$ forms a Banach space which is isomorphic to the dual of $C^*_{\lambda}(H)$. Moreover, $A(H) \subseteq B_{\lambda}(H)$ and for every $u \in A(H)$, $\|u\|_{A(H)} = \|u\|_{B_{\lambda}(H)}$. **Remark 5.1.4.** Note that based on the inequality (5.1.1), for each $f \in L^1(H)$, $||f||_{VN(H)} = ||f||_{C^*_{\lambda}(H)} \leq ||f||_1$. Hence, for every $F \in VN(H)^*$ while $L^1(H)$ is observed as a subalgebra of VN(H), $F|_{L^1(H)}$ can be considered as a functional on $L^1(H)$ or equivalently, $F|_{L^1(H)}$ can be represented by an element in $L^{\infty}(H)$, because

$$|\langle F, f \rangle| \le ||F|| ||f||_{VN(H)} \le ||F|| ||f||_{L^1(H)}.$$

For a net $(T_{\alpha})_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ where \mathcal{H} is a Hilbert space, T_{α} converges to 0 in σ -weak topology if

$$\lim_{\alpha} \sum_{n} \langle T_{\alpha} \xi_n, \eta_n \rangle = 0$$

for all sequences of $(\xi_n, \eta_n)_n \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ where $\sum_n (\|\xi_n\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + \|\eta_n\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2) < \infty$.

Theorem 5.1.5. [60, Theorem 2.19]

Let H be a hypergroup. For every $T \in VN(H)$ there exists a unique continuous linear functional ϕ_T on A(H) satisfying $\phi_T(u) = \langle T(f), g \rangle_{L^2(H)}$ where $\check{u} = f * \tilde{g}$. The mapping $T \mapsto \phi_T$ is a Banach space isomorphism between VN(H) and $A(H)^*$. Moreover, the above mapping is also a homeomorphism when VN(H) is given the σ -weak topology and $A(H)^*$ is given weak^{*} topology.

Abusing the notation, for every $T \in VN(H)$ let us denote $\phi_T \in A(H)^*$ by T from now on. One may show that for each $\mu \in M(H)$, μ can be considered as an element in VN(H). In this case for each $\mu \in M(H)$ and the corresponding operator $T_{\mu} \in VN(H)$,

$$\langle T_{\mu}, u \rangle = \int_{H} u(x) d\mu(x) \quad (u \in A(H)), \tag{5.1.2}$$

by [60, Proposition 2.21]. In particular, for each $u \in A(H)$,

$$\lambda(x)(u) = u(x). \tag{5.1.3}$$

Remark 5.1.6. For each $f \in L^1(H)$ and $u, v \in A(H)$, note that f can be considered as a function in VN(H); therefore, by (5.1.2),

$$\langle f \cdot u, v \rangle = \langle f, uv \rangle = \int_H f(x)u(x)v(x)dh(x).$$

Hence, $f \cdot u$ and similarly $u \cdot f$ equals pointwise multiplication of u and f on almost every $x \in H$. Moreover, the reduced C^* -algebra of H, $C^*_{\lambda}(H)$, is a closed A(H)-submodule of VN(H).

The last part of Theorem 5.1.5 and the characterization of A(H) for a commutative hypergroup H in Theorem 5.1.2 result the following corollary. **Corollary 5.1.7.** Let H be a commutative hypergroup. Then for a net $(T_{\alpha})_{\alpha} \subseteq VN(H)$, T_{α} converges to 0 in σ -weak topology if for every pair $f, g \in L^{2}(H)$, $\langle T_{\alpha}f, g \rangle \to 0$.

Recall that a *state* on a C^* -algebra is a positive linear functional of norm 1. Moreover, if \mathcal{A} is a von Neumann algebra with predual \mathcal{A}_* , every state of \mathcal{A} can be approximated by a net of states of the elements of pre-dual in the weak^{*} topology. Therefore, for a commutative hypergroup H each state u on VN(H) which belongs to A(H) is in the form of $f *_h \tilde{f}$ for some $f \in L^2(H)$ such that

$$1 = \|u\|_{A(H)} = u(e) = \|f\|_2^2.$$
(5.1.4)

In [60], Muruganandam calls the hypergroup H a regular Fourier hypergroup, if the Banach space $(A(H), \| \cdot \|_{A(H)})$ equipped with pointwise product is a Banach algebra. He studied this property for a variety of commutative hypergroups in [60]. He showed that some polynomial hypergroups including Jacobi polynomial hypergroups and Chebyshev polynomial hypergroups are regular Fourier hypergroups. Furthermore, in [61], he pursued this study for *double coset* hypergroups (which are not necessarily commutative). He showed that the hypergroup of the double coset of a locally compact group G with respect to some compact subgroup H, usually denoted by G//H, is also a regular Fourier hypergroups. One may see [8, Section 1.5] for more information about coset hypergroups.

We prove a hypergroup version of [26, Lemma 3.2] which shows some important properties of the Banach space A(H) for an arbitrary hypergroup H (not necessarily a regular Fourier hypergroup). Some parts of the following Lemma have already been shown in [78] for compact hypergroups where proof is applicable to general hypergroups. Here we present a complete proof for the lemma. Note that for each $A \subseteq H$ for a hypergroup H, we define $\check{A} = \{\check{x} : x \in A\}$.

Lemma 5.1.8. Let H be a hypergroup, K a compact subset of H and U an open subset of H such that $K \subset U$. Then for each relatively compact open set V such that $\overline{K * V * \check{V}} \subseteq U$, there exists some $u_V \in A(H) \cap C_c(H)$ such that:

- 1. $u_V(H) \ge 0$.
- 2. $u_V|_K = 1$.
- 3. $\operatorname{supp}(u_V) \subseteq U$.

4.
$$||u_V||_{A(H)} \le (h_H(K * V)/h_H(V))^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Proof. Let us define

$$u_V \coloneqq \frac{1}{h_H(V)} \mathbf{1}_{K*V} *_h \check{\mathbf{1}}_V.$$

Since, for every $x, t \in H$, $1_{K*V}(t)\check{1}_V(\delta_{\check{t}} * \delta_x) \ge 0$, $u_V \ge 0$. Moreover, for each $x \in K$,

$$\begin{aligned} h_H(V)u_V(x) &= 1_{K*V} *_h \check{1}_V(x) \\ &= \int_H 1_{K*V}(t)\check{1}_V(\delta_{\check{t}} * \delta_x)dh_H(t) \\ &= \int_H 1_{K*V}(t)1_V(\delta_{\check{x}} * \delta_t)dh_H(t) \\ &= \int_{t\in H} 1_{K*V}(\delta_x * \delta_t)1_V(t)dh_H(t) \quad (by [8, Theorem 1.3.21]) \\ &= \int_V \langle 1_{K*V}, \delta_x * \delta_t \rangle dh_H(t) \\ &= h_H(V). \end{aligned}$$

Also [8, Proposition 1.2.12] implies that

$$\operatorname{supp}(1_{K*V} *_h \check{1}_V) \subseteq \overline{\left(K * V * \check{V}\right)} \subseteq U$$

which implies that u_V has compact support, [8, Proposition 1.2.12]. Finally, by [60, Proposition 2.8], we know that

$$\|u_V\|_{A(H)} \leq \frac{\|1_{K*V}\|_2 \|1_V\|_2}{h_H(V)} = \frac{h_H(K*V)^{\frac{1}{2}}h_H(1_V)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{h_H(V)} = \frac{h_H(K*V)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{h_H(V)^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$

Remark 5.1.9. For each pair K, U such that $K \,\subset \, U$, we can always find a relatively compact neighborhood V of e_H that satisfies the conditions in Lemma 5.1.8. The existence is a result of continuity of the mapping $(x, y) \mapsto x * y$ with respect to the locally compact topology of $H \times H$ into the Michael topology on $\mathfrak{C}(H)$, (H3). Since H is locally compact, there exists some relatively compact open set W such that $K \subseteq W \subseteq \overline{W} \subseteq U$; $K \in \mathfrak{L}_{H \setminus \overline{W}}(W)$ as an open set in the Michael topology and consequently for each $x \in K$, $x * e \in \mathfrak{L}_{H \setminus \overline{W}}(W)$. Since, the mapping $e \to x * e$ is continuous, there is some neighborhood V_1^x of e such that for each $y \in V_1^x$, $x * y \in \mathfrak{L}_{H \setminus \overline{W}}(W)$ i.e. $x * y \subseteq W$ and $x * y \cap H \setminus \overline{W} = \emptyset$. Let us define

$$V^{(1)} = \cup_{x \in K} (V_1^x \cap \check{V}_1^x).$$

Clearly, $\check{V}^{(1)} = V^{(1)}$. Moreover,

$$K * V^{(1)} = \bigcup_{y \in V^{(1)}} \bigcup_{x \in K} x * y \subseteq \bigcup_{x \in K} x * V_1^x \subseteq W$$

and $K * V^{(1)} \cap H \setminus \overline{W} = \emptyset$ since $(x * y) \cap (H \setminus \overline{W}) = \emptyset$ for all $x \in K$ and $y \in V^{(1)}$. Now let us replace K by the compact set $\overline{K * V^{(1)}}$. Therefore, similar to the previous argument, for some relatively compact open set W' such that $\overline{K * V^{(1)}} \subseteq W' \subseteq \overline{W'} \subseteq U$, one may find some $V^{(2)}$ a neighborhood of e such that $V^{(2)} = \check{V}^{(2)}$, $\overline{K * V^{(1)}} * V^{(2)} \subseteq W'$, and $(\overline{K * V^{(1)}} * V^{(2)}) \cap (H \setminus \overline{W'}) = \emptyset$. Hence, for the relatively compact open set $V := V^{(1)} \cap V^{(2)}$, one gets that $V = \check{V}$ and

$$K * V * \check{V} \subseteq \overline{K * V^{(1)}} * V^{(2)} \subseteq \overline{W'}.$$

So $\overline{K * V * \check{V}} \subseteq U$.

Remark 5.1.10. Let H be a regular Fourier hypergroup. Then if $(e_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ is an approximate identity of A(H), for each compact set $K \subseteq H$, by Lemma 5.1.8, there is some $u_K \in A(H)$ such that $u_K | K \equiv 1$. Therefore, for each $x \in K$, and based on Proposition 5.1.1,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\alpha} |1 - e_{\alpha}(x)| &= \lim_{\alpha} |u_{K}(x) - u_{K}(x)e_{\alpha}(x)| \leq \lim_{\alpha} ||u_{K} - u_{K}e_{\alpha}||_{\infty} \\ &\leq \lim_{\alpha} ||u_{K} - u_{K}e_{\alpha}||_{A(H)} = 0. \end{split}$$

Therefore, $e_{\alpha} \rightarrow 1$ uniformly on compact subsets of H.

Remark 5.1.11. Let H be a discrete hypergroup. Then $\delta_x \in L^2(H)$ (and $\delta_x \neq 0$ almost everywhere); $\delta_x * \delta_e \in L^2(H) * L^2(H) \subseteq A(H)$. Hence, $c_c(H) \subseteq A(H)$ and equivalently, $A(H) \cap c_c(H) = c_c(H)$. Therefore, applying Proposition 5.1.1, $c_c(H)$ is dense in A(H). Moreover, if H is a regular Fourier hypergroup, as it is proven in [60, Theorem 5.13], the space of maximal ideals of the Banach algebra A(H) is homemorphic to H as a discrete topological set.

5.2 The dual of a compact group

Given a commutative hypergroup, it is not immediate that it is a regular Fourier hypergroup or not. We will show that when G is a compact group, the hypergroup \widehat{G} is a regular Fourier hypergroup.

Theorem 5.2.1. Let G be a compact group. Then \widehat{G} is a regular Fourier hypergroup and $A(\widehat{G})$, equipped with pointwise multiplication, is isometrically isomorphic with the center of the group algebra G, i.e. $A(\widehat{G}) \cong ZL^1(G)$.

Proof. Let \mathcal{F} be the Fourier transform on $L^1(G)$. By [23, Proposition 8.4.3], $\mathcal{F}|_{L^2(G)}$ is an isometric isomorphism from Banach space $L^2(G)$ onto $\mathcal{L}^2(\widehat{G})$. Recall that $ZL^2(G) = ZL^1(G) \cap$

 $L^{2}(G)$). By the properties of the Fourier transform, [23, Proposition 4.2], for each $f \in ZL^{2}(G)$, $g \in L^{1}(G)$, and $\pi \in \widehat{G}$ we have

$$\mathcal{F}(f)(\pi) \circ \mathcal{F}(g)(\pi) = \mathcal{F}(f * g)(\pi) = \mathcal{F}(g * f)(\pi) = \mathcal{F}(g)(\pi) \circ \mathcal{F}(f)(\pi).$$
(5.2.1)

So $\mathcal{F}(f)(\pi)$ commutes with all $\mathcal{F}(g)(\pi) \coloneqq \widehat{f}(\pi)$ for all $f \in L^1(G)$. Since π is an irreducible unitary representation into semisimple Banach algebra $\mathbb{M}_{d_{\pi}}(\mathbb{C})$; we conclude that $\mathcal{F}(f)(\pi) = \alpha_{\pi}I_{d_{\pi}}$ for some scalar $\alpha_{\pi} \in \mathbb{C}$ where $I_{d_{\pi}}$ is the identity matrix. Because π was arbitrary, it implies that $\mathcal{F}(f) = (\alpha_{\pi}I_{d_{\pi} \times d_{\pi}})_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$ for a family of scalars $(\alpha_{\pi})_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$ in \mathbb{C} . Hence, by (1.4.3),

$$\|f\|_{L^{2}(G)} = \|\mathcal{F}(f)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\widehat{G})}^{2} = \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} d_{\pi} \|\widehat{f}(\pi)\|_{\mathcal{S}_{2}}^{2} = \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} d_{\pi} \alpha_{\pi}^{2} \|I_{d_{\pi}}\|_{\mathcal{S}_{2}}^{2} = \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} \alpha_{\pi}^{2} d_{\pi}^{2} = \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} \alpha_{\pi}^{2} h(\pi).$$
(5.2.2)

Note that $\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi\in\widehat{G}}$ forms an orthonormal basis for $ZL^2(G)$ and $d_{\pi}\chi_{\pi}$ is a non-zero idempotent with respect to the convolution for every $\pi \in \widehat{G}$, [28]. Therefore $\mathcal{F}(d_{\pi}\chi_{\pi})(\pi)$ is the only non-zero idempotent of the center $\mathbb{M}_{d_{\pi}}(\mathbb{C})$ i.e. $I_{d_{\pi}}$. Hence $\widehat{\chi}_{\pi}(\pi) = d_{\pi}^{-1}I_{d_{\pi}}$ and $\widehat{\chi}_{\pi}(\sigma) = 0$ for all $\sigma \neq \pi$. Similarly, $\mathcal{F}(\chi_{\pi}) = d_{\pi}^{-1}I_{d_{\pi}}$. Let us define $\overline{f}(x) \coloneqq \overline{f(x)}$; hence, $\overline{\chi}_{\pi} = \chi_{\overline{\pi}}$. Using (5.2.2), we define $\mathcal{T} : \operatorname{span}\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi\in\widehat{G}} \to c_c(\widehat{G})$ by $\mathcal{T}(\chi_{\pi}) = d_{\pi}^{-1}\delta_{\pi}$. So,

$$\mathcal{T}(\overline{\chi}_{\pi}) = \mathcal{T}(\chi_{\overline{\pi}}) = d_{\overline{\pi}}^{-1} \delta_{\overline{\pi}} = d_{\overline{\pi}}^{-1} \check{\delta}_{\pi} = \mathcal{T}(\chi_{\pi}).$$

Note that span $\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi\in\widehat{G}}$ is dense in $ZL^2(G)$ and

$$\|d_{\pi}\chi_{\pi}\|_{L^{2}(G)} = d_{\pi} = h(\pi)^{1/2} = \|\delta_{\pi}\|_{L^{2}(\widehat{G},h)}, \ [28].$$

Furthermore, for each $f \in \operatorname{span}\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$ say $f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \chi_{\pi_i}$ for some $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{C}$ and $\pi_i \in \widehat{G}$, one may apply (5.2.2) to observe that $||f||_{L^2(G)} = ||\mathcal{T}(f)||_{\mathcal{L}^2(G)}$. So, since \mathcal{T} acts as an isometry on $\operatorname{span}\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$; moreover, since $c_c(\widehat{G})$ is dense in $L^2(\widehat{G}, h)$ and $\operatorname{span}\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$ is dense in $ZL^2(G)$ (see [28, Chapter 5]), \mathcal{T} can be extended as a mapping from $ZL^2(G)$ onto $L^2(\widehat{G}, h)$ which is an isometrically isomorphism and takes complex conjugate to the involution.

We claim that $\mathcal{T}(f\overline{g}) = \mathcal{T}(f) *_h \mathcal{T}(g)$ for all $f, g \in ZL^2(G)$. To prove our claim it is enough to show that $\mathcal{T}(\chi_{\pi_1}\chi_{\pi_2}) = \mathcal{T}(\chi_{\pi_1}) *_h \mathcal{T}(\chi_{\pi_2})$ for $\pi_1, \pi_2 \in \widehat{G}$. Using Lemma 1.1.6 and (3.2.2), for each two representations $\pi, \sigma \in \widehat{G}$, we have

$$\mathcal{T}(\chi_{\pi}\chi_{\sigma}) = \mathcal{T}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma}\chi_{\pi_{i}}\right)$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma}\mathcal{T}(\chi_{\pi_{i}})$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} m_{i}^{\pi,\sigma}d_{\pi_{i}}^{-1}\delta_{\pi_{i}}$$
$$= d_{\pi}^{-1}\delta_{\pi} *_{h} d_{\sigma}^{-1}\delta_{\sigma}$$
$$= \mathcal{T}(\chi_{\pi}) *_{h} \mathcal{T}(\chi_{\sigma})$$
Now we can define a surjective extension $\mathcal{T}: ZL^1(G) \to A(\widehat{G})$, using the fact that $\operatorname{span}\{\chi_\pi\}_{\pi\in\widehat{G}}$ is dense in $ZL^1(G)$ and $\|f\|_1 = \inf \|g_1\|_2 \|g_2\|_2$ for all $g_1, g_2 \in ZL^2(G)$ such that $f = g_1\overline{g_2}$ which are straightforward results. Using the definition of the norm of $A(\widehat{G})$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{T}(f)\|_{A(\widehat{G})} &= \inf\{\|\mathcal{T}(g_1)\|_{L^2(\widehat{G},h)} \|\mathcal{T}(g_2)\|_{L^2(\widehat{G},h)} : \ \mathcal{T}(f) = \mathcal{T}(g_1) * \mathcal{T}(g_2)\} \\ &= \inf\{\|g_1\|_{L^2(G)} \|g_2\|_{L^2(G)} : \ f = g_1\overline{g_2}\} = \|f\|_1 \end{aligned}$$

for each $f \in ZL^1(G)$. To show that the extension of \mathcal{T} is onto, for each pair $g_1, g_2 \in ZL^2(G)$, we note that $g_1 \tilde{g}_2 \in ZL^1(G)$.

So, \mathcal{T} is an isometric isomorphism between Banach spaces. Hence, $A(\widehat{G})$ is a Banach algebra with the product which is carried through the mapping \mathcal{T} . In the remaining we show that this product is actually the pointwise multiplication of functions in $A(\widehat{G})$ by using this fact that $\operatorname{span}\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi\in\widehat{G}}$ is dense in $ZL^{1}(G)$ and $\mathcal{T}(d_{\pi}\chi_{\pi}) = \delta_{\pi}$, [28, Proposition 5.25]. Recall that for each pair $\pi, \sigma \in \widehat{G}$,

$$d_{\pi}\chi_{\pi} * d_{\sigma}\chi_{\sigma} = \begin{cases} d_{\pi}\chi_{\pi} & \pi = \sigma \\ 0 & \pi \neq \sigma \end{cases}$$

by Proposition 1.4.2. On the other hand,

$$\delta_{\pi}\delta_{\sigma} = \begin{cases} \delta_{\pi} & \pi = \sigma \\ 0 & \pi \neq \sigma \end{cases}$$

Since span $\{\delta_{\pi}\}_{\pi\in\widehat{G}}$ is dense in $A(\widehat{G})$, the algebraic action of $A(\widehat{G})$, inherited from $ZL^1(G)$ through \mathcal{T} , is corresponding to the pointwise multiplication of $A(\widehat{G})$. So one may conclude that $\left(A(\widehat{G}), \cdot, \|\cdot\|_{A(\widehat{G})}\right) \cong \left(ZL^1(G), *, \|\cdot\|_1\right).$

Remark 5.2.2. For a compact group G, we define $ZA(G) \coloneqq A(G) \cap ZL^1(G)$. It is straightforward to check that

$$ZA(G) = \{ f \in A(G) : f(yxy^{-1}) = f(x) \text{ for all } x, y \in G \}.$$

Furthermore, ZA(G) forms a subalgebra of A(G) with respect to the pointwise multiplication.

Theorem 5.2.3. Let G be a compact group. Then the hypergroup algebra of \widehat{G} , $L^1(\widehat{G},h)$, is isometrically isomorphic with the Banach algebra ZA(G).

Proof. Note that the Fourier transform \mathcal{F} is an isometric isomorphism from Banach space A(G) onto Banach space $\mathcal{L}^1(\widehat{G})$, [23, Theorem 8.4.16]. Since G is a compact group $A(G) \subseteq L^1(G)$;

therefore, for each $f \in ZA(G)$ and $g \in L^1(G)$, f * g = g * f; $f \in ZL^1(G)$. By an argument similar to the one after (5.2.1), for each $\pi \in \widehat{G}$, $\widehat{f}(\pi) = \alpha_{\pi} I_{\pi}$ for some $\alpha_{\pi} \in \mathbb{C}$ such that, by (1.4.2),

$$\|f\|_{A(G)} = \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} d_{\pi} |\alpha_{\pi}| \|I_{\pi}\|_{\mathcal{S}_{1}} = \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} \alpha_{\pi} d_{\pi}^{2}$$
$$= \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} \alpha_{\pi} h(\pi) = \|\mathcal{T}(f)\|_{L^{1}(\widehat{G})}.$$

So $\mathcal{T}|_{ZA(G)}$ is an isometry into $L^1(\widehat{G},h)$.

Conversely, for each $g = (\alpha_{\pi})_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} \in c_c(\widehat{G})$, define $\phi_g = (\alpha_{\pi}I_{\pi})_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} \in \mathcal{L}^1(\widehat{G})$. Since $\mathcal{F} : A(G) \to \mathcal{L}^1(\widehat{G})$ is surjective, by [23, Definition 8.4.12], for such a ϕ_g , there exists some $f \in \text{span}\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} \subseteq A(G) \cap ZL^1(G)$ such that $\mathcal{F}(f) = \phi_g$; hence, $\mathcal{T}(f) = g \in c_c(\widehat{G}) \subseteq L^1(\widehat{G})$. Applying this fact that \mathcal{T} is an isometric mapping and $c_c(\widehat{G})$ is dense in $L^1(\widehat{G}), \mathcal{T}$ is a surjective mapping. Note that this argument consequently implies that $\text{span}\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$ is dense in ZA(G).

We claim that \mathcal{T} is an algebra isomorphism. To prove our claim, we just note that

$$\mathcal{T}(\chi_{\pi_1}\chi_{\pi_2}) = \mathcal{T}(\sum_{i=1}^n m_i \chi_{\sigma_i}) = \sum_{i=1}^n m_i d_{\sigma_i}^{-1} \delta_{\sigma_i} = d_{\pi_1}^{-1} \delta_{\pi_1} *_h d_{\pi_2}^{-1} \delta_{\pi_2} = \mathcal{T}(\chi_{\pi_1}) *_h \mathcal{T}(\chi_{\pi_2}).$$

One may extend it to the whole ZA(G), using this fact that span $\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi\in\widehat{G}}$ is dense in ZA(G). \Box

Although the following corollary is a well-known result, we mention it here since we apply it more often in the next section. Besides the classic proof, it may be implied by the argument in the proof of Theorem 5.2.3.

Corollary 5.2.4. Let G be a compact group. Then ZA(G) is the closure of span $\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$.

5.3 Amenability of ZA(G)

First let us briefly mention some results from [36, (29.25)] which characterize group characters of SU(2). In this section, we present the torus \mathbb{T} by the interval $[0, 2\pi]$ where each $\theta \in [0, 2\pi]$ represents $e^{i\theta}$.

Let $u \in SU(2)$. There is a matrix $a \in SU(2)$ such that

$$a^{-1}ua = \begin{bmatrix} e^{i\theta} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-i\theta} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.3.1)

for some $\theta \in [0, 2\pi]$. As we saw in Example 3.2.2, the irreducible unitary representations of SU(2) can be represented by π_{ℓ} where $\ell \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^+ := \{0, 1/2, 1, 3/2, 2, ...\}$. Also for each $\chi_{\pi_{\ell}}$ the group character generated by the representation $\pi_{\ell}, \chi_{\pi_{\ell}}(a^{-1}ua) = \chi_{\pi_{\ell}}(u)$. So, we will know χ_{ℓ} if

we compute it on the matrices of the form (5.3.1) for each $\theta \in [0, 2\pi]$. To facilitate the writing, we denote $\chi_{\pi_{\ell}}(u)$ for some *u* corresponding to θ by $\chi_{\ell}(\theta)$.

By [36, (29.25)], the irreducible group characters of SU(2) represented by $\{\chi_k\}_{k \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^+}$ can be characterized by the functions¹

$$\chi_k(\theta) = \begin{cases} \frac{\sin((2k+1)\theta)}{\sin(\theta)} & \theta \in (0,\pi) \cup (\pi,2\pi) \\ (2k+1)e^{2i\theta k} & \theta = 0,\pi \end{cases}$$
(5.3.2)

where $k \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^+$ and $\theta \in \mathbb{T}$.

For each $f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \chi_{k_j} \in \lim \{\chi_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0}$, by (1.4.2) and (1.4.1),

$$\|f\|_{A(SU(2))} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{k_j} |\alpha_j| \|\widehat{\chi}_{k_j}(\pi_{k_j})\|_{\mathcal{S}_1} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{k_j} |\alpha_j| \|d_{k_j}^{-1} I_{\pi_{k_j}}\|_{\mathcal{S}_1} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\alpha_j| (2k_j + 1).$$
(5.3.3)

Let us define a mapping $\mathcal{I} : \lim \{\chi_k\}_{\mathbb{N}_0} \to C^1(\mathbb{T})$ to be the restriction map to the the torus \mathbb{T} as defined in (5.3.2) where $C^1(\mathbb{T})$ denotes the set of all differentiable functions on \mathbb{T} . We claim that \mathcal{I} can be extended to a continuous mapping on ZA(SU(2)). Doing so, it is enough to show that $\mathcal{I}(ZA(SU(2))) \subseteq A(\mathbb{T})$ where $A(\mathbb{T})$ is the Fourier algebra of the torus.

Proving our claim about \mathcal{I} , note that for each $k \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^+$ and $\theta \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \{0, \pi\}$,

$$\mathcal{I}(\chi_k)(\theta) = \frac{\sin((2k+1)\theta)}{\sin(\theta)} = \frac{e^{i(2k+1)\theta} - e^{-i(2k+1)\theta}}{e^{i\theta} - e^{-i\theta}} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{2k} e^{i(2k-2\ell)\theta} = \sum_{\ell=-2k}^{2k} e^{i\ell\theta}.$$

A similar argument works for $\theta = 0, \pi$ as well. Note that by (1.4.2),

$$\|\mathcal{I}(\chi_k)\|_{A(\mathbb{T})} = \|\theta \mapsto \sum_{\ell=-2k}^{2k} e^{i\ell\theta}\|_{A(\mathbb{T})} = \sum_{\ell=-2k}^{2k} 1 = (2k+1).$$

Therefore, $\|\mathcal{I}(\chi_k)\|_{A(\mathbb{T})} = d_k$ which is equal to $\|\chi_k\|_{A(SU(2))}$. For each $f \in \lim\{\chi_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ say $f = \sum_{j=0}^n \alpha_j \chi_j$,

$$\|f\|_{A(SU(2))} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{n} |\alpha_{\ell}| (2\ell+1) \ge \|\mathcal{I}(f)\|_{A(\mathbb{T})}.$$

Hence, one may extend \mathcal{I} as a continuous linear mapping from ZA(SU(2)) into $A(\mathbb{T})$. Note that \mathcal{I} is the restriction mapping on \mathbb{T} ; therefore, $\mathcal{I}(fg) = \mathcal{I}(f)\mathcal{I}(g)$ for all $f, g \in ZA(SU(2))$. Furthermore, if for some $f \in ZA(SU(2)), \mathcal{I}(f) = 0$, it means that for each conjugacy class C of $SU(2), f(C) = 0; f \equiv 0$. So \mathcal{I} is injective. We denote the image of \mathcal{I} here by $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{I}}$.

¹Applying this representation of the elements of SU(2) with respect to their eigenvalues as elements in $[0, 2\pi]$, each conjugacy class will be represented twice by the angle θ . But since, we want to study ZA(SU(2)) as functions restricted on \mathbb{T} as the maximal torus of SU(2), we rely on this representation.

Remark 5.3.1. One may show that \mathcal{I} is not surjective to the closure of its image, $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{I}}$. If \mathcal{I} is surjective, since it is one to one as well, \mathcal{I}^{-1} should form a bounded mapping from $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{I}}$ into ZA(SU(2)). But note that on one hand for each $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$; $\|\chi_k - \chi_{k-1}\|_{ZA(SU(2))} = (2k+1)+(2k-1) = 4k$. On the other hand, $\|\mathcal{I}(\chi_k - \chi_{k-1})\|_{A(\mathbb{T})} = \|e^{i2k\theta} + e^{-i2k\theta}\|_{A(\mathbb{T})} = 2$. Therefore, \mathcal{I} cannot be invertible and $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{I}}$ is not a closed subalgebra of $A(\mathbb{T})$.

Proposition 5.3.2. ZA(SU(2)) is not (weakly) amenable.

Proof. Let us consider $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{I}} \coloneqq \mathcal{I}(ZA(SU(2)) \subseteq C^1(\mathbb{T}))$ the restriction of the functions in ZA(SU(2))on the maximal torus. We will prove the existence of a non-zero continuous point derivation on $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{I}}$. For $\theta \in (0, \pi)$, one may define $D_{\theta} \colon \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{I}} \to \mathbb{C}$ where D_{θ} is the point derivation on functions of $C^1(\mathbb{T})$ evaluated at θ . Therefore

$$D_{\theta}(\chi_{k}) = \sum_{\ell=-2k}^{2k} i\ell e^{i\ell\theta} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{2k} i\ell e^{i\ell\theta} - i\ell e^{-i\ell\theta} = -2\sum_{\ell=1}^{2k} \ell \sin(\ell\theta)$$
$$= \frac{2}{4\sin^{2}(\theta/2)} (2k\sin((2k+1)\theta) - (2k+1)\sin(2k\theta)).$$

Moreover, D_{θ} is non zero, for example $D_{\pi/2}(\chi_{1/2}) = -2$; further,

$$|D_{\theta}(\chi_k)| \leq \frac{1}{\sin^2(\theta/2)} (2k+1) = \frac{1}{\sin^2(\theta/2)} ||\chi_k||_{A(SU(2))}.$$

One may apply (5.3.3) to verify that for each $f = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \chi_{k_j} \in \lim \{\chi_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0}$,

$$|D_{\theta}(f)| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{|\alpha_{j}|}{\sin^{2}(\theta/2)} \|\chi_{k}\|_{A(SU(2))} = \frac{1}{\sin^{2}(\theta/2)} \|f\|_{A(SU(2))}$$

which implies that D_{θ} can be extended as a norm bounded linear map on ZA(SU(2)), because $\lim \{\chi_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ is dense in ZA(G). Hence, D_{θ} is a non-zero bounded derivation on $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{I}}$, so $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{I}}$ is not weakly amenable.

Remark 5.3.3. Let SO(3) be the compact Lie group of 3×3 special orthogonal group. SO(3) actually forms the set all of rotations in \mathbb{R}^3 which preserves the length and orientation. In fact, there is a two-to-one continuous homomorphism τ from SU(2) onto SO(3) such that $Ker(\tau) = \{\pm I\}$, [36, Theorem 29.36]. For

$$u_{\theta} \coloneqq \left[\begin{array}{cc} e^{i\theta} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{-i\theta} \end{array} \right] \quad \theta \in [0, 2\pi]$$

one gets that

$$\tau(u_{\theta}) = \begin{bmatrix} \cos(2\theta) & -\sin 2\theta & 0\\ \sin(2\theta) & \cos(2\theta) & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Applying τ , one may show that for every integer $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+ := \{0, 1, 2, \cdots\}$, there is a representation $\pi_{\ell} \in \widehat{SO(3)}$ and vice versa. Moreover, for all $\ell, \ell' \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ ($\ell \ge \ell'$), $\pi_{\ell} \otimes \pi_{\ell'}$ is equivalent to $\pi_{\ell-\ell'} \oplus \pi_{\ell-\ell'+1} \oplus \cdots \oplus \pi_{\ell+\ell'}$. Moreover, $\chi_{\ell}(u_{\theta})$ is defined exactly as one defined χ_{ℓ} on θ in (5.3.2). So one may rewrite this section for SO(3) and all the results would be still valid. Specially, ZA(SO(3)) is not (weakly) amenable.

In the remaining, we prove that not only are ZA(SO(3)) and ZA(SU(2)) not (weakly) amenable, but also for fro a wider class of compact groups G, ZA(G) cannot be (weakly) amenable.

To prove the main result of this section, we need to prove a few results first. Although the following proposition is known for the experts, because of completeness we prove it here.

Proposition 5.3.4. Let G be a compact group. Then the space of maximal ideals of ZA(G)is homeomorphic to Conj(G) equipped with the quotient topology of G through the mapping $\iota: G \to Conj(G)$ where $x \mapsto C_x$. Moreover, ZA(G) separates conjugacy classes of G i.e. for $C, D \in Conj(G), C \neq D$, there is some $f \in ZA(G)$ such that f(C) = 0 and f(D) = 1.

Proof. Clearly for each $C \in \text{Conj}(G)$, $\psi_C : ZA(G) \to \mathbb{C}$ forms a multiplicative bounded functional on ZA(G) where $\psi_C(f) = f(x)$ for some $x \in C$. Hence, $\text{Ker }\psi_C$ is a maximal ideal space of ZA(G).

Conversely, for each $\phi \in \sigma(ZA(G))$ and $f \in \operatorname{Ker} \phi$, f is not invertible. Theorem 3.6.15 and Theorem 3.7.1 of [66] imply that for a commutative regular Banach algebra \mathcal{A} and a closed subset E of $\sigma(\mathcal{A})$ equipped with the Gelfand spectrum topology, if $a \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $|\varphi(a)| \ge \delta > 0$ for every $\varphi \in E$, then there exists some $a' \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $\varphi(aa') = 1$ for every $\varphi \in E$. In particular, this applies to $E = \sigma(\mathcal{A})$. It is known that A(G) is a commutative regular Banach algebra and its Gelfand spectrum is homeomorphic to G.

Now assume that $f(x) \neq 0$ for all $x \in G$; therefore, f as an element in A(G) is invertible i.e. there exists some $f' \in A(G)$ such that ff'(x) = 1 for all $x \in G$. Clearly since f is a class function so is $f'; f' \in ZA(G)$ which violates our assumption. Therefore, f(x) = 0 for some $x \in G$. Therefore, Ker $\phi \subseteq \text{Ker } \psi_{C_x}$ as two maximal ideals. So, $\phi = \psi_{C_x}$.

Let us note that for each $f \in A(G)$, $L_y R_y f(x) = f(y^{-1}xy)$ also belongs to A(G). Therefore, we may get a Bochner integral of $L_y R_y f$ for all $y \in G$; consequently, $P : A(G) \to ZA(G)$ where

$$P(f)(x) = \int_G f(y^{-1}xy)dy.$$

For $x \in G$, note that $C_x \in \text{Conj}(G)$ is the image of the compact set G through the continuous mapping $y \mapsto yxy^{-1}$; C_x is a compact and hence closed subset of G. Applying regularity of the Banach algebra A(G), for each $C, D \in \text{Conj}(G)$ where $C \neq D$, there is some $f \in A(G)$ such that $f(C) \equiv 1$ and $f(D) \equiv 0$. The existence of such a f is proven in [26, Lemma 3.2], since the conjugacy classes are closed as mentioned. Hence, $P(f)(C) \equiv 1$ and P(f)(D) = 0 when $\lambda(G) = 1$.

Let $\Psi : \operatorname{Conj}(G) \to \sigma(ZA(G))$ be the mapping such that $\Psi(C) = \psi_C$. Ψ is an onto mapping. In the following we demonstrate that Ψ is a homeomorphism where $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ is equipped with the quotient topology of G through the mapping $\iota : G \to \operatorname{Conj}(G)$ where $x \mapsto C_x$. By [59, Theorem 22.2], for each $f \in ZA(G)$ as a continuous class function, f can be regarded as a function in $C(\operatorname{Conj}(G))$; consequently the quotient topology of $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ is finer that the Gelfand topology $\sigma(ZA(G))$. Note that $\sigma(ZA(G))$ is compact, because ZA(G) is a unital algebra. Therefore, $\Psi : \sigma(ZA(G)) \to \operatorname{Conj}(G)$ forms a continuous bijection from a compact space to another compact space; hence, Ψ^{-1} is continuous.

The following theorem is the main result of this section.

Theorem 5.3.5. Let G be a compact group such that G_e , the connected component of the identity, is not abelian. Then ZA(G) is not weakly amenable.

Proof. Since G_e is not abelian, by a result in the proof of Theorem 2.1 in [29], G_e has a closed subgroup H such that is isomorphic to the topological group SU(2) or SO(3).

For each $f \in A(G)$, let $\iota_H(f)$ denotes the restriction of the function f to the subgroup H. As it was proven in [20], for the closed subgroup H of G, $\iota_H(A(G)) = A(H)$; further, $\|\iota_H(f)\|_{A(H)} \leq \|f\|_{A(G)}$. Therefore, $ZA(G)|_H \subseteq A(H)$ where $ZA(G)|_H = \iota_H(ZA(G))$.

Moreover, for each $f \in ZA(G)$, $f(xyx^{-1}) = f(y)$ for all $x, y \in G$. So for each $x, y \in H$, $f(xyx^{-1}) = f(y)$. In other words, $f|_H$ is a class function on H as well. Hence $ZA(G)|_H \subseteq ZA(H)$.

For each $\pi \in \widehat{G}$, note that $\pi|_H$ is a unitary representation and it may be decomposed applying finitely many representations $\sigma_i \in \widehat{H}$ such that $\pi|_H = \bigoplus_{i=1}^n m_i \sigma_i$; hence,

$$\chi_{\pi}(y) = \operatorname{Tr}(\pi|_{H}(y)) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} m_{i}\chi_{\sigma_{i}}(y) \text{ for all } y \in H,$$

where m_i denotes the number of redundant of each representation σ_i in the irreducible decomposition of $\pi|_H$. Hence, $\chi_{\pi}|_H \in \lim\{\chi_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma \in \widehat{H}}$.

If for each $\pi \in \widehat{G}$, χ_{π} is a constant function on H; therefore, $\lim \{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$ and consequently ZA(G) are also constant on H. In this case, Proposition 5.3.4 implies that H is contained in just one conjugacy class of G i.e. $H = \{e\}$. Hence, there is some $\pi \in \widehat{H}$ such that $\chi_{\pi}|_{H} (= \iota_{H}(\chi_{\pi}))$ is not a constant function on H; $\chi_{\pi}|_{H} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \alpha_{k} \chi_{k}$ for $n \in \mathbb{K}$ where $\mathbb{K} = \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^{+} (= \{0, 1/2, 1, \cdots\})$ if

H = SU(2) or $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{Z}^+ (= \{0, 1, \cdots\})$ if H = SO(3), $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{C}$, and $\{\chi_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{K}}$ are the group characters of H. Note that $\alpha_k \neq 0$ for at least one k > 0. Therefore, for the restriction mapping \mathcal{I} defined earlier, we get that $\mathcal{I}(\chi_k) \in A(\mathbb{T})$ is not a constant function on \mathbb{T} (because all constant functions in $A(\mathbb{T})$ are the elements of the subalgebra generated by the constant function 1, by [28, Proposition 5.23], and clearly $\mathcal{I}(\chi_k)$ does not belong to that subalgebra while $\alpha_k \neq 0$ for some k > 0). Therefore,

$$\mathcal{I}(\chi_{\pi}|H)(\theta) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \alpha_{k} \mathcal{I}(\chi_{k})(\theta) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \alpha_{k} \sum_{\ell=-2k}^{2k} e^{i\ell\theta} \in \lim\{\chi_{k}\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{+}/2} \quad (\theta \in \mathbb{T})$$

is not a constant function on \mathbb{T} . Hence, there is some $\theta \in (0, \pi)$ such that $D_{\theta}(\chi_{\pi}|H) \neq 0$ for the continuous point derivation D_{θ} defined in the proof of Proposition 5.3.2. Note that $\|\iota_H(f)\|_{A(H)} \leq \|f\|_{A(G)}$ for all $f \in ZA(G)$; hence, $D_{\theta} \circ \iota_H$ forms a non-zero bounded derivation on ZA(G) and therefore, ZA(G), as a commutative algebra, is not weakly amenable. \Box

Question. In [29], it was proved that the Fourier algebra of a compact group G is weakly amenable if and only if G_e is abelian. Theorem 5.3.5 shows that for such a G one side of such a result holds for ZA(G) as well. One may conjecture that the other side can be proven for ZA(G) as well where G_e is abelian.

CHAPTER 6

FØLNER TYPE CONDITIONS ON HYPERGROUPS

6.1 Amenability properties of regular Fourier hypergroups

Amenability of hypergroups has different levels. The concept of amenability can be defined on hypergroups as the existence of a left invariant mean, analogous to groups. In this sense lots of hypergroups that we know are amenable, say all commutative hypergroups and compact hypergroups. This notion of amenability was mainly studied in [70]. In that paper, the author also showed that the amenability of a hypergroup is equivalent to the property (P_1) which is defined in the following. In this chapter, we introduce more amenability properties of hypergroups and study them.

6.1.1 Følner type conditions on Hypergroups

Amenable locally compact groups are characterized by a variety of properties including Følner type conditions. These conditions have been studied extensively, [25, 54]. Not only have Følner conditions attracted attention for locally compact groups, but Følner conditions have also been interesting and useful in the study of semigroups, [73]. They relate the concept of "amenability" to the structure of the group or semigroup. In this section, we look at a generalization of Følner type conditions over hypergroups.

In [2], I introduced the Leptin condition for hypergroups. Here, we define more Følner type conditions for hypergroups and we study their relations. To recall, for each two subsets A and B of some set X, we denote their symmetric difference, $(A \setminus B) \cup (B \setminus A)$, by $A \triangle B$.

Definition 6.1.1. Let *H* be a hypergroup and $D \ge 1$ an integer. We define the following properties:

(*L_D*) We say that *H* satisfies the *D*-Leptin condition if for every compact subset *K* of *H* and $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a measurable set *V* in *H* such that $0 < h(V) < \infty$ and $h(K * V)/h(V) < D + \epsilon$.

- (F) We say that H satisfies the Følner condition if for every compact subset K of H and $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a measurable set V in H such that $0 < h(V) < \infty$ and $h(x * V \triangle V)/h(V) < \epsilon$ for every $x \in K$.
- (SF) We say that H satisfies the Strong Følner condition if for every compact subset K of H and $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a measurable set V in H such that $0 < h(V) < \infty$ and $h(K * V \triangle V)/h(V) < \epsilon$.

Remark 6.1.2. If a hypergroup H satisfies the 1-Leptin condition, H is said to satisfy the *Leptin condition* as defined in [2, Definition 4.1]. From now on, we may use the Leptin condition instead of the 1-Leptin condition and we denote it by (L).

Proposition 6.1.3. For every compact hypergroup H, H satisfies all conditions (SF), (F), and (L).

Proof. The proof is a direct result of finiteness of the Haar measure on compact hypergroups, [8], by replacing V = H for all conditions in Definition 6.1.1.

Remark 6.1.4. In Definition 6.1.1 of the Leptin condition, (L_D) , we can suppose that V is compact. To show this fact suppose that H satisfies the D-Leptin condition. For compact subset K of H and $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a measurable set V such that $h(K * V)/h(V) < D + \epsilon$. Using regularity of h, as a measure, for each positive integer n, we can find compact set $V_1 \subseteq V$ such that $h(V \setminus V_1) < h(V)/n$. This implies that $0 < h(V_1)$ and $h(V)/h(V_1) < n/(n-1)$. Therefore

$$\frac{h(K*V_1)}{h(V_1)} \le \frac{h(V)}{h(V_1)} \left(\frac{h(K*V_1)}{h(V)}\right) < \frac{n}{n-1}(D+\epsilon).$$

So we can add compactness of V to the definition of the Leptin condition.

Proposition 6.1.5. For every hypergroup H, (SF) implies (L).

Proof. For a compact set K and $\epsilon > 0$, let V be a measurable set such that $h(K * V \triangle V) < \epsilon h(V)$. Hence

$$\frac{h(K*V)}{h(V)} - 1 \leq \frac{h(K*V) - h(V)}{h(V)}$$
$$\leq \frac{h(K*V) + h(V) - 2h((K*V) \cap V)}{h(V)}$$
$$= \frac{h((K*V) \triangle V)}{h(V)} < \epsilon.$$

•	_	_	_
L			
L			
L			

Proposition 6.1.6. For every discrete hypergroup H, (F) implies (SF). And consequently, (F) implies (L).

Proof. We should just show that $(F) \Rightarrow (SF)$ the rest is obtained by Proposition 6.1.5. Let K be a compact subset of H. Since for discrete hypergroups, each compact set is finite, we may suppose that $K = \{x_i\}_{i=1}^n$. Therefore, for $\epsilon > 0$ there is a finite set V such that 0 < h(V) and

$$\frac{h((x * V) \bigtriangleup V)}{h(V)} < \frac{\epsilon}{|K|} \quad (x \in K)$$

So

$$\frac{h((\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} x_i) * V \bigtriangleup V)}{h(V)} = \frac{h(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} (x_i * V) \bigtriangleup V)}{h(V)}$$
$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{h(x_i * V \bigtriangleup V)}{h(V)} = \epsilon.$$

The last inequality is a result of the following fact about arbitrary sets B_1, B_2, C :

$$((B_1 \cup B_2) \triangle C) \subseteq (B_1 \triangle C)) \cup (B_2 \triangle C)).$$

Remark 6.1.7. If *H* is a locally compact group, all the conditions (*F*), (*SF*), and (*L*) are equivalent and they equal the amenability of the group *H*. If one tries to adapt the rest of relations of (*F*), (*SF*), and (*L*) from the group case, [63], one may notice that in almost all of the arguments, the inclusion $x(A \setminus B) \subseteq xA \setminus xB$ is crucially applied where *A*, *B* are subsets of the group *H* and *x* is one arbitrary element.¹ But this inclusion does not necessarily hold for a general hypergroup. As an example, one may consider $A := \{\pi_0, \pi_{\frac{1}{2}}, \ldots, \pi_{k-\frac{1}{2}}, \pi_k\}$ and $B := \{\pi_0, \pi_{\frac{1}{2}}, \ldots, \pi_{k-\frac{1}{2}}\}$ as two subsets of $\widehat{SU(2)}$ for some $k \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^+$ (see Example 3.2.2). Therefore, one gets $\pi_k * A = \{0, \pi_{1/2}, \ldots, \pi_{2k}\}$ and $\pi_k * B = \{\pi_0, \pi_{1/2}, \ldots, \pi_{2k-\frac{1}{2}}\}$; hence, $(\pi_k * A) \setminus (\pi_k * B) = \{\pi_0, \pi_{2k}\}$. But $\pi_k * (A \setminus B) = \pi_k * \pi_k = \{\pi_0, \pi_1, \ldots, \pi_{2k-1}, \pi_{2k}\}$.

6.1.2 The existence of a bounded approximate identity of Fourier algebra

For a regular Fourier hypergroup H, we denote the existence of a $\|\cdot\|_{A(H)}$ -bounded approximate identity by some $D \ge 1$ by (B_D) and we call it D-bounded approximate identity.

Theorem 6.1.8. Let H be a regular Fourier hypergroup which satisfies the D-Leptin condition. Then A(H) has a D-bounded approximate identity.

¹Note that in general the equality holds, but this side of the inclusion suffices.

Proof. Fix $\epsilon > 0$. Using the *D*-Leptin condition on *H*, for every arbitrary non-void compact set *K* in *H*, we can find a measurable subset V_K of *H* with $0 < h(V_K) < \infty$ such that $h(K * V_K)/h(V_K) < D^2(1 + \epsilon)^2$. Define

$$v_K \coloneqq \frac{1}{h(V_K)} \mathbf{1}_{K \star V_K} \star_h \tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{V_K}$$

As in the proof of Lemma 5.1.8, we have $||v_K||_{A(H)} < D(1 + \epsilon)$ and $v_K|_K \equiv 1$. We consider the net

 $\{a_{\epsilon,K}: K \subseteq H \text{ compact, and } 0 < \epsilon < 1\}$

in A(H) where $a_{\epsilon,K} := (1+\epsilon)^{-1}v_K$ and $a_{\epsilon_1,K_1} \leq a_{\epsilon_2,K_2}$ whenever $\operatorname{supp}(v_{K_1}) \subseteq K_2$ and $\epsilon_2 < \epsilon_1$. So $(a_{\epsilon,K})_{K \subseteq H, 0 < \epsilon < 1}$ forms a $\|\cdot\|_{A(H)}$ -norm *D*-bounded net in $A(H) \cap C_c(H)$. Let $f \in A(H) \cap C_c(H)$ with $K_0 = \operatorname{supp} f$. Then $v_K f = f$ where $K_0 \subseteq K$. Therefore

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \lim_{K_0 \subseteq K \to H} \|a_{\epsilon,K}f - f\|_{A(H)} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|\frac{f}{1+\epsilon} - f\|_{A(H)} = \|f\|_{A(H)} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{\epsilon}{1+\epsilon} = 0$$

Since, by Proposition 5.1.1, $A(H) \cap C_c(H)$ is dense in A(H), $(a_{\epsilon,K})_{0 < \epsilon < 1, K \subseteq H}$ is a *D*-bounded approximate identity of A(H).

Remark 6.1.9. Let G be a compact group. Then the Fourier algebra of \widehat{G} , $A(\widehat{G})$, is algebraically isometrically isomorphic to $ZL^1(G)$, by Theorem 5.2.1. Also since every compact group G is a SIN-group, [35], $ZL^1(G)$ always has a 1-bounded approximate identity. Therefore, $A(\widehat{G})$ has a 1-bounded approximate identity.

6.1.3 Reiter condition

In [70, Theorem 4.1], it was shown that the amenability of a hypergroup is equivalent to the property (P_1) which is defined as follows.

Definition 6.1.10. [70, p32]

We say that H satisfies (P_r) , r = 1 or 2, if whenever $\epsilon > 0$ and a compact set $E \subseteq H$ are given, then there exists $f \in L^r(H)$, $f \ge 0$, $||f||_r = 1$ such that

$$\|\delta_x * f - f\|_r < \epsilon \quad x \in E.$$

We say that K satisfies the *Reiter condition* if it has property (P_1) .

[70, Theorem 4.3] showed that (P_2) implies (P_1) . Furthermore, for every hypergroup H, (P_1) is equivalent to the amenability of H, [70, Theorem 4.1].

Example 6.1.11. Every commutative or compact hypergroup H, as an amenable hypergroup, satisfies condition (P_1) , see [70].

We rely on the following lemma which is from [70] to characterize (P_2) .

Lemma 6.1.12. [70, Lemma 4.4]

Let H be a hypergroup. Then H satisfies (P_2) if and only if there is a net $(f_\alpha)_\alpha \subseteq L^2(H)$ such that $||f_\alpha||_2 = 1$ and $f_\alpha * \tilde{f}_\alpha$ converges to 1 uniformly on compact subsets of H.

Remark 6.1.13. Note that by Lemma 6.1.12, (P_2) implies the existence of a net (g_α) (in the form of $g_\alpha := f_\alpha \star \tilde{f}_\alpha$) which belongs to A(H) while, by Theorem 5.1.2, $\|g_\alpha\|_{A(H)} \leq \|f_\alpha\|_2^2 = 1$.

Remark 6.1.14. Note that in hypergroup case, (P_2) is not necessarily equivalent to the amenability of the hypergroup, though it implies the amenability of the hypergroup. As a counterexample, one may consider the *Naimark hypergroup*, see [8, (3.5.66)] and [70, Example 4.6], that is a commutative hypergroup structure on $\mathbb{R}^* (= [0, +\infty))$ where

$$\delta_x \star \delta_y \coloneqq \frac{1}{\sinh(x)\sinh(y)} \int_{|x-y|}^{x+y} \sinh(t)\delta_t \, dt \quad (x, y \in \mathbb{R}^*),$$

 $\tilde{x} \coloneqq x$, and 0 is the identity. For this hypergroup, constant character 1 does not belong to the support of the Plancherel measure. But [70, Lemma 4.5] shows that for a commutative hypergroup H, the constant character 1 belongs to the support of the Plancherel measure if and only if H satisfies (P_2). Therefore, the Naimark hypergroup does not satisfy condition (P_2) while as a commutative hypergroup it does satisfy (P_1).

The following theorem resembles the Leptin theorem for commutative regular Fourier hypergroups. In the proof, some techniques of the proof of group case (see [68, Theorem 7.1.3]) have been applied. Some properties of the Fourier algebra which are applied here have been mentioned briefly in Section 5.1.

Let us recall that a *state* on a C^* -algebra is a positive linear functional of norm 1. Moreover, if \mathcal{A} is a von Neumann algebra with predual \mathcal{A}_* , every state of \mathcal{A} can be approximated by a net of states of the elements of pre-dual in the weak^{*} topology. Therefore, for a commutative hypergroup H, a state u on VN(H) which belongs to A(H), is in the form of $g \star \tilde{g}$ for some $g \in L^2(H)$ (see Section 5.1).

Theorem 6.1.15. Let H be a commutative regular Fourier hypergroup. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (B_D) A(H) has a D-bounded approximate identity for some $D \ge 1$.
- (P_2) H satisfies (P_2) .

Proof. $(B_1) \Rightarrow (B_D)$ is trivial.

$$(B_D) \Rightarrow (P_2).$$

For $(e_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ a *D*-bounded approximate identity of A(H), there exists a w^* -cluster point $F \in VN(H)^*$. Note that for each $x \in H$, $\langle \lambda(x), F \rangle = \lim_{\alpha} \langle \lambda(x), e_{\alpha} \rangle = \lim_{\alpha} e_{\alpha}(x) = 1$. So $F|_{L^1(H,h)}$ may be interpreted as the constant function 1 on H (where $L^1(H,h)$ is observed as a subalgebra of VN(H)). Therefore, for each $f, g \in L^1(H,h)$, one gets that $\langle F, f * g \rangle = \langle F, f \rangle \langle F, g \rangle$. Hence $F|_{L^1(H,h)}$ is a multiplicative functional on $L^1(H,h)$. Therefore, for each $f \in L^1(H,h), \langle F, \tilde{f} *_h f \rangle = \langle F, \tilde{f} \rangle \langle F, f \rangle = |\langle F, f \rangle|^2 \geq 0$. But $L^1(H,h)$ is dense in the C^* -algebra $C^*_{\lambda}(H)$; hence, $F|_{C^*_{\lambda}(H)}$ is a positive functional on $C^*_{\lambda}(H)$ that is $\langle F, f * \tilde{f} \rangle \geq 0$ for every $f \in C^*_{\lambda}(H)$. Also as a multiplicative functional, $||F|_{C^*_{\lambda}(H)}|| = 1$. But as a positive norm 1 functional, $F|_{C^*_{\lambda}(H)}$ is a state. Thus, by [55, Corollary 2.3.12], $F|_{C^*_{\lambda}(H)}$ is extendible to a state E on VN(H). Because states of VN(H) which belong to A(H) are weak* dense in the set of all states of VN(H), we may find a net $(f_{\beta})_{\beta}$ in $\{f *_h \tilde{f} : f \in L^2(H,h)\}$ such that $f_{\beta} = g_{\beta} *_h \tilde{g}_{\beta}(e) = ||g_{\beta}||_2^2$. Since $F|_{C^*_{\lambda}(H)} = E|_{C^*_{\lambda}(H)}$, for each $u \in A(H)$ and $f \in L^1(H)$, since $uf \in L^1(H)$, we have

$$\lim_{\beta} \langle uf_{\beta}, f \rangle = \langle u \cdot E, f \rangle = \langle F, uf \rangle = \lim_{\alpha} \langle e_{\alpha}, uf \rangle = \langle u, f \rangle.$$
(6.1.1)

Therefore, $uf_{\beta} \to u$ with respect to the topology $\sigma(A(H), L^{1}(H))$. Recall that $L^{1}(H)$ is dense in $C_{\lambda}^{*}(H)$ while $A(H) \subseteq B_{\lambda}(H)$ and $B_{\lambda}(H) = C_{\lambda}^{*}(H)^{*}$. Let us fix $u \in A(H)$. Therefore, for some given $\epsilon > 0$ and $f \in C_{\lambda}^{*}(H)$, there is a $g \in L^{1}(G)$ such that $||g - f||_{C_{\lambda}^{*}(H)} < \epsilon$. Also there is some β_{0} such that for each $\beta \ge \beta_{0}$, $|\langle uf_{\beta} - u, g \rangle| < \epsilon$. So,

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle f_{\beta}u - u, f \rangle| &\leq |\langle f_{\beta}u - u, f - g \rangle| + |\langle f_{\beta}u - u, g \rangle| \\ &\leq \|u\|_{A(H)} (\|f_{\beta}\|_{A(H)} + 1) \|f - g\|_{C^{*}_{\lambda}(H)} + \epsilon < (2\|u\|_{A(H)} + 1)\epsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, $uf_{\beta} \to f$ with respect to the topology $\sigma(A(H), C_{\lambda}^{*}(H))$ which corresponds to the weak topology on $B_{\lambda}(H)$. It is a well-known result of functional analysis that the weak closure of a convex set coincides with its norm closure, so that for every $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $\varphi_{\{u_1,\ldots,u_n\},\epsilon} =$ $\varphi \in \operatorname{conv}\{f_{\beta}\}$ such that $u_i \in A(H)$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$ and $||u_i \varphi - u_i||_{A(H)} < \epsilon$. Moreover,

$$=\varphi(e) \le \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \le \|\varphi\|_{A(H)} \le 1.$$

1

Note that φ is also is a positive functional in the cone of positive functionals on VN(H); therefore, φ is actually a state and since H is commutative, $\varphi = \psi * \tilde{\psi}$ for some $\psi \in L^2(H)$.

To make the set of all such φ 's a net, let $I := \{(S, \epsilon) : S \subseteq A(H) \text{ is finite, } \epsilon > 0\}$ become a directed set by $(S, \epsilon) \leq (S', \epsilon')$ if $S \subseteq S'$ and $\epsilon \geq \epsilon'$. This lets us to render the net $(\varphi_{\alpha})_{\alpha} \subseteq \operatorname{conv}\{f_{\beta}\}$ that is a bounded approximate identity of A(H). On the other hand, for each compact set $K \subseteq H$, by Lemma 5.1.8, there is some $u_K \in A(H)$ such that $u_K | K \equiv 1$. Therefore, for each $x \in K$,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\alpha} |1 - \varphi_{\alpha}(x)| &= \lim_{\alpha} |u_{K}(x) - u_{K}(x)\varphi_{\alpha}(x)| &\leq \lim_{\alpha} ||u_{K} - u_{K}\varphi_{\alpha}||_{\infty} \\ &\leq \lim_{\alpha} ||u_{K} - u_{K}\varphi_{\alpha}||_{A(H)} = 0. \end{split}$$

So $\varphi_{\alpha} \to 1$ uniformly on compact subsets of *H*. Consequently, by Lemma 6.1.12, the existence of the net $(\varphi_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ implies (P_2) .

$$(P_2) \Rightarrow (B_1).$$

Let $(g_{\beta})_{\beta}$ be the net generated by (P_2) in Lemma 6.1.12, that is $g_{\beta} = f_{\beta} * \tilde{f}_{\beta}$ for some $f_{\beta} \in L^2(H)$ while $||f_{\beta}||_2 = 1$ for every β and $g_{\beta} \to 1$ uniformly on compact sets. Therefore,

$$1 = \|f_{\beta}\|_{2}^{2} = g_{\beta}(e) \le \|g_{\beta}\|_{\infty} \le \|g_{\beta}\|_{A(H)} \le \|f_{\beta}\|_{2}^{2} \le 1.$$

Also for each $u \in A(H) \cap C_c(H)$ and $f \in L^1(H)$,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\beta} |\langle ug_{\beta} - u, f \rangle| &\leq \lim_{\beta} \int_{H} |u(x)| |g_{\beta}(x) - 1| |f(x)| dx \\ &= \int_{\mathrm{supp}(u)} |u(x)| |g_{\beta}(x) - 1| |f(x)| dx = 0 \end{split}$$

Let us fix $u \in A(H)$. For given $\epsilon > 0$ and $f \in L^1(H)$, there is some $v \in A(H) \cap C_c(H)$ such that $||u - v||_{A(H)} < \epsilon$ and β_0 such that for any $\beta \ge \beta_0$, $|\langle vg_\beta - v, f \rangle| < \epsilon$. So for any $\beta \ge \beta_0$,

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle ug_{\beta} - u, f \rangle| &\leq |\langle ug_{\beta} - vg_{\beta}, f \rangle| + |\langle vg_{\beta} - v, f \rangle| + |\langle v - u, f \rangle| \\ &\leq \|u - v\|_{A(H)} \|g_{\beta}\|_{A(H)} \|f\|_{1} + \epsilon + \|v - u\|_{A(H)} \|f\|_{1} \\ &< \epsilon (2\|f\|_{1} + 1). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, by one generalization to arbitrary functions on A(H), $\lim_{\beta} ug_{\beta} = u$ in the topology $\sigma(A(H), L^1(H))$. But indeed $A(H) \subseteq B_{\lambda}(H)$ and this topology on bounded subsets of A(H) coincides to the weak topology on $B_{\lambda}(H)$ i.e. $\sigma(B_{\lambda}(H), C^*_{\lambda}(H))$. So similar to the previous part, there is a $(e_{\alpha})_{\alpha} \subset \operatorname{conv}\{g_{\beta}\}_{\beta}$ such that

$$\lim_{\alpha} \|ue_{\alpha} - e_{\alpha}\|_{A(H)} = 0$$

for every $u \in A(H)$. Also note that for each α ,

$$1 = e_{\alpha}(e) \le ||e_{\alpha}||_{\infty} \le ||e_{\alpha}||_{A(H)} \le 1.$$

Remark 6.1.16. Let G be a locally compact group. Then G satisfies the D-Leptin condition for each D > 1 if and only if it satisfies the Leptin condition. To observe this fact, note that the existence of a bounded approximate identity for A(G) is equivalent to satisfaction of the Leptin condition by the group G, [68, Theorem 7.1.3].

6.1.4 Summary

Theorem 6.1.17. Let H be a commutative regular Fourier hypergroup. Where

- (SF) H satisfies the strong Følner condition.
- (L_D) H satisfies the D-Leptin condition for some $D \ge 1$.
- (B_D) A(H) has a D-bounded approximate identity for some $D \ge 1$.
- (P_2) H satisfies (P_2) .

Then

$$(SF) \Longrightarrow (L_1) \Longrightarrow (L_D) \Longrightarrow (B_D) \Longleftrightarrow (B_1) \Longleftrightarrow (P_2)$$

Proof. $(SF) \Rightarrow (L_1)$ by Proposition 6.1.5. While $(L_1) \Rightarrow (L_D)$ is trivial, $(L_D) \Rightarrow (B_D)$ by Theorem 6.1.8. $(B_1) \iff (B_D) \iff (P_2)$, by Theorem 6.1.15.

Note. In Theorem 6.1.17, note that we suppose H to be a commutative hypergroup; hence, H is amenable, and equivalently, H satisfies the Reiter condition.

Note. For a locally compact group H in Theorem 6.1.17, all aforementioned conditions are equivalent and equal the amenability of the group (see [63] and [68]).

6.2 *D*-Leptin condition on dual of compact groups

In Theorem 5.2.1, it was proven that the duals of compact groups, as discrete commutative hypergroups, are regular Fourier hypergroups. We will apply this fact to study some properties of compact groups, using the Fourier algebra of the dual of compact groups. In the following we study the *D*-Leptin condition for some hypergroups which are the dual of compact groups. We calculate D, for $\widehat{SU(3)}$ and $\widehat{SU(2)}$, relying on representation theory of the corresponding compact groups.

Note that since the duals of compact groups are commutative, they are all amenable hypergroups, [70], but this amenability does not say anything about the Følner condition on these hypergroups (unlike groups). So the next question is: for which compact groups G do the hypergroups \widehat{G} satisfy the *D*-Leptin condition?

A version of some results of this section has been published in [2].

Proposition 6.2.1. The hypergroup $\widehat{SU(2)}$ satisfies the Leptin condition.

Proof. Take a finite subset K of $\overline{SU(2)}$ and $\epsilon > 0$. Let $k \coloneqq \sup\{\ell \colon \pi_{\ell} \in K\}$. Recall that for the Haar measure h, $h(\pi_{\ell}) = d_{\pi_{\ell}}^2 = (2\ell + 1)^2$ for every $\ell \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}^+$ (see Example 3.2.2). We select $m \ge k$ such that for $V = \{\pi_{\ell}\}_{\ell=0}^m$,

$$\frac{h(\pi_k * V)}{h(V)} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{2m+2k+1} j^2}{\sum_{j=1}^{2m+1} j^2}$$

$$= \frac{\frac{1}{3}(2m+2k+1)^3 + \frac{1}{2}(2m+2k+1)^2 + \frac{1}{6}(2m+2k+1)}{\frac{1}{3}(2m+1)^3 + \frac{1}{2}(2m+1)^2 + \frac{1}{6}(2m+1)} < 1 + \epsilon.$$
(6.2.1)

Note that for every $\pi_{\ell_1} \in K$, $\ell_1 \leq k \leq m$ and for every $\pi_{\ell_2} \in V$, $\ell_2 \leq m$. Therefore, $\pi_{\ell_1} * \pi_{\ell_2} = \bigcup_{\ell=|\ell_1-\ell_2|}^{\ell_1+\ell_2} \{\pi_\ell\}$. Let us fix $\pi_{\ell_0} \in \pi_{\ell_1} * \pi_{\ell_2}$; $0 \leq \ell_0 \leq \ell_1 + \ell_2 \leq k + m$. By splitting the possibilities of ℓ_0 with respect to m and k in the following, we show that $\pi_{\ell_0} \in \pi_k * V$ and since ℓ_0, ℓ_1 , and ℓ_2 are arbitrary, this implies that $\pi_{\ell_1} * V \subseteq \pi_k * V$ for every $\pi_{\ell_1} \in K$.

- (i) If $k \leq \ell_0 \leq m + k$. Then for $t := \ell_0 k \leq m$, one gets that $\pi_k * \pi_t = \bigcup_{\ell = |\ell_0 2k|}^{\ell_0} \{\pi_\ell\}$ which clearly contains π_{ℓ_0} .
- (ii) If $0 \leq \ell_0 < k$ and $\ell_0 \in \mathbb{N}^+$. Then $\pi_k * \pi_k = \bigcup_{\ell=0}^{2k} \{\pi_\ell\}$ contains π_{ℓ_0} .
- (iii) If $0 < \ell_0 < k$ and $\ell_0 \notin \mathbb{N}^+$. Then $\pi_k * \pi_{k-\frac{1}{2}} = \bigcup_{\ell=\frac{1}{2}}^{2k-\frac{1}{2}} \{\pi_\ell\}$ contains π_{ℓ_0} .

Therefore, for each $x \in K$, $K * V = \bigcup_{x \in K} x * V \subseteq \pi_k * V$. So by using (6.2.1),

$$\frac{h(K * V)}{h(V)} \le \frac{h(\pi_k * V)}{h(V)} < 1 + \epsilon.$$

In the following theorem, we study the *D*-Leptin condition for the hypergroups defined in Example 3.2.4.

Theorem 6.2.2. Let $G = \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} G_i$ for a family of compact groups $(G_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ such that for each $i \in \mathbf{I}, \ \widehat{G}_i \text{ satisfies the } D_i\text{-Leptin condition. Then if } D \coloneqq \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} D_i \text{ exists, } \widehat{G} \text{ satisfies the } D\text{-Leptin}$ condition.

Proof. Given finite subset K of \widehat{G} and $\epsilon > 0$ there exists some finite set $F \subseteq \mathbf{I}$ such that $K \subseteq \mathbf{I}$ $\bigotimes_{i \in F} K_i \otimes E_F^c$ where K_i is a finite subset of \widehat{G}_i and $E_F^c = \bigotimes_{i \in \mathbf{I} \setminus F} \pi_0$ where π_0 's are the identities of the corresponding hypergroup \widehat{G}_i . If $D := \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} D_i < \infty$, given $\epsilon > 0$, one may find an $\epsilon' > 0$ such that $\prod_{i \in F} (D_i + \epsilon') < D + \epsilon$. Using the D_i -Leptin condition for each \widehat{G}_i , there exists some finite set V_i such that $h_{\widehat{G}_i}(K_i * V_i)/h_{\widehat{G}_i}(V_i) < D_i + \epsilon'$. Therefore, for the finite set $V = (\bigotimes_{i \in F} V_i) \otimes E_F^c$,

$$\frac{h(K * V)}{h(V)} \leq \prod_{i \in F} \frac{h_{G_i}(K_i * V_i)}{h_{G_i}(V_i)} < \prod_{i \in F} (D_i + \epsilon') < D + \epsilon.$$

6.2.1*D*-Leptin condition for dual of Lie groups

Let \mathbb{G} be a connected simply connected compact real Lie group, (e.g. SU(n)). Then, $\widehat{\mathbb{G}}$, as the dual object of a compact Lie groups, forms a finitely generated hypergroup (see [9, 77]). Suppose that F is a finite generator of $\widehat{\mathbb{G}}$; therefore, by [6, Theorem 2.1], there exists positive integers $0 < \alpha, \beta < \infty$ such that

$$\alpha < \frac{h_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}(F^k)}{k^{d_{\mathbb{G}}}} < \beta \tag{6.2.2}$$

for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$ where $d_{\mathbb{G}}$ is the dimension of the group \mathbb{G} as a Lie group over \mathbb{R} . According to the following theorem, this estimation for the growth rate of $\widehat{\mathbb{G}}$ results in the satisfaction of D-Leptin condition for $\widehat{\mathbb{G}}$.

Theorem 6.2.3. Let \mathbb{G} be a connected simply connected compact real Lie group. Then $\widehat{\mathbb{G}}$, as a hypergroup, satisfies the D-Leptin condition for some $D \ge 1$.

Proof. Take a finite set $K \subseteq \widehat{\mathbb{G}}$. Suppose that F is a finite generator of $\widehat{\mathbb{G}}$. For some $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $K\subseteq F^k.$ Moreover, for each $\ell\in\mathbb{N},$ $F^\ell\star F^k\subseteq F^{\ell+k}.$ By applying (6.2.2),

$$\limsup_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{h_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}(K * F^{\ell})}{h_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}(F^{\ell})} \leq \limsup_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{h_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}(F^{\ell+k})}{h_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}(F^{\ell})} = \limsup_{\ell \to \infty} \frac{h_{\mathbb{G}}(F^{\ell+k})}{(\ell+k)^{d_{\mathbb{G}}}} \frac{\ell^{d_{\mathbb{G}}}}{h_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}(F^{\ell})} \frac{(\ell+k)^{d_{\mathbb{G}}}}{\ell^{d_{\mathbb{G}}}} \leq \beta/\alpha.$$

Therefore, $\widehat{\mathbb{G}}$ satisfies the *D*-Leptin condition for some $1 \leq D < \infty$.

6.2.2 *D*-Leptin condition of $\widehat{SU(3)}$

Let SU(3) denote the special group of 3×3 unitary matrices which is a connected simply connected compact real Lie group. Although by Theorem 6.2.3, we may verify the satisfaction of the *D*-Leptin condition for SU(3), we found it difficult to calculate the constants α and β in the proof of Theorem 6.2.3 for $\mathbb{G} = SU(3)$. Here we may apply some studies on the representation theory of SU(3) to find a concrete answer for *D*.

Proposition 6.2.1 proves that Leptin condition is satisfied for the dual of 2×2 special unitary matrices group. We have not been able to prove the same result for the dual of the 3×3 special unitary matrix group, $\widehat{SU(3)}$. Instead, we may show that $\widehat{SU(3)}$ satisfies the 6561-Leptin condition. Our main reference to study $\widehat{SU(3)}$ is [79]. In this paper, the irreducible decomposition of the tensor product of irreducible representations of SU(3) has been studied. The author would like to thank Professor Wesslén for the constructive communication about this subsection. Here we recall the following brief background from [79] as well.

One may present the irreducible representations of SU(3) by $\{(p,q)\}_{p,q\in\mathbb{N}\cup\{0\}}$ where for each representation (p,q) the dimension of the representation is (p+1)(q+1)(p+q+2)/2. Although the precise decomposition of tensor product of irreducible representation studied in [79] is fairly complicated and we do not have a simple formula similar to the "Clebsch-Gordan" decomposition formula for SU(2), introduced in Example 3.2.2, the work of [79, Section E] shows that

$$(p,q) * (p',q') \subseteq \{(i,j) : 0 \le i, j \le 3 \max\{p,q\} + 3 \max\{p',q'\} + 1\}.$$

$$(6.2.3)$$

Proposition 6.2.4. The hypergroup $\widehat{SU(3)}$ satisfies the 6561-Leptin condition.

Proof. Fix a finite set K of $\widehat{SU(3)}$ and $\epsilon > 0$. Given $K_k := \{(i, j)\}_{i,j=0}^k$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $K \subseteq K_k$, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, define $V_n := \{(i, j)\}_{i,j=0}^n$. Hence, by (6.2.3),

$$K_k * V_n \subseteq U_{k,n} := \{(i, j) : i, j \in 0, \dots, 3k + 3n + 1\}.$$

Therefore,

$$\frac{h(K * V_n)}{h(V_n)} \leq \frac{h(K_k * V_n)}{h(V_n)} \leq \frac{h(U_{n,k})}{h(V_n)} \\
= \frac{\sum_{i,j=0}^{3k+3n+1} h((i,j))}{\sum_{i,j=0}^n h((i,j))} = \frac{\sum_{i,j=0}^{3k+3n+1} \frac{1}{4}(i+1)^2(j+1)^2(i+j+2)^2}{\sum_{i,j=0}^n \frac{1}{4}(i+1)^2(j+1)^2(i+j+2)^2}$$

which approaches $6561 = 3^8$ when $n \to \infty$, by some simple calculations.

6.2.3 An application: approximate amenability of Segal algebras of compact groups

The notion of approximate amenability of a Banach algebra was introduced by Ghahramani and Loy in [31]. A Banach algebra \mathcal{A} is said to be *approximately amenable* if for every \mathcal{A} -bimodule X and every bounded derivation $D : \mathcal{A} \to X$, there exists a net (D_{α}) of inner derivations such that

$$\lim_{\alpha} D_{\alpha}(a) = D(a) \quad \text{for all } a \in \mathcal{A}.$$

This is not the original definition but it is equivalent. In [31], it is observed that approximately amenable algebras have approximate identities; moreover, closed ideals with a bounded approximate identity and quotient algebras of approximately amenable Banach algebras are approximately amenable.

In this subsection, we study the approximate amenability of proper Segal algebras of compact groups. Approximate amenability of Segal algebras has been studied in several papers. Dales and Loy, in [18], studied approximate amenability of Segal algebras on \mathbb{T} and \mathbb{R} . They showed that certain Segal algebras on \mathbb{T} and \mathbb{R} are not approximately amenable. It was further conjectured that no proper Segal algebra on \mathbb{T} is approximately amenable. Choi and Ghahramani, in [14], have shown the stronger fact that no proper Segal algebra on \mathbb{T}^d or \mathbb{R}^d is approximately amenable.

Remark 6.2.5. I extend the result of Choi and Ghahramani to apply to all locally compact abelian groups, not just \mathbb{T}^d and \mathbb{R}^d in [2]. My approach, like that of Choi-Ghahramani and Dales-Loy, was to apply the Fourier transform and work with abstract Segal subalgebras of the Fourier algebra of a locally compact abelian group.

In [14], a nice criterion is developed to prove the non-approximate amenability of Banach algebras. We will rely crucially on this criterion. For this reason, we present a version of the criterion below. Recall that for a Banach algebra \mathcal{A} , a sequence $(a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ is called *multiplierbounded* if, for some M > 0, $\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} ||a_n b|| \leq M ||b||$ and $\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} ||ba_n|| \leq M ||b||$ for all $b \in \mathcal{A}$. If \mathcal{S} is an abstract Segal algebra of a Banach algebra \mathcal{A} , each element $a \in \mathcal{A}$ acts on \mathcal{A} as a bounded multiplier on \mathcal{S} .

Theorem 6.2.6. (Choi-Ghahramani)

Let \mathcal{A} be a Banach algebra. Suppose that there exists an unbounded but multiplier-bounded sequence $(a_n)_{n\geq 1} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ such that

$$a_{n+1} = a_n = a_{n+1}a_n$$

a

for all n. Then \mathcal{A} is not approximately amenable.

To prove the main theorem we need the following lemma. The proof of the following lemma is adapted from [44, Lemma 1].

Lemma 6.2.7. Let \mathcal{A} be a Banach algebra and \mathcal{J} be a dense left ideal of \mathcal{A} . Then for each idempotent element p in the center of algebra \mathcal{A} i.e. $p^2 = p \in Z(\mathcal{A})$, p belongs to \mathcal{J} .

Proof. Since \mathcal{J} is dense in \mathcal{A} , there exists an element $a \in \mathcal{J}$ such that $||p-a||_{\mathcal{A}} < 1$. Let us define

$$b \coloneqq p + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (p-a)^n.$$

One can check that pb - pb(p - a) = pba, which is an element in \mathcal{J} . On the other hand,

$$pb - pb(p - a) = p\left(p + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (p - a)^n\right) - p\left(p + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (p - a)^n\right)(p - a)$$
$$= p + p\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (p - a)^n - p\sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (p - a)^n - p(p - a)$$
$$= p + p(p - a) - p(p - a) = p.$$

С			
L			
L			
L			
L			

Remark 6.2.8. As an alternative proof for Lemma 6.2.7, let us assume that (if \mathcal{A} is not unital) \mathcal{A}_e is the unitalized algebra of \mathcal{A} with the identity e. Therefore, for the idempotent $p \in \mathcal{A}$, there is some $a \in \mathcal{J}$ such that $||p - a||_{\mathcal{A}} < 1$. Therefore, by a well-known argument in spectral theory of Banach algebras, for $x \coloneqq p - a$, e - x is invertible and

$$(e-x)^{-1} = e + x + x^2 + \cdots$$

Note that a = p-x; therefore pa = p-px = p(e-x) = (e-x)p since $p \in Z(\mathcal{A})$. So $p = (e-x)^{-1}pa \in \mathcal{J}$.

Corollary 6.2.9. Let G be a compact group. Then $\lim \{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$ is $\|\cdot\|_1$ -dense in $ZL^1(G)$ and for every Segal algebra $S^1(G)$, its center, $ZS^1(G)$, contains $\lim \{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi \in \widehat{G}}$.

Proof. Let \mathcal{T} be the map defined in the proof of Theorem 5.2.1. Then, $\mathcal{T}(ZL^1(G)) = A(\widehat{G})$. Also for the discrete hypergroup \widehat{G} , $A(\widehat{G})$ equals the $\|\cdot\|_{A(\widehat{G})}$ -closure of $\lim\{\delta_{\pi}\}_{\pi\in\widehat{G}}$, [60]. Therefore, $ZL^1(G)$ is the $\|\cdot\|_1$ -closure of $\lim\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi\in\widehat{G}}$, since $\mathcal{T}(\chi_{\pi}) = d_{\pi}^{-1}\delta_{\pi}$ for each $\pi \in \widehat{G}$. Also by Lemma 6.2.7, $S^1(G)$ contains all central idempotents $d_{\pi}\chi_{\pi}$ for each $\pi \in \widehat{G}$.

The main theorem of this section is as follows.

Theorem 6.2.10. Let G be a compact group such that \widehat{G} satisfies the D-Leptin condition for some $D \ge 1$. Then every proper Segal algebra on G is not approximately amenable.

Proof. Let $S^1(G)$ be a proper Segal algebra on G. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$. Using the D-Leptin condition on \widehat{G} , for every arbitrary non-void finite set K in \widehat{G} , we can find a finite subset V_K of \widehat{G} such that $h(K * V_K)/h(V_K) < (D + \varepsilon)^2$. Using the proof of Lemma 5.1.8, for

$$v_K \coloneqq \frac{1}{h(V_K)} \mathbf{1}_{K * V_K} *_h \tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{V_K}$$
(6.2.4)

we have $||v_K||_{A(\widehat{G})} < (D + \varepsilon), v_K|_K \equiv 1$, and support of v_K is compact. We consider the net $\{v_K : K \subseteq \widehat{G} \text{ compact}\}$ in $A(\widehat{G})$ where $v_{K_2} \ge v_{K_1}$ whenever $\operatorname{supp}(v_{K_1}) \subseteq K_2$. So $(v_K)_{K \subseteq \widehat{G}}$ forms a $|| \cdot ||_{A(\widehat{G})}$ -bounded net in $A(\widehat{G}) \cap c_c(\widehat{G})$. Let $f \in A(\widehat{G}) \cap c_c(\widehat{G})$ with $K = \operatorname{supp} f$. Then $v_K f = f$. Therefore, $(v_K)_{K \subseteq \widehat{G}}$ is a $(D + \varepsilon)$ -bounded approximate identity of $A(\widehat{G})$, since $A(\widehat{G}) \cap c_c(\widehat{G})(= c_c(\widehat{G}))$ is dense in $A(\widehat{G})$, by Remark 5.1.11.

Using \mathcal{T} defined in the proof of Theorem 5.2.1, we can define the net $(u_K)_{K \subseteq \widehat{G}}$ in $S^1(G)$ by $u_K \coloneqq \mathcal{T}^{-1}(v_K)$. Fix a finite set $K_0 \subseteq \widehat{G}$. We show that $(u_K)_{K \subseteq \widehat{G}}$ satisfies some conditions. First of all, since \mathcal{T} is an isometry from $ZL^1(G)$ onto $A(\widehat{G}), (u_K)_{K \subseteq \widehat{G}}$ is a $\|\cdot\|_1$ -bounded net in $S^1(G)$, by Lemma 6.2.7. Moreover, since \mathcal{T} is an isomorphism,

$$u_{K_1} * u_{K_2} = \mathcal{T}^{-1}(v_{K_1}) * \mathcal{T}^{-1}(v_{K_2}) = \mathcal{T}^{-1}(v_{K_1}v_{K_2}) = \mathcal{T}^{-1}(v_{K_1}) = u_{K_1}$$

for $v_{K_2} \ge v_{K_1}$ which we equivalently denote by $u_{K_2} \ge u_{K_1}$. Let $(u_K)_{K \subseteq \widehat{G}}$ be the net constructed.

Claim. For every $K_0 \subseteq \widehat{G}$, K_0 finite, the net $\{u_K : u_K \ge u_{K_0}\}$ is unbounded in the norm of $S^1(G)$.

To prove the claim, assume towards a contradiction that there exists K_0 finite and C > 0such that $||u_K||_{S^1(G)} \leq C$ for all $u_K \geq u_{K_0}$. Since G is compact and $S^1(G)$ is a Segal algebra, we know, [44], that $S^1(G)$ has a central approximate identity which is bounded in L^1 -norm. Denote this by $(e_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$. By Corollary 6.2.9, let us generate a net $(e'_{\alpha,\epsilon})_{\alpha,1>\epsilon>0}$ in $\lim\{\chi_{\pi}\}_{\pi\in\widehat{G}}$ where $||e'_{\alpha,\epsilon} - e_{\alpha}||_1 < \epsilon$ for each pair of (α, ϵ) while $\alpha \nearrow$ on the given order and $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$; therefore, $(e'_{\alpha,\epsilon})_{\alpha,1>\epsilon>0} \subseteq ZS^1(G)$. We show that $(e'_{\alpha,\epsilon})_{\alpha,1>\epsilon>0}$ is still a central $||\cdot||_1$ -bounded approximate identity of $S^1(G)$. To do so, for each $f \in S^1(G)$, note that

$$\begin{aligned} \|e'_{\alpha,\epsilon} * f - f\|_{S^{1}(G)} &\leq \|e'_{\alpha,\epsilon} * f - e_{\alpha} * f\|_{S^{1}(G)} + \|e_{\alpha} * f - f\|_{S^{1}(G)} \\ &\leq \|e'_{\alpha,\epsilon} - e_{\alpha}\|_{1} \|f\|_{S^{1}(G)} + \|e_{\alpha} * f - f\|_{S^{1}(G)} \end{aligned}$$

which goes toward 0 where α grows and $\epsilon \to 0$. Moreover, for each (α, ϵ) , there exists some finite set K' such that $K_0 \subseteq K' \subseteq \widehat{G}$ and $\mathcal{T}(e'_{\alpha,\epsilon})v_K = \mathcal{T}(e'_{\alpha,\epsilon})$ for each $v_{K'} \leq v_K$; hence, $\|e'_{\alpha,\epsilon}\|_{S^1(G)} = \lim_K \|e'_{\alpha,\epsilon} * u_K\|_{S^1(G)}$. Consequently,

$$\|e'_{\alpha,\epsilon}\|_{S^{1}(G)} = \lim_{K} \|e'_{\alpha,\epsilon} * u_{K}\|_{S^{1}(G)} \le \sup_{K_{0} \subset K \subseteq \widehat{G}} \|e'_{\alpha,\epsilon}\|_{1} \|u_{K}\|_{S^{1}(G)} \le C \|e'_{\alpha,\epsilon}\|_{1}.$$

This implies that $(e'_{\alpha,\epsilon})_{\alpha,1>\epsilon>0}$ is $\|\cdot\|_{S^1(G)}$ -bounded. But, a Segal algebra cannot have a bounded approximate identity unless it coincides with the group algebra, [10], which contradicts the properness of $S^1(G)$. Hence, the claim is proved.

To generate a sequence which satisfies the conditions of Theorem 6.2.6, fix a non-empty finite set $K_0 \subseteq \widehat{G}$. By our claim, we inductively construct a sequence of finite sets $K_0 \subset K_1 \subset \cdots$ in \widehat{G} such that $u_{K_n} \ge u_{K_{n-1}}$ and $||u_{K_n}||_{S^1(G)} \ge n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $u_{K_n} * u_{K_{n-1}} = u_{K_{n-1}}$, by Theorem 6.2.6, $S^1(G)$ is not approximately amenable.

6.3 Leptin condition for Polynomial hypergroups

In [37] the authors try to render the notion of Følner conditions on polynomial hypergroups. With this motivation, summing sequences in the context of polynomial hypergroups are defined as follows.

Definition 6.3.1. [37, Definition 2.1]

Let \mathbb{N}_0 denote the polynomial hypergroup defined in Section 3.3 and h its Haar measure. A sequence $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ where $A_n \subseteq \mathbb{N}_0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ is called *summing sequence* on the polynomial hypergroup \mathbb{N}_0 if it satisfies

- (1) $A_n \subseteq A_{n+1}$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$,
- (2) $\mathbb{N}_0 = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} A_n$,
- (3) $h(A_n) < \infty$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$,
- (4) $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{h((k * A_n) \Delta A_n)}{h(A_n)} = 0 \text{ for all } k \in \mathbb{N}.$

In [37], a polynomial hypergroup \mathbb{N}_0 is said to satisfy property (H) if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{h(n)}{\sum_{i=0}^{n} h(i)} = 0.$$
(6.3.1)

[37, Theorem 2.5] shows that a polynomial hypergroup on \mathbb{N}_0 satisfies condition (H) if and only if the sequence $(S_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a summing sequence where for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $S_n \coloneqq \{0, 1, \dots, n\}$. **Proposition 6.3.2.** Let \mathbb{N}_0 be a polynomial hypergroup which has a summing sequence $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$. Then it satisfies all the Leptin, Strong Følner, and Følner conditions.

Proof. If we just show that the existence of a summing sequence implies the Følner condition, the rest would be proven based on Proposition 6.1.6, since \mathbb{N}_0 is a discrete commutative hypergroup. Let $K \subseteq \mathbb{N}_0$ be finite. Since $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a summing sequence, for given $\epsilon > 0$, there is some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\frac{h(k * A_N \Delta A_N)}{h(A_N)} < \epsilon$$

for every $k \in K$. Therefore, \mathbb{N}_0 satisfies (F) and consequently (SF) and (L).

Remark 6.3.3. Note that if \mathbb{N}_0 satisfies (H), the canonical sequence $(S_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ is a summing sequence. Therefore by Proposition 6.3.2, every polynomial hypergroup which satisfies condition (H) satisfies (L), (F), and (SF). As an example in [37], it was shown that Jacobi polynomials satisfy condition (H) and consequently have the canonical sets $(S_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ as a summing sequence. So this class of polynomial hypergroups includes Jacobi polynomials.

CHAPTER 7

ARENS REGULARITY AND OPERATOR ALEGBRAS

In Chapters 3 and 4, we saw a family of hypergroups which have applications to some Banach algebras on locally compact groups. In this chapter, we pursue our studying on properties of weighted hypergroup algebras. Therefore the abstract results obtained in this chapter can be applied to the Banach algebras mentioned in the previous chapters. Doing so, we enrich this chapter with a variety of examples.

7.1 Arens regularity

7.1.1 General theory

This subsection is a brief report of the general theory of Arens regularity of Banach algebras which is a summary of a part of [17, Chapter 2]. So all unproven results can be found there.

Let \mathcal{A} be a Banach algebra. For $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^*$ and $f, g \in \mathcal{A}$, one may define $\phi \cdot f$ and $f \cdot \phi$ in \mathcal{A}^* by

$$\langle f \cdot \phi, g \rangle \coloneqq \langle \phi, gf \rangle, \quad \langle \phi \cdot f, g \rangle \coloneqq \langle \phi, fg \rangle.$$

Note that this implies that \mathcal{A}^* is actually an \mathcal{A} -bimodule with respect to the maps

 $(f,\phi) \mapsto \phi \cdot f, \quad (f,\phi) \mapsto f \cdot \phi, \quad \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{A}^* \to \mathcal{A}^*.$

For each $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^*$ and $F \in \mathcal{A}^{**}$, let us define $\phi \cdot F$ and $F \cdot \phi$ in \mathcal{A}^* by their action on \mathcal{A} where

$$\langle f, \phi \cdot F \rangle = \langle F, f \cdot \phi \rangle, \quad \langle f, F \cdot \phi \rangle = \langle F, \phi \cdot f \rangle$$

for all $f \in \mathcal{A}$. Eventually, for each pair $F, G \in \mathcal{A}^{**}$, one may define

$$\langle F \Box G, \phi \rangle = \langle F, G \cdot \phi \rangle, \quad \langle F \diamondsuit G, \phi \rangle = \langle G, \phi \cdot F \rangle$$

for all $\phi \in \mathcal{A}^*$.

Theorem 7.1.1. [17, Theorem 2.8]

The Banach space \mathcal{A}^{**} equipped with multiplication \Box (with multiplication \diamondsuit) forms a Banach algebra.

Definition 7.1.2. The Banach algebra \mathcal{A} is called *Arens regular* if two actions \Box and \diamondsuit coincide.

Let \mathcal{A} be a Banach algebra and $F, G \in \mathcal{A}^{**}$, we know that there are nets $(f_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ and $(g_{\beta})_{\beta}$ in \mathcal{A} such that $f_{\alpha} \to F$ and $g_{\beta} \to G$ in weak^{*} topology. One may show that for products \Box and \diamondsuit of \mathcal{A}^{**} ,

$$F \square G = w^* - \lim_{\alpha} w^* - \lim_{\beta} f_{\alpha} g_{\beta}$$
 and $F \diamondsuit G = w^* - \lim_{\beta} w^* - \lim_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} g_{\beta}$.

Note that since \mathcal{A} is a closed subalgebra of (\mathcal{A}^{**}, \Box) and $(\mathcal{A}^{**}, \diamondsuit)$, by identifying each element of \mathcal{A} by its image in the second dual, one gets that

$$f \cdot F \coloneqq f \square F = f \diamondsuit F$$
 and $F \cdot f \coloneqq F \square f = F \diamondsuit f$ $(F \in \mathcal{A}^{**}, f \in \mathcal{A}).$

Let us recall from Definition 4.1.3, that a Banach algebra \mathcal{A} is called a *dual Banach algebra* with respect to E, if E is a closed sub-bimodule of the dual \mathcal{A} -bimodule A^* that if for every $\phi \in E$ and $f \in \mathcal{A}$, $f \cdot \phi$ and $\phi \cdot f$ belong to E such that $\mathcal{A} = E^*$. Also by Proposition 4.1.4, for a central weight ω , $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ is a dual Banach algebra.

For Banach algebra \mathcal{A} , let \mathcal{A}_* be a Banach space such that \mathcal{A} is (isometrically isomorphic to) $(\mathcal{A}_*)^*$ as its dual Banach algebra that is the dual space of \mathcal{A}_* as a Banach space, and such that the multiplication becomes separately weak^{*}-continuous. Therefore, for every $f, g \in \mathcal{A}$ and $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_*$,

$$\langle fg, \phi \rangle = \langle g, \phi \cdot f \rangle.$$

Moreover, let \mathcal{A} be a dual Banach algebra with respect to \mathcal{A}_* . Let $\iota : \mathcal{A}_* \to (\mathcal{A}_*)^{**}$ be the canonical embedding which identifies every elements $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_*$ as a linear functional in \mathcal{A}^* . For every $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_*$, $F \in \mathcal{A}^{**}$, $\langle P(F), \phi \rangle = \langle F, \phi \rangle$. Further, for each $f \in \mathcal{A}$, $F \in \mathcal{A}^{**}$, and $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_*$, recall

that F is the weak * limit of a net $(f_{\alpha})_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$; hence,

Note that (\star) is correct based on this fact that \mathcal{A} is a dual Banach algebra of \mathcal{A}_{\star} . But since \mathcal{A}_{\star} is weak^{*} dense in $\mathcal{A}^{\star} = (\mathcal{A}_{\star})^{\star \star}$, one may conclude that $P(f \cdot F) = fP(F)$ and similarly, $P(F \cdot f) = P(F)f$ for all $f \in \mathcal{A}$ and $F \in \mathcal{A}^{\star \star}$.

Let us define $\mathcal{A}_*^{\perp} \coloneqq \{F \in \mathcal{A}^{**} : \langle F, \phi \rangle = 0 \text{ for all } \phi \in \mathcal{A}_* \}.$

Proposition 7.1.3. [17, Proposition 2.16]

Let \mathcal{A} be a dual Banach algebra with respect to some Banach space \mathcal{A}_* where $\mathcal{A} = (\mathcal{A}_*)^*$. Then \mathcal{A} is Arens regular if $\Phi \Box \Psi = \Phi \diamondsuit \Psi = 0$ for all $\Phi, \Psi \in \mathcal{A}_*^{\perp}$.

Proof. Note that for each $F \in \mathcal{A}^{**}$, $\langle F - P(F), \phi \rangle = 0$; $F - P(F) \in \mathcal{A}_*^{\perp}$. Hence, $\mathcal{A}^{**} = \mathcal{A} \oplus \mathcal{A}_*^{\perp}$ as a direct sum of Banach spaces where every $F \in \mathcal{A}^{**}$ can be decomposed canonically as (P(F), F - P(F)). Furthermore, note that for every $F, G \in \mathcal{A}^{**}$,

$$F \square G = (P(F) + (F - P(F))) \square (P(G) + (G - P(G)))$$

= $P(F)P(G) + P(F) \cdot (G - P(G)) + (F - P(F)) \cdot P(G)$
+ $(F - P(F)) \square (G - P(G)).$

Therefore, (\mathcal{A}^{**}, \Box) can be identified as a semidirect product $\mathcal{A} \rtimes \mathcal{A}_{\star}^{\perp}$ if for $F = (f, \Phi)$ and $G = (g, \Psi)$ in \mathcal{A}^{**} ,

$$F \square G = (fg, f \cdot \Psi + \Phi \cdot g + \Psi \square \Phi).$$
(7.1.1)

Similar argument works for \diamond -action as well; hence, $(\mathcal{A}^{**}, \diamond) = A \rtimes \mathcal{A}_*^{\perp}$ where for each $F \in \mathcal{A}^{**}$, if $\Phi := F - P(F) \in \mathcal{A}_*^{\perp}$ and f = P(F), $F = (P(F), \Psi)$. Therefore, for each $F = (f, \Phi)$ and $G = (g, \Psi)$

in \mathcal{A}^{**} ,

$$F \diamondsuit G = (fg, f \cdot \Psi + \Phi \cdot g + \Psi \diamondsuit \Phi).$$
(7.1.2)

Therefore if $\Phi \Box \Psi = \Phi \diamondsuit \Psi = 0$, (7.1.1) and (7.1.2) finish the proof.

7.1.2 Arens regularity of weighted hypergroup algebras

In [41, Chaptetr 4], Kamyabi-Gol applied the topological center of hypergroup algebras to prove some results about the hypergroup algebras and their second duals. For example, in [41, Corollary 4.27], he showed that for a (not necessarily discrete and commutative) hypergroup H (which possesses a Haar measure), $L^1(H)$ is Arens regular if and only if H is finite.

Arens regularity of weighted group algebras has been studied by Craw and Young in [16]. They showed that a locally compact group G has a weight ω such that $L^1(G, \omega)$ is Arens regular if and only if G is discrete and countable. [17] presents a thorough report of the Arens regularity of weighted group algebras. In the following we adapt the machinery developed in [17, Section 8] for weighted hypergroups. [17, Section 3] studies repeated limit conditions and gives a rich variety of results for them. Here, we will use some of these results. We define 0-cluster functions as presented in [17, Definition 3.2] and [17, Definition 3.6].

Definition 7.1.4. Let X and Y be non-empty sets, and let $f: X \times Y \to \mathbb{C}$ be a function. Then f 0-clusters on $X \times Y$ if

$$\lim_{n}\lim_{m}f(x_{m},y_{n})=\lim_{m}\lim_{n}f(x_{m},y_{n})=0$$

whenever (x_m) and (y_n) are sequences in X and Y, respectively, each consisting of distinct points and both repeated limits exist.

If f is a bounded continuous function on $X \times Y$ into \mathbb{C} . Then f 0-clusters strongly on $X \times Y$ if

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \limsup_{y \to \infty} f(x, y) = \lim_{y \to \infty} \limsup_{x \to \infty} f(x, y) = 0.$$

Let X and Y be non-empty sets, and let $f: X \times Y \to \mathbb{C}$ be a continuous bounded function. Then [17, Proposition 3.8] shows that if f 0-clusters strongly on $X \times Y$, it 0-clusters on $X \times Y$.

Note that for $\kappa^{**}: \ell^1(H, \omega)^{**} \to \ell^1(H)^{**}$ and $\Phi \in c_0(H, \omega)^{\perp}$, one gets

$$\langle \kappa^{**}(\Phi), \phi \rangle = \langle \Phi, \kappa^{*}(\phi) \rangle$$

which is equal to 0 for all $\phi \in c_0(H)$. Therefore $\kappa^{**}(\Phi) \in c_0(H)^{\perp}$. The converse is also true and straightforward to show (which we do not use here so we do not mention).

Let us define the bounded function $\Omega: H \times H \to (0,1]$ by

$$\Omega(x,y) \coloneqq \frac{\omega(\delta_x * \delta_y)}{\omega(x)\omega(y)} \quad (x,y \in H).$$
(7.1.3)

The following theorem is a generalization of [17, Theorem 8.8]. In the proof we use some techniques of the proof for [53, Theorem 3.16].

Theorem 7.1.5. Let (H, ω) be a weighted hypergroup and let Ω 0-cluster strongly on $H \times H$. Then $\Phi \Box \Psi = 0$ and $\Phi \diamondsuit \Psi = 0$ whenever $\Phi, \Psi \in c_0(H, 1/\omega)^{\perp}$.

Proof. Let us show the theorem for $\Phi \Box \Psi$, the proof for the other action is similar. Let $\Phi, \Psi \in c_0(H, 1/\omega)^{\perp}$. There are nets $(f_{\alpha})_{\alpha}, (g_{\beta})_{\beta} \subseteq \ell^1(H)$ such that $f_{\alpha} \to \kappa^{**}(\Phi)$ and $g_{\beta} \to \kappa^{**}(\Psi)$ in weak* topology of $\ell^1(H)^{**}$. Without loss of generality, let $\|\kappa^{**}(\Phi)\| = \|\kappa^{**}(\Psi)\| = 1$; hence, by a standard corollary of Goldstine's theorem, [24, Theorem 9.7.14], $(f_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ and $(g_{\beta})_{\beta}$ may be chosen such that $\sup_{\alpha} \|f_{\alpha}\|_1 \leq 1$ and $\sup_{\beta} \|g_{\beta}\|_1 \leq 1$.

So for each $\psi \in \ell^{\infty}(H)$, $\kappa^{*}(\psi) = \psi \omega \in \ell^{\infty}(H, 1/\omega)$ and $\Phi \Box \Psi \in \ell^{1}(H, \omega)^{**}$; hence,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \psi \omega, \kappa^{**}(\Phi \Box \Psi) \rangle &= \langle \kappa^{*}(\psi), \Phi \Box \Psi \rangle \\ &= \lim_{\alpha} \lim_{\beta} \langle \psi \omega, \kappa^{-1}(f_{\alpha}) * \kappa^{-1}(g_{\beta}) \rangle \\ &= \lim_{\alpha} \lim_{\beta} \langle \psi \omega, f_{\alpha} / \omega * g_{\beta} / \omega \rangle. \end{aligned}$$

Thus

$$\begin{split} |\langle \psi\omega, \kappa^{**}(\Phi \Box \Psi) \rangle| &= \lim_{\alpha} \lim_{\beta} |\langle \psi\omega, f_{\alpha}/\omega * g_{\beta}/\omega \rangle| \\ &= \lim_{\alpha} \lim_{\beta} \left| \sum_{y \in H} \psi(y)\omega(y) \sum_{x,z \in H} \frac{f_{\alpha}(x)}{\omega(x)} \frac{g_{\beta}(z)}{\omega(z)} \delta_{x} * \delta_{z}(y) \right| \\ &\leq \limsup_{\alpha} \limsup_{\beta} \sum_{x,z \in H} \frac{|f_{\alpha}(x)|}{\omega(x)} \frac{|g_{\beta}(z)|}{\omega(z)} \sum_{y \in H} |\psi(y)|\omega(y)\delta_{x} * \delta_{z}(y) \\ &\leq \limsup_{\alpha} \limsup_{\beta} \|\psi\|_{\ell^{\infty}(H)} \sum_{x,z \in H} |f_{\alpha}(x)||g_{\beta}(z)| \sum_{y \in H} \frac{\omega(y)}{\omega(x)\omega(z)} \delta_{x} * \delta_{z}(y) \\ &= \limsup_{\alpha} \limsup_{\beta} \|\psi\|_{\ell^{\infty}(H)} \sum_{x,z \in H} |f_{\alpha}(x)||g_{\beta}(z)|\Omega(x,z). \end{split}$$

For a given $\epsilon > 0$, since by the hypothesis $\lim_x \limsup_z \Omega(x, z) = 0$, there is a finite set $A \subseteq H$ such that for each $x \in A^c := H \setminus A$ there exists a finite set $B_x \subseteq H$ such that for each $z \in B_x^c := H \setminus B$, $|\Omega(x, z)| \le \epsilon$.

First note that

$$\limsup_{\alpha} \sup_{\beta} \sup_{x \in A^c} \sum_{z \in B^c_x} |f_{\alpha}(x)| |g_{\beta}(z)| \Omega(x,z) \le \limsup_{\alpha} \sup_{\beta} \sup_{\beta} \epsilon ||f_{\alpha}||_1 ||g_{\beta}||_1 \le \epsilon.$$

Also according to our assumption about Φ and Ψ and since for each $x \in H$, $\delta_x \in c_0(H, 1/\omega)$,

$$\lim_{\alpha} f_{\alpha}(x) = \langle \Phi, \delta_x \rangle = 0, \quad \lim_{\beta} g_{\beta}(x) = \langle \Psi, \delta_x \rangle = 0.$$

So for the given $\epsilon > 0$ there is α_0 such that for all $\alpha_0 \leq \alpha$, $|f_{\alpha}(x)| < \epsilon/|A|$ for all $x \in A$. Moreover, for each $x \in A^c$ there is some β_0^x such that for all β where $\beta_0^x \leq \beta$, $|g_{\beta}(z)| < \epsilon/|B_x|$ for all $z \in B_x$ (this is possible since A and B_x are finite). Therefore, since $|\Omega(x, z)| \leq 1$,

$$\limsup_{\alpha} \sup_{\beta} \sup_{x \in A} \sum_{z \in H} |f_{\alpha}(x)| |g_{\beta}(z)| \Omega(x,z) \le \limsup_{\beta} \epsilon ||g_{\beta}||_{1} = \epsilon$$

and

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{\alpha} \limsup_{\beta} \sup_{x \in A^c} \sum_{z \in B_x} |f_{\alpha}(x)| |g_{\beta}(z)| \Omega(x,z) &\leq \limsup_{\alpha} \sum_{x \in A^c} |f_{\alpha}(x)| \limsup_{\beta} \sum_{z \in B_x} |g_{\beta}(z)| \\ &\leq \limsup_{\alpha} \epsilon \|f_{\alpha}\|_{1} = \epsilon. \end{split}$$

But

$$\sum_{x,z\in H} |f_{\alpha}(x)||g_{\beta}(z)|\Omega(x,z) = \sum_{x\in A^{c},z\in B_{x}^{c}} |f_{\alpha}(x)||g_{\beta}(z)|\Omega(x,z) + \sum_{x\in A,z\in H} |f_{\alpha}(x)||g_{\beta}(z)|\Omega(x,z) + \sum_{x\in A^{c},z\in B_{x}} |f_{\alpha}(x)||g_{\beta}(z)|\Omega(x,z),$$

and so, one gets that $|\langle \psi \omega, \kappa^{**}(\Phi \Box \Psi) \rangle| \leq 3\epsilon \|\psi\|_{\infty}$. This implies that $\Phi \Box \Psi = 0$.

Theorem 7.1.6. Let (H, ω) be a discrete weighted hypergroup with a central weight ω and consider the following conditions:

- (1) Ω 0-clusters strongly on $H \times H$.
- (2) $\Phi \Box \Psi = \Phi \diamondsuit \Psi = 0$ for all $\Phi, \Psi \in c_0(H, 1/\omega)^{\perp}$.
- (3) $\ell^1(H,\omega)$ is Arens regular.

Then
$$(1) \Rightarrow (2) \Rightarrow (3)$$

Proof. (1) \Rightarrow (2) by Theorem 7.1.5. (2) \Rightarrow (3) is implied from Proposition 7.1.3 and Proposition 4.1.4.

Remark 7.1.7. Since in hypergroups, the cancellation does not necessarily exist, the argument of [16, Theorem 1] cannot be applied to show ((3)) implies ((1)).

Corollary 7.1.8. Let (H, ω) be a weighted discrete hypergroup such that ω is a weakly additive central weight. If $1/\omega \in c_0(H)$, then $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ is Arens regular.

Proof. We have

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \limsup_{y \to \infty} \frac{\omega(\delta_x * \delta_y)}{\omega(x)\omega(y)} \leq \limsup_{x \to \infty} \limsup_{y \to \infty} C \frac{\omega(x) + \omega(y)}{\omega(x)\omega(y)}$$
$$= C \limsup_{x \to \infty} \limsup_{y \to \infty} \frac{1}{\omega(x)} + \frac{1}{\omega(y)} = 0$$

Therefore Ω 0-clusters on $H \times H$ and hence $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ is Arens regular by Theorem 7.1.6.

Corollary 7.1.9. Let H be an infinite finitely generated hypergroup. Then for each polynomial weight ω_{β} ($\beta > 0$) on H, $\ell^{1}(H, \omega_{\beta})$ is Arens regular.

Proof. Let F be a finite generator of the hypergroup H containing the identity of H rendering the central weight ω_{β} . First, note that by Remark 4.2.2, ω_{β} is centrally additive (and consequently weakly additive) with constant $C = \min\{1, 2^{\beta-1}\}$. Moreover, for each $N \in \mathbb{N}$, F^N is a finite subset of H such that for each $x \in H \smallsetminus F^N$, $\tau_F(x) \ge N$; hence,

$$\omega_{\beta}(x) = (1 + \tau_F(x))^{\beta} \ge (1 + N)^{\beta}.$$

Hence $1/\omega_{\beta} \in c_0(H)$ and therefore $\ell^1(H, \omega_{\beta})$ is Arens regular, by Corollary 7.1.8.

Example 7.1.10. In Section 3.3, we introduced polynomial hypergroup structure of \mathbb{N}_0 . Further, as a finitely generated hypergroup, we defined the polynomial weight ω_β on that where $\omega_\beta(n) = (1+n)^\beta$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Therefore by Corollary 7.1.9, $\ell^1(\mathbb{N}_0, \omega_\beta)$ is Arens regular.

Remark 7.1.11. Every infinite finitely generated hypergroup H admits a weight for which the corresponding weighted algebra is Arens regular. An argument similar to [16, Corollary 1] may apply to show that for every uncountable discrete hypergroup H, H does not have any central weight ω which 0-clusters.

7.1.3 Arens regularity of weighted hypergroup algebra of Conj(G) for some special G

Remark 7.1.12. Let ω be a central weight on $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ for some FC group G. Then there is a group weight σ_{ω} , as defined in Remark 4.4.1, such that $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega)$ is isometrically Banach algebra isomorphic to $Z\ell^1(G, \sigma_{\omega})$. So one may use the embedding $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega) \hookrightarrow \ell^1(G, \sigma_{\omega})$ to prove the results of this subsection applying the theorems which are characterizing weighted group algebras..

Example 7.1.13. Let $\operatorname{Aff}_p := \mathbb{Z}_p \rtimes \mathbb{Z}_p^*$ be the affine group generated with $\mathbb{Z}_p (:= \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})$ for a prime number p, when for each $(a, b), (a', b') \in \operatorname{Aff}_p$ we define (a, b)(a', b') = (a + ba', bb'). Based on the calculations of [74, p 274], in the following table, we re-present the structure of conjugacy classes of Aff_p .

Conjugacy classes

$$C_{(0,1)}$$
 $C_{(1,1)}$
 $C_{(0,y)}$
 $y \in 2, \dots, p-1$

 Number
 1
 1
 $p-2$

 Size
 1
 $p-1$
 p

As a direct result of the above table, for each three conjugacy classes say $C_1, C_2, D \in$ Conj(Aff_p), $|D| \leq (|C_1| + |C_2|)$ if $D \subseteq C_1C_2$ for each prime number $p \geq 3$. In other words, the weight $\omega_p(C) \coloneqq |C|$, defined in Example 4.4.2, forms a central additive weight on Aff_p. Let \mathcal{P} be the set of all prime numbers greater than or equal to 3. Define $G = \bigoplus_{p \in \mathcal{P}} Aff_p$ and ω_{α} is the weight defined in Example 3.1.3 for some $\alpha > 0$. For $C \in D * E$ for $C, D, E \in \text{Conj}(G)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \omega_{\alpha}(C) &= (1 + |C_{i_1}| + \dots + |C_{i_n}|)^{\alpha} \\ &\leq (1 + |D_{i_1}| + \dots + |D_{i_n}| + 1 + |E_{i_1}| + \dots + |E_{i_n}|)^{\alpha} \\ &\leq M \left((1 + |D_{i_1}| + \dots + |D_{i_n}|)^{\alpha} + (1 + |E_{i_1}| + \dots + |E_{i_n}|)^{\alpha} \right) \leq C(\omega_{\alpha}(D) + \omega_{\alpha}(E)) \end{split}$$

for $M = \min\{1, 2^{\alpha-1}\}$, by (4.2.1), where $i_j \in \mathbf{I}_C$ and \mathbf{I}_C is the set of all indexes $i \in \mathbf{I}$ such that $x_i \neq e_{G_i}$ for some $x = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \in C$ as defined before in Example 3.1.3.

Hence, ω_{α} is centrally additive (see Definition4.1.5). Moreover, since for each $p \in \mathcal{P}$, $|C| \ge p-1$ for any non-trivial element $C \in \operatorname{Conj}(\operatorname{Aff}_p)$, $\lim_n \omega_{\alpha}(C_n) = \infty$ for each sequence of distinct elements of $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$. Therefore by Corollary 7.1.8, $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega_{\alpha})$ is Arens regular.

Example 7.1.14. Let $SL(2, 2^n)$ denote the finite group of special linear matrices over the field \mathbb{F}_{2^n} with cardinal 2^n , for given $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The character table of $SL(2, 2^n)$ can be found at [1]. In the following we just present the part of the character table related to the conjugacy classes of $SL(2, 2^n)$.

Conjugacy classes	e	N	$c_3(x)$	$c_4(z)$
Number	1	1	$(2^n - 2)/2$	2^{n-1}
Size	1	$2^{2n} - 1$	$2^{2n} + 2^n$	$2^{2n} - 2^n$

As a direct result of the above table, for each three conjugacy classes say $C_1, C_2, D \in$ $\operatorname{Conj}(SL(2,2^n)), |D| \leq 2(|C_1| + |C_2|)$ if $D \subseteq C_1C_2$ for all n. Let us define the FC group Gto be the RDPF of $(SL(2,2^n))_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ i.e.

$$G \coloneqq \bigoplus_{n=1}^{\infty} SL(2, 2^n).$$

Therefore, similar to the previous example, for the hypergroup $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$, the weight ω_{α} , as defined as in Example 3.1.3, is centrally additive for the constant $M = 2^{\alpha} \min\{1, 2^{\alpha-1}\}$, and consequently, weakly additive. Moreover, since $\lim_{C\to\infty} \omega_{\alpha}(C) = \infty$, $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega_{\alpha})$ is Arens regular, by Corollary 7.1.8.

Remark 7.1.15. Let G be an FC group and σ a group weight on G. We defined ω_{σ} , the derived weight on Conj(G) from σ in Definition 4.3.2. Recall that in this case $Z\ell^1(G,\sigma)$ is isomorphic to the Banach algebra $\ell^1(\text{Conj}(G), \omega_{\sigma})$, by Corollary 4.3.3. If N is a normal subgroup of G, in Section 4.5, we defined a quotient mapping $T_{\omega_{\sigma}} : \ell^1(\text{Conj}(G), \omega_{\sigma}) \to \ell^1(\text{Conj}(G/N), \tilde{\omega}_{\sigma})$ in Proposition 4.5.1 where

$$\tilde{\omega}_{\sigma}(C_{xN}) = \inf\{\omega_{\sigma}(C_{xy}): y \in N\} \ (C_{xN} \in \operatorname{Conj}(G/N)).$$

Let us note that for an Arens regular Banach algebra \mathcal{A} , every quotient algebra \mathcal{A}/\mathcal{I} where \mathcal{I} is a closed ideal of \mathcal{A} is Arens regular as well (see [17, Corollary 3.15]). Therefore, if $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega_{\sigma})$ is Arens regular, for every normal subgroup N, $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G/N), \tilde{\omega}_{\sigma})$, which is isomorphic to $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega_{\sigma})/\operatorname{Ker}(T_{\omega_{\sigma}})$, is Arens regular.

7.1.4 Arens regularity of $\ell^1(\widehat{SU(n)},\omega)$

Example 7.1.16. In Example 4.6.2, we observed that for each $\beta > 0$, $\omega_{\beta}(\ell) = (2\ell + 1)^{\beta}$ is a polynomial weight on the finitely generated hypergroup $\widehat{SU(2)}$. Therefore $\ell^1(\widehat{SU(2)}, \omega_{\beta})$ is Arens regular. Note that ω_{β} also corresponds the weight on the dual of SU(2) which is generated by the degree of representations. See Corollary 4.6.1.

In this subsection, we may generalize the result of Example 7.1.16 for all SU(n) and ω_{β} for $\beta > 0$ base on some recent studies on the representation theory of SU(n). As an example for Corollary 4.6.1, $(\widehat{SU(n)}, \omega_{\beta})$ is a discrete commutative hypergroup where $\omega_{\beta}(\pi) = d_{\pi}^{\beta}$ for some $\beta \ge 0$. It is known that there is a one-to-one correspondence between $\widehat{SU(n)}$ and *n*-tuples $(\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+$ such that

$$\pi_1 \ge \pi_2 \ge \dots \ge \pi_{n-1} \ge \pi_n = 0$$

This presentation of the representation theory of SU(n) is called *dominant weight*. Using this presentation, we have the following formula which gives the dimension of each representation.

$$d_{\pi} = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \frac{\pi_i - \pi_j + j - i}{j - i}$$
(7.1.4)

where π is the representation corresponding to (π_1, \ldots, π_n) . Suppose that π, ν, μ are representations corresponding to (π_1, \ldots, π_n) , (ν_1, \ldots, ν_n) , and (μ_1, \ldots, μ_n) , respectively, such that $\pi \in \nu * \mu$. By a new result of Collins, Lee, and Šniady [15, Corollary 1.2], for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists some $D_n > 0$ such that

$$\frac{d_{\pi}}{d_{\mu}d_{\nu}} \le D_n(1/\mu_1 + 1/\nu_1).$$
(7.1.5)

when neither ν nor μ is the trivial representation of SU(n). Hence in general if $C_n = \max\{D_n, 1/2\}$, then

$$\frac{d_{\pi}}{d_{\mu}d_{\nu}} \le 2C_n \left(\frac{1}{1+\mu_1} + \frac{1}{1+\nu_1}\right). \tag{7.1.6}$$

Applying (7.1.6), we prove that ω_{β} 0-clusters on SU(2).

Theorem 7.1.17. For every $\beta > 0$, $\ell^1(\widehat{SU(n)}, \omega_\beta)$ is Arens regular.

Proof. Let $(\mu_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $(\nu_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ are two arbitrary sequence of distinct elements of $\widehat{SU(n)}$. Since, the elements of $(\mu_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ $((\nu_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}})$ are distinct, $\lim_{m \to \infty} \mu_1^{(m)} = \infty$ $(\lim_{k \to \infty} \nu_1^{(k)} = \infty)$ where $\mu_m = (\mu_1^{(m)}, \dots, \mu_n^{(m)})$ $(\nu_k = (\nu_1^{(k)}, \dots, \nu_n^{(k)}))$. For each arbitrary pair $(m, k) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$, if $\pi \in \mu_m * \nu_k$, we have

$$d_{\pi} \leq 2C_n \big(\frac{1}{1+\mu_1^{(m)}} + \frac{1}{1+\nu_1^{(k)}}\big) d_{\mu_m} d_{\nu_k}.$$

Hence

$$\omega_{\beta}(\pi) \leq (2C_n)^{\beta} (\frac{1}{1+\mu_1^{(m)}} + \frac{1}{1+\nu_1^{(k)}})^{\beta} \omega_{\beta}(\mu_m) \omega_{\beta}(\nu_k).$$

Therefore

$$\omega_{\beta}(\delta_{\mu_m} \ast \delta_{\nu_k}) = \sum_{\pi \in \widetilde{SU(n)}} \delta_{\mu_m} \ast \delta_{\nu_k}(\pi) \omega_{\beta}(\pi) \le (2C_n)^{\beta} (\frac{1}{1+\mu_1^{(m)}} + \frac{1}{1+\nu_1^{(k)}})^{\beta} \omega_{\beta}(\mu_m) \omega_{\beta}(\nu_k).$$

Or equivalently

$$\Omega_{\beta}(\mu_{m},\nu_{k}) \coloneqq \frac{\omega_{\beta}(\delta_{\mu_{m}} * \delta_{\nu_{k}})}{\omega_{\beta}(\mu_{m})\omega_{\beta}(\nu_{k})} \leq (2C_{n})^{\beta} (\frac{1}{1+\mu_{1}^{(m)}} + \frac{1}{1+\nu_{1}^{(k)}})^{\beta}.$$

And,

$$\lim_{m\to\infty}\limsup_{k\to\infty}\Omega_{\beta}(\mu_m,\nu_k)=\lim_{k\to\infty}\limsup_{m\to\infty}\Omega_{\beta}(\mu_m,\nu_k)=0.$$

Since $\widehat{SU(n)}$ is countable, this argument implies that Ω_{β} 0-clusters strongly on $\widehat{SU(n)} \times \widehat{SU(n)}$ and, by Theorem 7.1.6, $\ell^1(\widehat{SU(n)}, \omega_{\beta})$ is Arens regular.

7.1.5 Some weighted hypergroup algebras are not Arens regular

In the following theorem, we apply some techniques of [16] to show that for restricted direct product of hypergroups many weights fail to give Arens regular algebras.

Theorem 7.1.18. Let $(H_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ be an infinite family of non-trivial hypergroups and for each $i \in \mathbf{I}$, ω_i is a weight on H_i such that $\omega_i(e_{H_i}) = 1$ for all except finitely many $i \in \mathbf{I}$. Let $H = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} H_i$ and $\omega = \prod_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \omega_i$, as defined in Subsection 4.1.1. Then $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ is not Arens regular.

Proof. Since **I** is infinite, suppose that $\mathbb{N}_0 \times \mathbb{N}_0 \subseteq \mathbf{I}$. Define $v_n = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}}$ $(u_m = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbf{I}})$ where $x_i = e_{H_i}$ for all $i \in \mathbf{I} \setminus (n, 0)$ $(i \in \mathbf{I} \setminus (0, m))$ and $x_{(n,0)}$ $(x_{(0,m)})$ be a non-identity element of $H_{(n,0)}$ $(H_{(0,m)})$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ $(m \in \mathbb{N})$. Note that for each pair of elements $(n,m) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$, $v_n * u_m$ forms a singleton in H; moreover, $\omega(v_n * u_m) = \omega(v_n)\omega(u_m)$. Hence, $(v_n * u_m)_{(n,m) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}}$ forms a sequence of distinct elements in H.

Let us define $f_n = \delta_{v_n}$ and $g_m = \delta_{u_m}$ for all $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$; hence, $f_n * g_m(t) = \delta_{v_n * u_m}$. Suppose that $A := \{(v_n, u_m) : n > m\}$ and $\phi \in \ell^{\infty}(H)$ is the characteristic function of the subset A. Clearly, $\kappa^{-1}(f_n) = \omega^{-1}f_n$ and $\kappa^{-1}(g_m) = \omega^{-1}g_m$ belong to $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ for all n, m and $\kappa^*(\phi) = \omega\phi \in \ell^{\infty}(H, \omega^{-1})$, for κ define in Subsection 7.1.2. Note that

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \omega^{-1} f_n * \omega^{-1} g_m, \kappa^*(\phi) \rangle &= \langle \omega^{-1} f_n * \omega^{-1} g_m, \omega \phi \rangle \\ &= \sum_{t \in H} (\omega^{-1} f_n * \omega^{-1} g_m)(t) \omega(t) \phi(t) \\ &= \frac{\omega(v_n * u_m)}{\omega(v_n) \omega(u_m)} \phi(v_n * u_m) \\ &= \phi(v_n * u_m) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } n > m \\ 0 & \text{if } n \le m \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

Let us recall that for each n and m, $||f_n||_{\ell^1(H,\omega)} = 1$ and $||g_m||_{\ell^1(H,\omega)} = 1$. So $(f_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $(g_m)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$, as two nets in the unit ball of $\ell^1(H,\omega)^{**}$ which is weak^{*} compact, have two subnets $(f_\alpha)_\alpha$ and $(g_\beta)_\beta$ such that f_α and g_β converge weakly^{*} to some F and G in $\ell^1(H,\omega)^{**}$, respectively.

Note that for the specific element ϕ , defined above,

$$\langle F \Box G, \phi \rangle = \lim_{\alpha} \lim_{\beta} \langle \omega^{-1} f_{\alpha} * \omega^{-1} g_{\beta}, \kappa^{*}(\phi) \rangle = 0$$

while

$$\langle F \diamondsuit G, \phi \rangle = \lim_{\beta} \lim_{\alpha} \langle \langle \omega^{-1} f_{\alpha} * \omega^{-1} g_{\beta}, \kappa^{*}(\phi) \rangle = 1.$$

Hence $F \square G \neq F \diamondsuit G$ and $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ is not Arens regular.

Example 7.1.19. Let G be the restricted direct product of an infinite family of finite groups $(G_i)_i$. By Example 3.1.3, $\operatorname{Conj}(G) = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \operatorname{Conj}(G_i)$. Also for $\omega(C_x) = \prod_i |C_{x_i}|$, ω is a weight such that $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega)$ is not Arens regular, by Theorem 7.1.18. One may compare this weight with the examples in Subsection 7.1.3.

7.2 Operator algebra property of weighted hypergroup algebras

Let (H, ω) be a weighted discrete hypergroup. In this section, we study the existence of an algebra isomorphism from $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ onto an operator algebra. A Banach algebra \mathcal{A} is called an operator algebra if there is a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} such that \mathcal{A} is a closed subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

Definition 7.2.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a Banach algebra and $m : \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ is bilinear mapping m(f,g) = fg. Then \mathcal{A} is called *injective*, if m has a bounded extension from the injective tensor product $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\epsilon} \mathcal{A}$ into \mathcal{A} , where \otimes_{ϵ} is the injective tensor product. In this case, we denote the norm of m by $\|m\|_{\epsilon}$.

We present the following theorem from [52, Corollary 2.2.] without a proof.

Theorem 7.2.2. Let \mathcal{A} be an injective Banach algebra. Then A is isomorphic to an operator algebra.

Injectiveness of weighted group algebras has been studied before. Initially Varopoulos, in [76], studied the group \mathbb{Z} equipped with the weight $\sigma_{\alpha}(n) = (1 + |n|)^{\alpha}$ for all $\alpha \geq 0$. This study looked at injectiveness of $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}, \sigma_{\alpha})$. He showed that $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}, \sigma_{\alpha})$ is injective if and only if $\alpha > 1/2$. The manuscript [52], which studied the injectiveness question for a wider family of weighted group algebras, developed a machinery applying Littlewood multipliers. In particular, they partially extended Varopoulos's result in [76] to finitely generated groups with polynomial growth. Following the structure of [52], in this section, we study the injective property of weighted hypergroup algebras.

We know that $\ell^1(H, \omega) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(H, \omega)$ is isometrically isomorphic with $\ell^1(H \times H, \omega \times \omega)$. Moreover, $\ell^1(H \times H, \omega \times \omega)^*$ is nothing but $\ell^{\infty}(H \times H, \omega^{-1} \times \omega^{-1})$. Since the injective tensor product is minimal among all Banach space tensor products, the identity map $\iota : \ell^1(H) \times \ell^1(H) \to \ell^1(H) \times \ell^1(H)$ may extend to a contractive mapping

$$\iota: \ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(H) \to \ell^1(H) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H).$$

Since, ι has a dense range,

$$\iota^* : (\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H))^* \to (\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(H))^* = \ell^{\infty}(H \times H)$$
(7.2.1)

is an injective mapping. Therefore, applying ι^* , one may embed $(\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H))^*$ into $\ell^{\infty}(H \times H)$, as a sub vector space of $\ell^{\infty}(H \times H)$.

7.2.1 Littlewood multipliers for hypergroups

Let H be a discrete hypergroup. We define *Littlewood multipliers* of H to be set of all functions $f: H \times H \to \mathbb{C}$ such that there exist functions $f_1, f_2: H \times H \to \mathbb{C}$ where

$$f(x,y) = f_1(x,y) + f_2(x,y) \quad (x,y \in G)$$

and

$$\sup_{y\in H}\sum_{x\in H}|f_1(x,y)|^2<\infty, \quad \sup_{x\in H}\sum_{y\in H}|f_2(x,y)|^2<\infty.$$

We denote the set of all Littlewood multipliers by $T^2(H)$ and define the following norm on $T^2(H)$

$$||f||_{T^{2}(H)} = \inf \left\{ \sup_{y \in H} \left(\sum_{x \in H} |f_{1}(x, y)|^{2} \right)^{1/2} + \sup_{x \in H} \left(\sum_{y \in H} |f_{2}(x, y)|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \right\}.$$

where the infimum is taken over all possible decompositions f_1, f_2 . Note that for each $f \in T^2(H)$ and a decomposition f_1, f_2 of that,

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{\ell^{\infty}(H\times H)} &= \sup_{x,y\in H} |f(x,y)| \leq \sup_{x,y\in H} |f_{1}(x,y)| + \sup_{x,y\in H} |f_{2}(x,y)| \\ &\leq \sup_{y\in H} \left(\sum_{x\in H} |f_{1}(x,y)|^{2} \right)^{1/2} + \sup_{x\in H} \left(\sum_{y\in H} |f_{2}(x,y)|^{2} \right)^{1/2} < \infty, \end{split}$$

since for discrete space H, $\ell^2(H) \subseteq \ell^{\infty}(H)$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\infty} \leq \|\cdot\|_2$. Since f_1, f_2 , in the previous equation are arbitrary, $\|f\|_{\ell^{\infty}(H \times H)} \leq \|f\|_{T^2(H)}$. Hence $T^2(H) \subseteq \ell^{\infty}(H \times H)$. Furthermore, for each $\phi \in \ell^{\infty}(H \times H)$ and $f \in T^2(H)$, $f\phi \in T^2(H)$ and

$$\|f\phi\|_{T^{2}(H)} \leq \|f\|_{T^{2}(H)} \|\phi\|_{\infty}.$$
(7.2.2)

Theorem 7.2.3. Let $I : T^2(H) \to (\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(H))^* = \ell^{\infty}(H \times H)$ be the mapping which takes every element of $T^2(H)$ to itself as a bounded function on $H \times H$. Then $I(T^2(H)) \subseteq \iota^*((\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H))^*)$ for the mapping ι^* defined in (7.2.1).

Moreover, for $J := \iota^{*^{-1}} \circ I$ i.e. $J : T^2(H) \to (\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H))^*$ is well-defined and $||J|| \leq K_{\mathfrak{G}}$ where $K_{\mathfrak{G}}$ is Grothendieck's constant.
The proof and its preliminaries are given in Appendix A. From now on, we identify $(\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H))^*$ with its image with respect to the mapping ι^* ; hence, J is the identity mapping which takes $T^2(H)$ into $(\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H))^*$.

7.2.2 The operator algebra property of weighted hypergroup algebras

Theorem 7.2.4. Let H be a discrete hypergroup and ω is a weight on H such that Ω , defined in (7.1.3), belongs to $T^2(H)$. Then $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ is injective. Moreover, for m as defined in Definition 7.2.1,

$$||m||_{\epsilon} \leq K_{\mathfrak{G}} ||\Omega||_{T^2(H)}.$$

Proof. Let

$$\Gamma_{\omega}: \ell^1(H \times H, \omega \times \omega) \to \ell^1(H, \omega)$$

such that

$$\Gamma_{\omega}(f \otimes g) = f * g \tag{7.2.3}$$

for $f, g \in \ell^1(H, \omega)$. The adjoint of Γ_{ω} , Γ_{ω}^* , can be characterized as follows.

$$\Gamma^*_{\omega}(\phi)(x,y) = \langle \Gamma^*_{\omega}(\phi), \delta_x \otimes \delta_y \rangle = \langle \phi, \Gamma_{\omega}(\delta_x \otimes \delta_y) \rangle = \langle \phi, \delta_x * \delta_y \rangle$$

for all $\phi \in \ell^{\infty}(H, \omega^{-1})$ and $x, y \in H$. Now we define L from $\ell^{\infty}(H)$ to $\ell^{\infty}(H \times H)$ such that the following diagram commutes.

$$\ell^{\infty}(H, \omega^{-1}) \xrightarrow{\Gamma^{*}_{\omega}} \ell^{\infty}(H \times H, \omega^{-1} \times \omega^{-1})$$

$$P^{\uparrow} \qquad \qquad R \downarrow$$

$$\ell^{\infty}(H) \xrightarrow{L} \ell^{\infty}(H \times H)$$

where $P(\varphi)(x) = \varphi(x)\omega(x)$ for $\varphi \in \ell^{\infty}(H)$ and $R(\phi)(x,y) = \phi(x,y)\omega^{-1}(x)\omega^{-1}(y)$ for $\phi \in \ell^{\infty}(H \times H, \omega^{-1} \times \omega^{-1})$ and $x, y \in H$. Hence, one gets

$$L(\varphi)(x,y) = R\left(\Gamma_{\omega}^{*} \circ P(\varphi)\right)(x,y) = \frac{\left(\Gamma_{\omega}^{*} \circ P(\varphi)\right)(x,y)}{\omega(x)\omega(y)}$$
$$= \frac{\Gamma_{\omega}^{*}\left(\omega\varphi\right)(x,y)}{\omega(x)\omega(y)}$$
$$= \frac{\langle\varphi\omega, \delta_{x} * \delta_{y}\rangle}{\omega(x)\omega(y)}$$
$$= \sum_{t \in H} \delta_{x} * \delta_{y}(t) \frac{\omega(t)}{\omega(x)\omega(y)} \varphi(t).$$

for all $\varphi \in \ell^{\infty}(H)$. Hence,

$$\left|\sum_{t\in H}\delta_x * \delta_y(t)\frac{\omega(t)}{\omega(x)\omega(y)}\varphi(t)\right| \le \sum_{t\in H}\delta_x * \delta_y(t)\frac{\omega(t)}{\omega(x)\omega(y)}|\varphi(t)| \le \|\varphi\|_{\infty}\Omega(x,y)$$

So there is a function $v_{\varphi}: H \times H \to \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\frac{\langle \delta_x * \delta_y, \omega\varphi \rangle}{\omega(x)\omega(y)} = v_{\varphi}(x, y) \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \Omega(x, y)$$

and $||v_{\varphi}||_{\infty} \leq 1$. Therefore

$$L(\varphi) = \Lambda(\varphi)\Omega$$

where $\Lambda(\varphi)(x,y) \coloneqq v_{\varphi}(x,y) \|\phi\|_{\infty}$ for all $\varphi \in \ell^{\infty}(H)$. Since Ω belongs to $T^{2}(H)$ and $T^{2}(H)$ is an $\ell^{\infty}(H \times H)$ -module, $L(\varphi) \in T^{2}(H)$ and $\|L(\varphi)\|_{T^{2}(H)} \leq \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \|\Omega\|_{T^{2}(H)}$. Therefore $L(\ell^{\infty}(H)) \subseteq T^{2}(H) \subseteq (\ell^{1}(H) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^{1}(H))^{*}$.

In this case, using the following diagram with $\mathcal{A} = R^{-1}((\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H))^*),$

Cliam. $\mathcal{A} = (\ell^1(H, \omega) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H, \omega))^*.$

Proof of Claim. Note that R is the adjoint of R_* an isomorphism from $\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(H)$ into $\ell^1(H, \omega) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(H, \gamma)$ such that $R_*(f \otimes g) = f\omega^{-1} \otimes g\omega^{-1}$. Similarly, one may define the isometry R_*^{ϵ} such that $R_*^{\epsilon}(f \otimes g) = f\omega^{-1} \otimes g\omega^{-1}$. Therefore, $R_*^{\epsilon} : \ell^1(H) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H) \to \ell^1(H, \omega) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H, \omega)$ is a Banach space isomorphism. Let us define, similar to $\iota, \iota_{\omega} : \ell^1(H, \omega) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^1(H, \omega) \to \ell^1(H, \omega) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H, \omega) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H, \omega)$. Therefore, clearly the following diagram commutes (one may study the maps on elementary elements).

For $R_{\epsilon} = (R_{*}^{\epsilon})^{*}$, we get

Therefore, for each $\psi \in \iota_{\omega}^{*}((\ell^{1}(H,\omega) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^{1}(H,\omega))^{*}), R(\psi) \in \iota^{*}((\ell^{1}(H) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^{1}(H))^{*}).$ Similarly, if we may identify $\iota_{\omega}^{*}((\ell^{1}(H,\omega) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^{1}(H,\omega))^{*})$ with $(\ell^{1}(H,\omega) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^{1}(H,\omega))^{*}$ as a subspace of $\ell^{\infty}(H \times H, \omega^{-1} \times \omega^{-1}),$

$$R((\ell^1(H,\omega)\otimes_{\epsilon}\ell^1(H,\omega))^*) = (\ell^1(H)\otimes_{\epsilon}\ell^1(H))^*.$$

So, we have shown that Γ^* is a map projecting $\ell^{\infty}(H)$ into $(\ell^1(H) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H))^*$ as a subset of $\ell^{\infty}(H \times H)$. we see that Γ^*_{ω} is a map projecting $\ell^{\infty}(H, \omega^{-1})$ into $(\ell^1(H, \omega) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H, \omega))^*$. Hence, $\Gamma^*_{\omega} = m^*$, where

$$m: \ell^1(H,\omega) \otimes_{\epsilon} \ell^1(H,\omega) \to \ell^1(H,\omega).$$

and therefore m is bounded while $\|m\|=\|\Gamma_\omega\|=\|R\Gamma_\omega P\|=\|L\|.$ Moreover,

$$\begin{split} \|L(\varphi)\|_{(\ell^{1}(H)\otimes^{\epsilon}\ell^{1}(H))^{*}} &\leq \|J\| \|\Gamma^{*}(\varphi)\|_{T^{2}(H)} \leq K_{\mathfrak{G}} \|\Omega\|_{T^{2}(H)} \|\Lambda(\varphi)\|_{\ell^{\infty}(H\times H)} \\ &\leq K_{\mathfrak{G}} \|\Omega\|_{T^{2}(H)} \|\varphi\|_{\ell^{\infty}(H)} \end{split}$$

for all $\varphi \in \ell^{\infty}(H)$. Consequently, $||m||_{\epsilon} \leq K_{\mathfrak{G}} ||\Omega||_{T^{2}(H)}$.

Example 7.2.5. Let ω_{β} be the weight defined on $\widehat{SU(n)}$ in Corollary 4.6.1. As we have shown in the proof of Theorem 7.1.17, for polynomial weight $\omega_{\beta}, \beta \ge 0$, and $\mu, \nu \in \widehat{SU(n)}$,

$$\Omega_{\beta}(\mu,\nu) \le (2C_n)^{\beta} \left(\frac{1}{1+\mu_1} + \frac{1}{1+\nu_1}\right)^{\beta} \le A_{\beta} (2C_n)^{\beta} \left(\frac{1}{(1+\mu_1)^{\beta}} + \frac{1}{(1+\nu_1)^{\beta}}\right),$$

where $A_{\beta} = \min\{1, 2^{\beta-1}\}$. To study $\|\cdot\|_{T^2(\widehat{SU(2)})}$ for Ω_{β} , let us note that for each $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$, there are less than $(1+k)^{n-2} \max \lambda \in \widehat{SU(n)}$ such that $\lambda_1 = k$. Therefore

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \widehat{SU(n)}} \frac{1}{(1+\lambda_1)^{2\beta}} \le \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1+k)^{n-2}}{(1+k)^{2\beta}}$$

which is convergent if and only if $2\beta - n + 2 > 1$. Therefore, for $\beta > (n - 1)/2$, $\Omega_{\beta} \in T^2(\widehat{SU(n)})$ and by Theorem 7.2.4, $\ell^1(\widehat{SU(2)}, \omega_{\beta})$ is injective. Moreover, note that

$$\begin{split} \|\Omega_{\beta}\|_{T^{2}(\widehat{SU(n)})} &\leq \\ \left\| (\mu,\nu) \mapsto \frac{A_{\beta}(2C_{n})^{\beta}}{1+\mu_{1}} + \frac{A_{\beta}(2C_{n})^{\beta}}{1+\nu_{1}} \right\|_{T^{2}(H)} \\ &\leq \\ \left(\sup_{\nu \in \widehat{SU(n)}} \left(\sum_{\mu \in \widehat{SU(n)}} \left| \frac{A_{\beta}(2C_{n})^{\beta}}{1+\mu_{1}} \right|^{2} \right)^{1/2} + \sup_{\mu \in \widehat{SU(n)}} \left(\sum_{\nu \in \widehat{SU(n)}} \left| \frac{A_{\beta}(2C_{n})^{\beta}}{1+\nu_{1}} \right|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \right) \\ &\leq \\ A_{\beta}(2C_{n})^{\beta} 2 \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(1+k)^{2\beta-n+2}} \right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\|m\|_{\epsilon} \le K_{\mathfrak{G}} A_{\beta} 2^{\beta+1} C_n^{\beta} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(1+k)^{2\beta-n+2}} \right)^{1/2}$$

for $A_{\beta} = \min\{1, 2^{\beta-1}\}.$

Let us recall the definition of weakly additive weights on hypergroups from Definition 4.1.5. ω is a weakly additive weight on a hypergroup H if for all $x, y \in H$, $\omega(\delta_x * \delta_y) \leq C(\omega(x) + \omega(y))$ for some fixed C > 0.

Corollary 7.2.6. Let H be a discrete hypergroup and ω is a weakly additive weight on H with corresponding constant C > 0. Then $\ell^1(H, \omega)$ is injective if

$$\sum_{x\in H}\frac{1}{\omega(x)^2}<\infty.$$

Moreover, for m as defined in Definition 7.2.1,

$$||m||_{\epsilon} \leq 2CK_{\mathfrak{G}}\left(\sum_{x\in H} \frac{1}{\omega(x)^2}\right)^{1/2}.$$

Proof. Suppose that $\sum_{x \in H} \omega(x)^{-2} < \infty$. Note that for each $t \in x * y$,

$$\frac{\omega(t)}{\omega(x)\omega(y)} \le C \frac{\omega(x) + \omega(y)}{\omega(x)\omega(y)} = \frac{C}{\omega(x)} + \frac{C}{\omega(y)}$$

Thus based on (7.2.2) and for functions $f_1(x,y) = \omega(x)^{-1}$ and $f_2(x,y) = \omega(y)^{-1}$,

$$\begin{split} \|\Omega\|_{T^{2}(H)} &\leq \left\| (x,y) \mapsto \frac{C}{\omega(x)} + \frac{C}{\omega(y)} \right\|_{T^{2}(H)} \\ &\leq \left(\sup_{y \in H} \left(\sum_{x \in H} \left| \frac{C}{\omega(x)} \right|^{2} \right)^{1/2} + \sup_{x \in H} \left(\sum_{y \in H} \left| \frac{C}{\omega(y)} \right|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \right) \\ &\leq 2C \left(\sum_{x \in H} \frac{1}{\omega(x)^{2}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

Consequently, by Theorem 7.2.4, $\Omega \in T^2(H)$ and

$$\|m\|_{\epsilon} \leq 2CK_{\mathfrak{G}} \left(\sum_{x \in H} \frac{1}{\omega(x)^2}\right)^{1/2}.$$

Remark 7.2.7. In Example 7.1.14, we introduced a hypergroup which results from conjugacy classes of a specific group, $G = \bigoplus_{n=2}^{\infty} SL(2, 2^n)$. For the weight ω_{α} defined on $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$ by Example 3.1.3, we observed that $\ell^1(\operatorname{Conj}(G), \omega_{\alpha})$ is Arens regular. Moreover, as mentioned in Example 7.1.14, ω_{α} forms a weakly additive weight on $\operatorname{Conj}(G)$. But we may show that $\sum_{C \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} \omega(C)^{-2} = \infty$. Doing so, let us define E_m to be the set of all $C = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}} C_n \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)$ such that $\mathbf{I}_C = \{1, 2, \ldots, m\}$ where $\mathbf{I}_C := \{n \in \mathbb{N} : C_n \neq e_{SL(2,2^n)}\}$ for each n in \mathbf{I}_C . Moreover, for each $n \in \mathbf{I}_C$, let $C_n = c_4(z)$ for $c_4(z)$ denoted in the conjugacy table of $SL(2,2^n)$ in Example 7.1.14. Therefore,

$$\sum_{x \in \operatorname{Conj}(G)} \frac{1}{\omega(C)^2} \geq \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \sum_{C \in E_m} \frac{1}{\omega(C)^2}$$
$$\geq \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{m-1} 2^i}{(1+4^1+\dots+4^m)^2}$$
$$= \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \frac{2^{m(m-1)/2}}{(4^{m+1}-1)^2/9} = \infty.$$

Hence, not all weakly additive weights are satisfying the other condition mentioned in Corollary 7.2.6.

For finitely generated hypergroups, we have introduced two classes of weights in Section 4.2, namely, polynomial growth weights and exponential weights. Applying this fact that polynomial weights are weakly additive, in the following, we study operator algebra isomorphism for weighted hypergroup algebras with polynomial weights. Developing a machinery which relates exponential weights to polynomial ones, we also study exponential weights in Subsection 7.2.3. For the case that H is a group, this has been achieved in [52]

Corollary 7.2.8. Let H be a finitely generated hypergroup. If F is a generator of H such that $|F^n| \leq Dn^d$ for some d, D > 0 and ω_β is the polynomial weight on H associated to F (see Section 4.2). Then $\ell^1(H, \omega_\beta)$ is injective if $2\beta > d + 1$. Moreover,

$$\|m\|_{\epsilon} \le 2CK_{\mathfrak{F}} \left(1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{Dn^d}{(1+n)^{2\beta}}\right)^{1/2}$$

for C = min{1, $2^{\beta-1}$ }.

Proof. To show this corollary, we mainly rely on Corollary 7.2.6. By Remark 4.2.2, ω_{β} is weakly additive whose constant is $C = \min\{1, 2^{\beta-1}\}$.

To show the desired bound for $||m||_{\epsilon}$, note that

τ

$$\sum_{x \in H} \frac{1}{\omega_{\beta}(x)^{2}} = \sum_{x \in H} \frac{1}{(1 + \tau(x))^{2\beta}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\{x \in F^{n} \smallsetminus F^{n-1}\}} \frac{1}{(1 + n)^{2\beta}}$$
$$\leq 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{|F^{n}|}{(1 + n)^{2\beta}} \leq 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{Dn^{d}}{(1 + n)^{2\beta}}$$

which is convergent if $2\beta > d + 1$. Furthermore, by Corollary 7.2.6,

$$\|m\|_{\epsilon} \leq 2CK_{\mathfrak{G}} \left(\sum_{x \in H} \frac{1}{\omega_{\beta}(x)^2}\right)^{1/2} \leq 2CK_{\mathfrak{G}} \left(1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{Dn^d}{(1+n)^{2\beta}}\right)^{1/2}.$$

Example 7.2.9. As we have seen in Example 4.6.2, for each $\beta \ge 0$, ω_{β} defined in (4.6.1) is the polynomial weight on $\widehat{SU(2)}$ associated to $F = \{\pi_0, \pi_{1/2}\}$. Therefore, by Remark 4.2.2, ω_{β} is weakly additive on $\widehat{SU(2)}$. On the other hand,

$$\sum_{\pi \in \widetilde{SU}(2)} \frac{1}{\omega_{\beta}^{2}(\pi)} = \sum_{\ell \in \frac{\mathbb{Z}^{+}}{2}} \frac{1}{(2\ell+1)^{2\beta}} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n^{2\beta}}$$

which is convergent if $\beta > 1/2$. Note that this bound for β verifies the bound which was found in Example 7.2.5 by using a different property of $\widehat{SU(2)}$. Furthermore, Corollary 7.2.6 implies that $(\infty - 1)^{1/2}$

$$\|m\|_{\epsilon} \leq 2CK_{\mathfrak{G}} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{2\beta}}\right)^{1}$$

for $C = \min\{1, 2^{\beta-1}\}.$

Example 7.2.10. For a polynomial hypergroup \mathbb{N}_0 , as a finitely generated hypergroup with the generator $F = \{0, 1\}$, we have $|F^n| = n + 1 \leq 2n$, as we have seen in Section 3.3. Hence for d = 1 and D = 2, $|F^n| \leq Dn^d$. Recall that by Remark 3.2.3, $\widehat{SU(2)}$ can be regarded as a specific case in this example.

By Corollary 7.2.8, for the polynomial weight ω_{β} with $\beta > 1$ associated to F, $\ell^{1}(\mathbb{N}_{0}, \omega_{\beta})$ is injective. In this case also, an argument similar to Example 7.2.9 implies that

$$\|m\|_{\epsilon} \leq 2CK_{\mathfrak{G}} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{2\beta}}\right)^{1/2}$$

for $C = \min\{1, 2^{\beta-1}\}.$

7.2.3 Hypergroups with exponential weights

The other class of weights introduced for finitely generated hypergroups in Section 4.2 is the class of exponential weights. As we mentioned before, unlike polynomial weights, exponential weights are not necessarily weakly additive. In this subsection, following [52], we develop a machinery to study operator algebra isomorphism of these weights. The following lemma is narrated from [52, Lemma 3.2] without its proof.

Lemma 7.2.11. Let $0 < \alpha < 1$, C > 0, and $\beta \ge \max\left\{1, \frac{6}{C\alpha(1-\alpha)}\right\}$. Define the functions $p : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ and $q : (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$p(x) \coloneqq Cx^{\alpha} - \beta \ln(1+x), q(x) \coloneqq \frac{p(x)}{x}.$$

Then on $\left[\left(\frac{\beta^2}{C\alpha(1-\alpha)}\right)^{1/\alpha},\infty\right)$, p is increasing and q is decreasing.

The following lemma is a hypergroup adaptation for [52, Theorem 3.3] and the proof is similar to [34, Lemma B.2].

Lemma 7.2.12. Suppose that $0 < \alpha < 1$, C > 0, and $\beta \ge \max\left\{1, \frac{6}{C\alpha(1-\alpha)}\right\}$. Let $p: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ and $q: (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ be the functions defined in Lemma 7.2.11. Let H be a finitely generated hypergroup with a symmetric generator F and $\omega: H \to (0, \infty)$ such that

$$\omega(x) = e^{p(\tau_F(x))} = e^{\tau_F(x)q(\tau_F(x))} \quad \text{for all } x \in H.$$

Then $\omega(t) \leq M\omega(x)\omega(y)$ for all $t, x, y \in H$ such that $t \in x * y$ where

$$M = \max\{e^{p(z_1) - p(z_2) - p(z_3)} : z_1 \in [0, 4K] \cap \mathbb{N}_0, \ z_2, z_3 \in [0, 2K] \cap \mathbb{N}_0\}$$

and

$$K = \left(\frac{\beta^2}{C\alpha(1-\alpha)}\right)^{1/\alpha}.$$

Proof. We split the proof into four cases with respect to possibilities of $\tau_F(x)$, $\tau_F(y)$, and $\tau_F(t)$ for $t \in x * y$. In each case, we apply Lemma 7.2.11 and this fact that $e^{-p(0)} = 1$, and $\tau_F(t) \leq \tau_F(x) + \tau_F(y)$. In particular note that $M \geq 1$.

Case I: $\max\{\tau_F(x), \tau_F(y)\} \leq 2K$. In this case, note that $\tau_F(t) \leq \tau_F(x) + \tau_F(y) \leq 4K$ for every $t \in x * y$. Therefore,

$$\frac{\omega(t)}{\omega(x)\omega(y)} = e^{p(\tau_F(t)) - p(\tau_F(x)) - p(\tau_F(y))} \le M.$$

Case II: $\max\{\tau_F(x), \tau_F(y)\} > 2K$ and $\min\{\tau_F(x), \tau_F(y)\} \le K$. Without loss of generality, we may suppose that $\tau_F(x) > 2K$ and $\tau_F(y) \le K$. Since H is a discrete commutative hypergroup, for each $t \in x * y$, $x \in t * \check{y}$ (see [49, Lemma 1.2]). Therefore, for the symmetric generator F (where $\tau_F(y) = \tau_F(\check{y})$), one gets that $\tau_F(x) + \tau_F(y) \ge \tau_F(t) \ge \tau_F(x) - \tau_F(y) \ge 2K - K = K$. Hence,

$$e^{p(\tau_{F}(t))} \leq e^{p(\tau_{F}(x)+\tau_{F}(y))}$$

$$= e^{(\tau_{F}(x)+\tau_{F}(y))q(\tau_{F}(x)+\tau_{F}(y))}$$

$$= e^{\tau_{F}(x)q(\tau_{F}(x)+\tau_{F}(y))}e^{\tau_{F}(y)q(\tau_{F}(x)+\tau_{F}(y))}$$

$$\leq e^{\tau_{F}(x)q(\tau_{F}(x)+\tau_{F}(y))}e^{Kq(K)}$$

$$\leq e^{\tau_{F}(x)q(\tau_{F}(x))}e^{Kq(K)} (\star)$$

$$= e^{p(\tau_{F}(x))}e^{p(\tau_{F}(y))}e^{p(K)-p(\tau_{F}(y))} \leq M\omega(x)\omega(y).$$

Note that (\star) is implied by this fact that q is a decreasing function on that specific interval.

Case III: $\min\{\tau_F(x), \tau_F(y), \tau_F(t)\} > K$ for some $t \in x * y$. In this case, note that $K < \tau_F(x), \tau_F(y) < \tau_F(x) + \tau_F(y)$. Hence,

$$e^{p(\tau_F(t))} \leq e^{p(\tau_F(x)+\tau_F(y))}$$

= $e^{\tau_F(x)q(\tau_F(x)+\tau_F(y))}e^{\tau_F(y)q(\tau_F(x)+\tau_F(y))}$
$$\leq e^{\tau_F(x)q(\tau_F(x))}e^{\tau_F(y)q(\tau_F(y))} = \omega(x)\omega(y) \leq M\omega(x)\omega(y).$$

Case IV: Finally let $\min\{\tau_F(x), \tau_F(y)\} > K$ while $\tau_F(t) \leq K$ for some $t \in x * y$. So

$$\begin{split} \omega(x)\omega(y) &= e^{p(\tau_F(x))+p(\tau_F(y))} \\ &\geq e^{2p(K)} \\ &= e^{2p(K)-p(\tau_F(t))}\omega(t) \geq \frac{1}{M}\omega(t) \end{split}$$

In other words, $\omega(t) \leq M\omega(x)\omega(y)$.

Theorem 7.2.13. Let H be a finitely generated hypergroup. If F is a symmetric generator of H such that $|F^n| \leq Dn^d$ for some d, D > 0 and $\sigma_{\alpha,C}$ is an exponential weight on H for some $0 < \alpha < 1$ and C > 0. Then $\ell^1(H, \sigma_{\alpha,C})$ is injective.

Proof. Let ω_{β} be the weight defined in Lemma 7.2.12. We define a function $\omega: H \to (0, \infty)$ by

$$\omega(x) \coloneqq \frac{\sigma_{\alpha,C}(x)}{\omega_{\beta}(x)} = e^{C\tau_F(x)^{\alpha} - \beta \ln(1 + \tau_F(x))} \quad (x \in H)$$

where ω_{β} is the polynomial weight defined on H associated to F and $\beta > \max\{1, \frac{6}{C\alpha(1-\alpha)}, \frac{d+1}{2}\}$. Therefore, by Lemma 7.2.12, $\omega(t) \leq M\omega(x)\omega(y)$ for some M > 0 and all $t, x, y \in H$ such that $t \in x * y$. Therefore

$$\frac{\sigma_{\alpha,C}(t)}{\sigma_{\alpha,C}(x)\sigma_{\alpha,C}(y)} \le M \frac{\omega_{\beta}(t)}{\omega_{\beta}(x)\omega_{\beta}(y)}$$

Hence it follows from Remark 4.2.2 that

$$\frac{\sigma_{\alpha,C}(t)}{\sigma_{\alpha,C}(x)\sigma_{\alpha,C}(y)} \le M' \left(\frac{1}{(1+\tau(x))^{\beta}} + \frac{1}{(1+\tau(y))^{\beta}}\right)$$

for a modified constant M' > 0. Therefore by the proof of Corollary 7.2.8, $\Omega_{\sigma_{\alpha,C}} \in T^2(H)$. Hence $\ell^1(H, \sigma_{\alpha,C})$ is injective by Theorem 7.2.4.

Example 7.2.14. As a result of Theorem 7.2.13, and to follow Example 7.2.9 and Example 7.2.10, if H is a polynomial hypergroup on \mathbb{N}_0 , for each exponential weight $\sigma_{\alpha,C}$ for $0 < \alpha < 1$ and C > 0, $\ell^1(H, \sigma_{\alpha,C})$ is injective. Note that by Remark 3.2.3, this class of hypergroups includes $\widehat{SU(2)}$.

Appendix A

p-SUMMING OPERATORS AND DUAL OF INJECTIVE TENSOR PRODUCTS

Recall that in Subsection 1.3.2, we briefly have mentioned the definitions and some basic facts about tensor products of Banach spaces.

Definition A.0.15. [75, Section 9]

Let X and Y be Banach spaces. An operator $T: X \to Y$ is called *p*-summing if there exists a constant $C \ge 0$ such that for all finite sequences $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq X$ one gets

$$\left(\sum_{n} \|T(x_{n})\|^{p}\right)^{1/p} \leq C \sup_{\phi \in X^{*}: \|\phi\|_{X^{*}} \leq 1} \left(\sum_{n} |\langle\phi, x_{n}\rangle|^{p}\right)^{1/p}$$

The infimum of all such C is denoted by $\pi_p(T)$ and is called *p*-summing norm of T.

If an operator T is not p-summing, we may define $\pi_p(T) = \infty$. The set of all p-summing operators from X into Y is denoted by $\Pi_p(X, Y)$ after [75] and (Π_p, π_p) forms a normed operator ideal in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ (the space of all bounded operators from X into Y).

Definition A.0.16. [69, pp63-64] and [75, p42]

Let X and Y be Banach spaces. An operator $T: X \to Y$ is called *integral* if there exists a compact Hausdorff space K and a probability measure μ on K and two operators $W_1: X \to C(K)$ and $W_2: L^1(K, \mu) \to Y^{**}$ such that the following diagram commutes i.e. $id \circ T = W_2 \circ I \circ W_1$.

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X & \xrightarrow{T} Y & \xrightarrow{id} Y^{**} \\ W_1 & & & \\ & & & \\ W_2 \\ C(K) & \xrightarrow{I} L^1(K, \mu) \end{array}$$

where *id* is the canonical identity from Y into its second dual and I is the identity map from C(K) into $L^1(K,\mu)$. Then $||T||_i := \inf ||W_1|| ||W_2||$, where W_1 and W_2 are changing between all possible factorizations, defines a norm called *integral norm*. The space of all integral norms of X into Y denoted by $\mathcal{I}(X,Y)$ equipped with $||\cdot||_i$ is a normed operator ideal in $\mathcal{L}(X,Y)$.

Proposition A.0.17. Let X and Y be two Banach spaces. Then $(X \otimes_{\epsilon} Y)^*$ is isometrically isomorphic to $\Pi_1(X, Y^*)$.

Proof. By [69, Proposition 3.14], we know that $(X \otimes_{\epsilon} Y)^*$ is isometrically isomorphic to the space of all *integral operators* from X into Y^* , denoted by $\mathcal{I}(X, Y^*)$. By [75, p50], $T: X \to Y$ is

an integral operator if and only if T is 1-summing. Moreover, $\pi_1(T) = ||T||_i$ where $||\cdot||_i$ implies the integral norm of T.

Theorem A.0.18. [75, Theorem 10.11]

Let $L^{1}(S)$ be the Banach space of all μ -integrable functions on a measure space (S, Σ, μ) and let \mathcal{H} be a Hilbert space. Then every operator $T \in \mathcal{L}(L^{1}(S), \mathcal{H})$ is 1-summing and $\pi_{1}(T) \leq K_{\mathfrak{G}} ||T||$ where $K_{\mathfrak{G}}$ is Grothendieck's constant.

Lemma A.0.19. Let $T_1 : X \to Y$ and $T_2 : Y \to Z$ be bounded operators. Then $\pi_1(T_1T_2) \leq ||T_1||\pi_p(T_2)$ for each p.

Proof. Just note that

$$\left(\sum_{n} \|T_{1}T_{2}(x_{n})\|^{p}\right)^{1/p} \leq \|T_{1}\| \left(\sum_{n} \|T_{2}(x_{n})\|^{p}\right)^{1/p} \|T_{1}\| C \sup_{\phi \in X^{*}: \|\phi\|_{X^{*}} \leq 1} \left(\sum_{n} |\langle \phi, x_{n} \rangle|^{p}\right)^{1/p}.$$

Proof of Theorem 7.2.3. For each $f \in T^2(H)$, let $f = f_1 + f_2$ be an arbitrary Littlewood decomposition of f. Clearly, f_1 , f_2 , and f belong to $\ell^{\infty}(H \times H)$. Note that

$$\ell^{\infty}(H \times H) = (\ell^{1}(H) \otimes_{\gamma} \ell^{1}(H))^{*} = \mathcal{L}(\ell^{1}(H), \ell^{\infty}(H))$$
[69, Section 2.2].

So f_i may be represented by some $T_{f_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\ell^1(H), \ell^{\infty}(H))$ i = 1, 2, if we prove that $T_{f_i} \in \Pi_1(\ell^1(H), \ell^{\infty}(H))$, then we are done, by Proposition A.0.17.

For f_1 , note that $t \mapsto f_1(\cdot, t) : H \to \ell^2(H)$ is a function in $\ell^{\infty}(H, \ell^2(H))$. So, for each $g \in \ell^1(H)$ define $T_{f_1}(g) = \sum_{t \in H} g(t) f_1(\cdot, t) \in \ell^2(H)$. So T_{f_1} is an operator from $\ell^1(H)$ into $\ell^2(H)$. Furthermore,

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_{f_1}(g)\|_2 &= \left\| \sum_{t \in H} g(t) f_1(\cdot, t) \right\|_2 \\ &\leq \sum_{t \in H} |g(t)| \|f_1(\cdot, t)\|_2 \le \|g\|_1 \sup_{t \in H} \left(\sum_{s \in H} |f_1(s, t)|^2 \right)^{1/2} \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, by Theorem A.0.18, for T_{f_1} as an operator from $\ell^1(H)$ into $\ell^2(H)$,

$$\pi_1(F_{f_1}) \le K_{\mathfrak{G}} ||T_{f_1}|| \le K_{\mathfrak{G}} \sup_{t \in H} \left(\sum_{s \in H} |f_1(s,t)|^2 \right)^{1/2}.$$

For f_2 , similarly, note that $s \mapsto f_2(s, \cdot) : H \to \ell^2(H)$ is a function in $\ell^{\infty}(H, \ell^2(H))$. So, for each $g \in \ell^1(H)$ define $T_{f_2}(g) = \sum_{s \in H} g(s) f_2(s, \cdot) \in \ell^2(H)$. So T_{f_2} is an operator from $\ell^1(H)$ into $\ell^2(H)$. Furthermore,

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_{f_2}(g)\|_2 &= \left\|\sum_{s \in H} g(s)f_1(s, \cdot)\right\|_2 \\ &\leq \sum_{s \in H} |g(s)| \|f_1(s, \cdot)\|_2 \le \|g\|_1 \sup_{s \in H} \left(\sum_{t \in H} |f_2(s, t)|^2\right)^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$

For T_{f_2} as an operator from $\ell^1(H)$ into $\ell^2(H)$,

$$\pi_1(T_{f_2}) \leq K_{\mathfrak{G}} \|T_{f_2}\| \leq K_{\mathfrak{G}} \sup_{s \in H} \left(\sum_{t \in H} |f_2(s,t)|^2 \right)^{1/2}.$$

Also, note that $id_{2,\infty} \circ T_{f_i}$ is an operator from $\ell^1(H)$ into $\ell^{\infty}(H)$. Lemma A.0.19 implies that

$$\pi_1(id_{2,\infty} \circ T_{f_i}) \le \|id_{2,\infty}\|\pi_1(T_{f_i}) \ (i=1,2).$$

Note that since $\|\cdot\|_{\infty} \leq \|\cdot\|_2$, $\|id_{\infty}\| \leq 1$. To conclude, one may apply Lemma A.0.19 to conclude

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_f\|_i &= \pi_1(f) \leq \pi_1(f_1) + \pi_1(f_2) \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1,2} \pi_1(id_{2,\infty} \circ T_{f_i}) \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1,2} \|id_{2,\infty}\| \pi_1(T_{f_i}) \\ &\leq K_{\mathfrak{F}} \left(\sup_{t \in H} \left(\sum_{s \in H} |f_1(s,t)|^2 \right)^{1/2} + \sup_{s \in H} \left(\sum_{t \in H} |f_2(s,t)|^2 \right)^{1/2} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Since, the choice of f_1 and f_2 was arbitrary $||T_f||_i \leq K_{\mathfrak{G}} ||f||_{T^2(H)}$.

REFERENCES

- [1] J. Adams. Character table of sl(2, f). http://www2.math.umd.edu/jda/characters/sl2/.
- [2] M. Alaghmandan. Approximate amenability of segal algebras. J. Aust. Math. Soc. (to appear).
- [3] M. Alaghmandan, Y. Choi, and E. Samei. Amenability properties for the centres of certain discrete group algebras. *(submitted)*.
- [4] Massoud Amini and Alireza Medghalchi. Fourier algebras on tensor hypergroups. In Banach algebras and their applications, volume 363 of Contemp. Math., pages 1–14. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2004.
- [5] Ahmadreza Azimifard, Ebrahim Samei, and Nico Spronk. Amenability properties of the centres of group algebras. J. Funct. Anal., 256(5):1544–1564, 2009.
- [6] Teodor Banica and Roland Vergnioux. Growth estimates for discrete quantum groups. Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top., 12(2):321–340, 2009.
- [7] H. N. Bhattarai and J. W. Fernandez. Joins of double coset spaces. *Pacific J. Math.*, 98(2):271–280, 1982.
- [8] Walter R. Bloom and Herbert Heyer. Harmonic analysis of probability measures on hypergroups, volume 20 of de Gruyter Studies in Mathematics. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 1995.
- [9] N. Bourbaki. Éléments de mathématique. Fasc. XXXVII. Groupes et algèbres de Lie. Chapitre II: Algèbres de Lie libres. Chapitre III: Groupes de Lie. Hermann, Paris, 1972. Actualités Scientifiques et Industrielles, No. 1349.
- [10] J. T. Burnham. Closed ideals in subalgebras of Banach algebras. I. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 32:551–555, 1972.
- [11] Yury Chapovsky. Existence of an invariant measure on a hypergroup. arxiv: 1212.6571.
- [12] T. S. Chihara. An introduction to orthogonal polynomials. Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, New York, 1978. Mathematics and its Applications, Vol. 13.
- [13] Ajit Kaur Chilana and Kenneth A. Ross. Spectral synthesis in hypergroups. Pacific J. Math., 76(2):313–328, 1978.
- [14] Y. Choi and F. Ghahramani. Approximate amenability of Schatten classes, Lipschitz algebras and second duals of Fourier algebras. Q. J. Math., 62(1):39–58, 2011.

- [15] B. Collins, H. H. Lee, and P. Sniady. Dimensions of components of tensor products of the linear groups representations with applications to Beurling–Fourier algebras. arXiv:1210.6907.
- [16] I. G. Craw and N. J. Young. Regularity of multiplication in weighted group and semigroup algebras. Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. (2), 25:351–358, 1974.
- [17] H. G. Dales and A. T.-M. Lau. The second duals of Beurling algebras, volume 177. 2005.
- [18] H. G. Dales and R. J. Loy. Approximate amenability of semigroup algebras and Segal algebras. Dissertationes Math. (Rozprawy Mat.), 474:58, 2010.
- [19] David S. Dummit and Richard M. Foote. Abstract algebra. John Wiley & Sons Inc., Hoboken, NJ, third edition, 2004.
- [20] Charles F. Dunkl. Functions that operate in the Fourier algebra of a compact group. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 21:540–544, 1969.
- [21] Charles F. Dunkl. The measure algebra of a locally compact hypergroup. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 179:331–348, 1973.
- [22] Charles F. Dunkl. Structure hypergroups for measure algebras. Pacific J. Math., 47:413– 425, 1973.
- [23] Charles F. Dunkl and Donald E. Ramirez. *Topics in harmonic analysis*. Appleton-Century-Crofts [Meredith Corporation], New York, 1971. Appleton-Century Mathematics Series.
- [24] Yuli Eidelman, Vitali Milman, and Antonis Tsolomitis. Functional analysis, volume 66 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2004. An introduction.
- [25] W. R. Emerson and F. P. Greenleaf. Covering properties and Følner conditions for locally compact groups. *Math. Z.*, 102:370–384, 1967.
- [26] Pierre Eymard. L'algèbre de Fourier d'un groupe localement compact. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 256:1429–1431, 1963.
- [27] Frank Filbir, Rupert Lasser, and Ryszard Szwarc. Reiter's condition P₁ and approximate identities for polynomial hypergroups. *Monatsh. Math.*, 143(3):189–203, 2004.
- [28] Gerald B. Folland. A course in abstract harmonic analysis. Studies in Advanced Mathematics. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1995.
- [29] Brian E. Forrest, Ebrahim Samei, and Nico Spronk. Weak amenability of Fourier algebras on compact groups. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 58(3):1379–1393, 2009.

- [30] F. Ghahramani and A. T. M. Lau. Weak amenability of certain classes of Banach algebras without bounded approximate identities. *Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc.*, 133(2):357– 371, 2002.
- [31] F. Ghahramani and R. J. Loy. Generalized notions of amenability. J. Funct. Anal., 208(1):229–260, 2004.
- [32] F. Ghahramani and A. R. Medgalchi. Compact multipliers on weighted hypergroup algebras. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 98(3):493–500, 1985.
- [33] F. Ghahramani and A. R. Medgalchi. Compact multipliers on weighted hypergroup algebras.
 II. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 100(1):145–149, 1986.
- [34] M. Ghandahari, H. H. Lee, E. Samei, and N. Spronk. Some Beurling–Fourier algebras on compact groups are operator algebras. (preprint).
- [35] Siegfried Grosser and Martin Moskowitz. Compactness conditions in topological groups. J. Reine Angew. Math., 246:1–40, 1971.
- [36] Edwin Hewitt and Kenneth A. Ross. Abstract harmonic analysis. Vol. II: Structure and analysis for compact groups. Analysis on locally compact Abelian groups. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 152. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1970.
- [37] Volker Hösel, Michael Hofmann, and Rupert Lasser. Means and Følner condition on polynomial hypergroups. *Mediterr. J. Math.*, 7(1):75–88, 2010.
- [38] Robert I. Jewett. Spaces with an abstract convolution of measures. Advances in Math., 18(1):1–101, 1975.
- [39] B. E. Johnson. Non-amenability of the Fourier algebra of a compact group. J. London Math. Soc. (2), 50(2):361–374, 1994.
- [40] Barry Edward Johnson. Cohomology in Banach algebras. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1972. Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society, No. 127.
- [41] Rajab Ali Kamyabi-Gol. Topological center of dual branch algebras associated to hypergroups. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 1997. Thesis (Ph.D.)–University of Alberta (Canada).
- [42] Eberhard Kaniuth. The Helson-Reiter theorem for a class of nilpotent discrete groups. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 122(1):95–103, 1997.
- [43] Eberhard Kaniuth. A course in commutative Banach algebras, volume 246 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, New York, 2009.

- [44] Ernst Kotzmann and Harald Rindler. Segal algebras on non-abelian groups. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 237:271–281, 1978.
- [45] M. Lashkarizadeh Bami, M. Pourgholamhossein, and H. Samea. Fourier algebras on locally compact hypergroups. *Math. Nachr.*, 282(1):16–25, 2009.
- [46] R. Lasser. Various amenability properties of the L¹-algebra of polynomial hypergroups and applications. J. Comput. Appl. Math., 233(3):786–792, 2009.
- [47] Rupert Lasser. Almost periodic functions on hypergroups. Math. Ann., 252(3):183–196, 1980.
- [48] Rupert Lasser. Discrete commutative hypergroups, volume 2 of Adv. Theory Spec. Funct. Orthogonal Polynomials. Nova Sci. Publ., Hauppauge, NY, 2005.
- [49] Rupert Lasser. Discrete commutative hypergroups. Adv. Theory Spec. Funct. Orthogonal Polynomials, 22:55–102, 2005.
- [50] Rupert Lasser. Amenability and weak amenability of l¹-algebras of polynomial hypergroups. Studia Math., 182(2):183–196, 2007.
- [51] Rupert Lasser. On α -amenability of commutative hypergroups. pages 184–195. World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2009.
- [52] H. H. Lee, E. Samei, and N. Spronk. Some weighted group algebras are operator algebras. arXiv:1208.3791.
- [53] Hun Hee Lee and Ebrahim Samei. Beurling–Fourier algebras, operator amenability and Arens regularity. J. Funct. Anal., 262(1):167–209, 2012.
- [54] Horst Leptin. Faltungen von Borelschen Massen mit L^p-Funktionen auf lokal kompakten Gruppen. Math. Ann., 163:111–117, 1966.
- [55] Bing Ren Li. Introduction to operator algebras. World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc., River Edge, NJ, 1992.
- [56] G. L. Litvinov. Hypergroups and hypergroup algebras. In Current problems in mathematics. Newest results, Vol. 26, Itogi Nauki i Tekhniki, pages 57–106, 260. Akad. Nauk SSSR Vsesoyuz. Inst. Nauchn. i Tekhn. Inform., Moscow, 1985.
- [57] J. Liukkonen and R. Mosak. Harmonic analysis and centers of group algebras. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 195:147–163, 1974.
- [58] Jean Ludwig, Nico Spronk, and Lyudmila Turowska. Beurling-Fourier algebras on compact groups: spectral theory. J. Funct. Anal., 262(2):463–499, 2012.

- [59] James R. Munkres. Topology: a first course. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1975.
- [60] Varadharajan Muruganandam. Fourier algebra of a hypergroup. I. J. Aust. Math. Soc., 82(1):59–83, 2007.
- [61] Varadharajan Muruganandam. Fourier algebra of a hypergroup. II. Spherical hypergroups. Math. Nachr., 281(11):1590–1603, 2008.
- [62] Liliana Pavel. An ergodic property of amenable hypergroups. Bol. Soc. Mat. Mexicana (3), 13(1):123–129, 2007.
- [63] Jean-Paul Pier. Amenable locally compact groups. Pure and Applied Mathematics (New York). John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1984. A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [64] Hans Reiter. L¹-algebras and Segal algebras. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 231. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1971.
- [65] Hans Reiter and Jan D. Stegeman. Classical harmonic analysis and locally compact groups, volume 22 of London Mathematical Society Monographs. New Series. The Clarendon Press Oxford University Press, New York, second edition, 2000.
- [66] Charles E. Rickart. General theory of Banach algebras. The University Series in Higher Mathematics. D. van Nostrand Co., Inc., Princeton, N.J.-Toronto-London-New York, 1960.
- [67] Daniel Rider. Central idempotent measures on compact groups. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 186:459–479, 1973.
- [68] Volker Runde. Lectures on amenability, volume 1774 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002.
- [69] Raymond A. Ryan. Introduction to tensor products of Banach spaces. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag London Ltd., London, 2002.
- [70] Mahatheva Skantharajah. Amenable hypergroups. Illinois J. Math., 36(1):15–46, 1992.
- [71] René Spector. Aperçu de la théorie des hypergroupes. In Analyse harmonique sur les groupes de Lie (Sém. Nancy-Strasbourg, 1973-75), pages 643-673. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 497. Springer, Berlin, 1975.
- [72] Ulrich Stegmeir. Centers of group algebras. Math. Ann., 243(1):11–16, 1979.
- [73] Ross Stokke. Approximate diagonals and Følner conditions for amenable group and semigroup algebras. Studia Math., 164(2):139–159, 2004.

- [74] Audrey Terras. Fourier analysis on finite groups and applications, volume 43 of London Mathematical Society Student Texts. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1999.
- [75] Nicole Tomczak-Jaegermann. Banach-Mazur distances and finite-dimensional operator ideals, volume 38 of Pitman Monographs and Surveys in Pure and Applied Mathematics. Longman Scientific & Technical, Harlow, 1989.
- [76] Nicholas Th. Varopoulos. Sur les quotients des algèbres uniformes. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B, 274:A1344–A1346, 1972.
- [77] Roland Vergnioux. The property of rapid decay for discrete quantum groups. J. Operator Theory, 57(2):303–324, 2007.
- [78] Richard C. Vrem. Harmonic analysis on compact hypergroups. Pacific J. Math., 85(1):239– 251, 1979.
- [79] Maria S. M. Wesslén. A geometric description of tensor product decompositions in su(3).
 J. Math. Phys., 49(7):073506, 16, 2008.